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Questions Presented
The Oregon Supreme Court, acting as a court of
original jurisdiction, suspended Judge Day from his
judicial office for three years without pay. Judge Day
was found guilty of violating several judicial ethics
rules, including manifesting bias toward same-sex
couples by refusing to perform same-sex marriages
while the court refused to consider his Free Exercise
and Free Speech defenses to that charge. Likewise, the
Oregon Supreme Court found Judge Day violated
several other rules while it again refused to consider
his Free Speech defenses to those alleged violations.
Finally, Oregon Supreme Court found that Judge Day
had violated these rules while improperly summarily
rejecting his Procedural Due Process claims related to
those charges.
This case presents the following issues:
(1) Whether it is a Due Process violation for a court of
original jurisdiction to refuse to consider, or to reject
without sufficient analysis, substantial constitutional
defenses, while nevertheless finding the judge guilty of
violating those ethical rules;
(2) Whether the Oregon Supreme Court, and certain
Oregon ethical rules, violated the Free Exercise and
Free Speech clauses of the First Amendment when he
declined, on the basis of his sincerely-held religious
beliefs, to perform the non-mandatory judicial function
of solemnizing same-sex marriages;
(3) Whether certain Oregon ethical rules are unconstitutional under the Free Speech clause of the First
Amendment for prohibiting protected speech and
chilling protected speech by vagueness;
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(4) Whether the Commission and the Oregon Supreme
Court violated the Procedural Due Process protection
of the Fourteenth Amendment when they refused to
order a deposition of a key witness, used telephone
testimony to determine the demeanor of a key witness,
excluded impeachment evidence, and required Judge
Day to submit the opening brief to a court of original
jurisdiction when the Commission had the burden of
proof and the duty to go forward with the evidence.
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Parties to the Proceedings
The following individuals and entities are parties
to the proceedings in the court below:
The Honorable Vance D. Day, Respondent.
The Oregon Commission on Judicial Fitness and
Disability, Complainant.

Corporate Disclosure Statement
Petitioner is an individual and so has no parent
corporation and is not a publicly held corporation. Rule
29.6.
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Petition for a Writ of Certiorari
Petitioner The Honorable Vance D. Day respectfully requests a writ of certiorari to review the judgment of the Oregon Supreme Court in this case.

Opinions Below
The opinion of the Oregon Supreme Court is at 413
P.3d 907. App. 6a. The Commission on Judicial Fitness
and Disability’s recommendations to the Oregon
Supreme Court is unpublished. App. 127a.

Jurisdiction
The Oregon Supreme Court adopted the Commission’s recommendations on March 15, 2018. App. 6a. It
issued its judgment on April 24, 2018. App. 4a. This
Court’s jurisdiction is invoked under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1257(a).

Constitution, Statutes & Regulations
Involved
U.S. Const. amend. I.
U.S. Const. amend. XIV.
Oregon Const., Art VII (Amended), Sec. 8 is at App.
186a.
Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct, Rule 1.1 is at
App.187a.
Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct, Rule 2.1 is at
App. 188a.
Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct, Rule 3.3 is at
App. 189a.
Oregon Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 11.27 is
at App. 190a.
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Statement of the Case
Judge Vance D. Day is a Marion County, Oregon,
Circuit Court judge who was appointed to the bench in
2011 by the Oregon Governor and successfully ran for
election in 2012. In October 2012, he began presiding
over the court’s Veteran Treatment Docket, which
transitioned into a distinct Veterans Treatment Court
(VTC) a year later.1
Judge Day is overwhelmingly viewed as an honest,
fair, and hardworking judge, (Comm’n Hr’g Tr., vol. I,
114-16, 120-21, 142, 162, Nov. 9, 2015; id., vol. iii, 459,
Nov. 12, 2015; id., vol. iv, 713, Nov. 13, 2015, & id., vol.
v, 1084-85, 1088, Nov. 16, 2015), with a genuine
interest in helping the veterans who appeared before
1

Veteran treatment courts are a relatively new development nationally that promote the successful civilian
reintegration of veterans who commit offenses tied to their
combat stress, and seek to reduce their recidivism rate into
the criminal justice system. (Ex. 609, Comm’n Hr’g Tr., vol.
vi, 1341, 1409, Nov. 17, 2015; vol. viii, 1875, Nov. 19, 2015.)
The VTC is a unique, judicially-supervised, mentor-oriented
program that includes collaboration among an interdisciplinary team of professionals to serve the individual needs
of each veteran participant. (Ex. 609, Hr’g Tr., vol. viii,
1972-74.) Where the boundaries lie in the VTC context
between providing a supportive relationship that addresses
the particular needs of each VTC participant, and maintaining traditional standards of formal protections afforded
represented individuals, is not always clear and is major
topic of discussion nationally. (Hr’g Tr., vol. viii, 1928-29.)
The Marion County VTC team and personnel received no
training on protocols for the specialty court. (Id., vol. v.,
962.)
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him and a deep reverence for individuals who serve our
country and put their lives on the line for liberty. He is
a dedicated family man who has been married for over
30 years and is the father of three adult children, all of
whom live in or near Salem, Oregon.
In August 2014, Judge Day self-reported to the
Oregon Commission on Judicial Fitness and Disability
(“Commission”) an incident where a veteran in the
VTC program, confidentially identified in this case as
“BAS,” handled a gun owned by Judge Day’s son. (Ex.
94, 604.) Judge Day acknowledged he used poor
judgment in this incident and more generally in
establishing boundaries in his relationship with BAS.
(Hr’g Tr., vol. ix, 2275, 2323-24, Nov., 20, 2015.) In
response, the Commission self-initiated a sweeping
investigation into multiple matters unrelated to the
self-report or to Judge Day’s fitness to serve as a judge.
It then charged Judge Day with 13 Counts of multiple
violations of the Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct
(“Code”), including the revival of a 2012, previouslydismissed complaint. App. 127a-185a. The Commission
is required to establish the record, through a due
process hearing, for the Oregon Supreme Court’s
adjudication of any charges brought by the Commission. App. 9a. After a nine-day due process hearing
that commenced on November 9, 2015, the Commission
recommended that the Oregon Supreme Court find
Judge Day had willfully violated the Code eight times,
and recommended that the court impose the most
severe possible sanction—removal of Judge Day from
his judicial position. App. 184a.
Prominent among the Commission’s charges was
the Commission's claim that Judge Day discriminated
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against same-sex couples by refusing to perform samesex weddings.
When Judge Day took the oath of office in 2011,
same-sex marriage was not protected by law, and, in
fact, was prohibited under the Oregon Constitution and
statute. See Or. Const., Art. XV, § 5a; Or. Rev. Stat.
§ 106.010. On May 19, 2014, an Oregon federal court
issued an opinion holding that section of the Oregon
Constitution unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution. Geiger
v. Kitzhaber, 994 F. Supp. 2d 1128 (D. Ore. 2014). No
guidance was provided by the Oregon Judicial Department, Marion County or the Marion County Circuit
Judges Association in response to the decision. (Hr’g
Tr., vol. iii, 476; id., vol. iv, 829-30.) A year later, in
June 2015, this Court decided Obergefell v. Hodges, 135
S. Ct. 2584 (2015), which concluded that a state’s
refusal to permit same-sex marriages violates both
equal protection and due process.
Judge Day is a devout Christian who believes that
marriage should be confined to the union of a man and
a woman. Since same-sex marriage violates the tenets
of Judge Day’s faith, (Ex. 116, 117), Judge Day initially
suggested in 2014 that his staff respond to wedding
inquiries by checking the Oregon Judicial Case Information Network to determine the genders of the
individuals requesting his service and, if they were the
same gender, explain that Judge Day was not available. (Hr’g Tr., vol. iv, 786, 830; id., vol. v, 948.) This
happened once, (id., vol. v, 948-49), when Judge Day
was in fact not available, (id., vol. iv, 787.) Since Judge
Day’s judicial position does not require him to perform
weddings, Judge Day stopped performing all marriage
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ceremonies in the summer of 2014, shortly after Geiger
was decided and nearly a year before Obergefell was
handed down. (Id., vol. v, 975-76.) There is no evidence
that he has ever discriminated against gays or lesbians. (Id., vol. I, 114, 116, 162.)
I. Oregon’s Judicial Disciplinary Structure.
Oregon’s Constitution authorizes the Oregon
Supreme Court to remove, suspend, or censure judges
as a matter of original jurisdiction. ORAP 11.27(2)(b),
Or.. Rev. Stat. § 1.430, Or. Const, Art VII (Amended),
§ 8. To facilitate this power, Oregon statutes create the
Commission, with the power to “take and preserve
testimony and administer oaths to witnesses . . .”Or.
Rev. Stat. § 1.415(1)(C), and, in conducting hearings, to
“issue any processes necessary to compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of any books,
papers, records or documents as may be required.” Id.
at § 1.415(2). The Oregon Supreme Court has the sole
authority to find facts and otherwise adjudicate judicial disciplinary actions, id. at §§ 1.415-1.430, and
reviews the record developed by the Commission for
“clear and convincing evidence of a willful violation.” In
re Complaint as to the Conduct of Schenck, 870 P.2d
185 (Or. 1994). The Commission bears the burden of
affirmatively demonstrating a willful violation and
justifying its sanction recommendation to that court. In
re Miller, 370 P.3d 1241 (Or. 2016).
By statute, the Commission, in response to a
complaint from any person or at the Oregon Supreme
Court’s request, conducts a due process hearing 1) to
assess the evidence of a judge’s alleged misconduct to
determine if it will bring charges before the Oregon
Supreme Court, and 2) to establish a record for the
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Oregon Supreme Court to adjudicate any claims
brought by the Commission. Or. Rev. Stat. § 1.420(1).
The due process hearing is public, with testimony and
evidence given and received at the hearing becoming
public record. Id. at § 1.420(3). “The judge shall have
the right to be present at such hearing, to be represented by counsel, to present testimony and evidence
and to cross-examine witnesses.” Id. If the Commission
believes that the conduct of the judge warrants censure, suspension, or removal, it so recommends to the
Oregon Supreme Court. Id. at § 1.420(4).
The Oregon Supreme Court reviews the record of
the due process hearing and may receive additional
evidence. Id. at § 1.430(1). Even though the Commission bears the burden of proof, Rule 11.27 requires a
judge, as respondent, to begin briefing, allowing the
Commission to go first only if “the judge fails to file an
opening brief.” App. 190a. If the Oregon Supreme
Court finds by clear and convincing evidence that a
violation occurred, App. 11a, it may censure, suspend,
or remove the judge. App. 8a.
II. The Commission Proceedings.
In March 2015, the Commission issued a Formal
Notice under Comm’n. R. P. 7.d., advising Judge Day
that a complaint would be filed against him. (Ex. 603.)
In June 2015, the Commission filed its 13-Count
Complaint, alleging numerous violations of Rules
2.1(A), (C), (D), Rule 3.3(B), and Rule 3.7(B) of the
Code, and seeking his removal pursuant to Article VII
(Amended), § 8(1) of the Oregon Constitution. One
Count arose from Judge Day’s self-report (Count 4).
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(ER2 6-7.) Two Counts arose from a revived 2012
soccer-referee complaint previously dismissed in
February 2013 (Counts 1 and 2). (Ex. 608, 655.) The
remaining ten Counts arose from the Commission’s
free-ranging investigation. (ER 1-21.)
In anticipation of the due process hearing on the
Complaint, Judge Day sought impeachment evidence,
including access to a Commission witness’ electronic
data and to BAS’s medical records. (Hr’g Tr., vol. iv,
846-56; ER 156-160, 209-212, 233.) The Commission
denied the request. App. 54a.
Judge Day also sought to depose BAS, during
which the Commission’s lawyer advised Judge Day’s
counsel of BAS’s “legitimate concerns” about publicity
because “he’s seen what religious zealots are capable of
during his numerous military tours,” supporting an
apparent comparison of Judge Day to ISIS and the
Taliban. (ER 170.) The deposition was never secured.
The Commission held a two-week due process
hearing from November 9 through November 20, 2015.
The Commission called 17 witnesses and Judge Day
called 43 witnesses.3 (Ex. 71.) Closing arguments were
submitted in writing. (Ex. 143, 657.)
During the hearing, Commission members often
asked questions directly of the witnesses after counsel’s
2

“ER” denotes the Excerpts of Record furnished to the
Court below with Judge Day’s opening brief.
3

Judge Day was not able to present the testimony of all
his witnesses because the Commission, which expressed
intent to use 3.5 days, used 5, leaving Judge Day the
remaining 4 days to present his case.

8

examination of the witness was complete. (Hr’g Tr.,
vol. I, 207.) Judge Day’s counsel was not permitted to
ask follow-up questions of the witnesses. (Id., 210-11;
ER 199-200.) The Commission heard testimony and
received evidence on claims not charged in the Complaint. (ER 144-52, 200-05.)
Commission witness BAS was expected to appear
in person but was authorized to testify at the due
process hearing by phone. (Hr’g Tr., vol. v, 920.) Judge
Day had tried but was denied the opportunity to
depose BAS to prepare for his testimony, and so
requested that opportunity at the hearing, offering to
make any requisite motion. (Id., 920-21, 927.) The
Commission denied his request. (Id., 927.) BAS did not
have Judge Day’s exhibits, to be used for BAS’s crossexamination, for BAS’s phone testimony.
During closing arguments, the Commission’s
lawyer argued that “the evidence consistently showed
that Judge Day is someone that marches forward with
his convictions . . . [he] is fomenting disorder within
the judicial system.” (Ex. 143 p.4.) Judge Day was
described as “conspir[ing] with state employees to
discriminate,” (Ex. 143 p. 52.) No objection from the
chairman of the Commission was raised to these
comments.
On January 25, 2016, the Commission issued its
recommendations, designated an “Opinion,” containing
twenty pages of “FINDINGS OF FACT” with none but
a single, solitary record citation—an exhibit cited in a
footnote. App. 139a. It then “found” Rules 2.1(A),
2.1(C), 2.1(D), 3.3(B), and 3.7(B) were applicable, App.
157-59a, asserting that Judge Day “willfully . . . violated” these Rules numerous times by clear and
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convincing evidence. App. 162-74. The Commission’s
recommendations included ten new Rules violations
not charged in the Complaint filed before the due
process hearing, id., and two pages of unsupported
“Miscellaneous Factual Findings.” App. 151-52.4
The Commission described Judge Day’s unwillingness to marry same-sex couples as “misconduct,” App.
179a, and his plan to discreetly screen-out same-sex
couples as a “deplorable lack of understanding of the
most basic concepts of impartiality.” App. 173a. The
Commission denied Judge Day’s “assert[ion] that this
proceeding is due to his religious beliefs and his refusal
to perform same-sex marriages . . . . [a]s not true.” App.
182a.
III. Supreme Court Proceedings.
To remedy due process violations and other errors,
on March 18, 2016, Judge Day filed a motion with the
Oregon Supreme Court to strike, supplement and
correct the record, and to revise the briefing schedule
to require the Commission, as bearer of the burden of
4

The Commission’s responsibility is to bring charges of
violations of judicial ethics rules to be adjudicated by the
Oregon Supreme Court. Thus, the Commission’s role is as
a Prosecutor and the Oregon Supreme Court is the adjudicator. By using phrases such as “Opinion” and “Finding of
Fact,” the Commission unlawfully sought to assume the
mantel of an adjudicator and, to an extent, the Oregon
Supreme Court adopted procedures, such as requiring
Judge Day to file the opening brief, as if he was appealing
an adjudication by a lower court. Despite Judge Day’s
repeated efforts to get the Oregon Supreme Court to
explicitly straighten this out because it prejudiced his
ability to defend himself, he was not successful.
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proof, to file the opening brief. (ER 112-180.) The
motion asserted that the Commission exceeded its
statutory authority in assuming an adjudicatory role,
and asked this Court to strike the “Opinion” as written
because it far-exceeded the Commission’s limited
statutory role to determine whether to move forward
with charges and to create a record for use by the
Oregon Supreme Court. (ER 135.) The motion also
included a request to strike the “Findings of Fact,” and
“findings” of judicial rule violations. (Id.) Judge Day
also moved to strike the Commission’s evidentiary
findings not relevant to the conduct charged in the
Complaint, and its recommendations based on charges
not included in the Complaint. (ER 142-155.) He
further moved for permission to supplement the record
with evidence, in accordance with ORAP 11.27
(2)(b)(ii), including the videotaped deposition of BAS
and the production of BAS’s medical records. (ER 156161.)5 On May 17, 2016, the Oregon Supreme Court
granted the motion insofar as it sought a limited
follow-up deposition of BAS, but denied the rest of the
motion, without explanation and without prejudice,
including the motion to revise the briefing schedule, so
that the Commission went first. (ER 233-34.)
Judge Day, despite considerable effort, was never
able to thereafter depose BAS, who evaded service and
failed to appear for a deposition at the time and place
where BAS’s attorney had agreed to at Judge Day’s
expense. So on September 6, 2016, Judge Day moved
5

In addition, the motion asked that the Court strike
the telephonic testimony and witness statement of BAS.
(ER 137- 141.)
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once again to strike BAS’s pre-hearing witness interview and hearing testimony from the record because
Judge Day had been denied a fair and adequate
opportunity to confront BAS about the accusations or
to impeach BAS’s credibility with exhibits, and because
the fact-finder had not been able to visually assess the
witness. (ER 235-266.) The Oregon Supreme Court
denied that motion on September 27, 2016, holding
that no due process violation had occurred, but allowing respondent to raise issues about the weight or
credibility of the evidence below in his brief. (ER 267.)
On January 17, 2017, Judge Day as “Respondent”
filed the opening brief, disputing the Commission’s
“findings” and recommended sanctions, and asserting
free exercise, free speech, due process, equal protection,
and Title VII defenses against the Rules the Commission sought to enforce against him. (Brief - Opening,
January 18, 2017.) The court below issued its opinion
on March 15, 2018, adopting the Commission’s factual
findings and concluding that Judge Day had willfully
violated Rule 2.1(A) three times, App. 83a, 91a, 98a;
Rule 2.1(C) four times, App. 62a, 83a, 92a, 98a; Rule
2.1(D) two times, App. 62a, 86a; and Rule 3.3(B) once,
App. 110a. It imposed a sanction of a three-year
suspension from office. App. 126a. The court summarily rejected several of Judge Day’s procedural due
process claims, “conclud[ing] that they are without
merit and that further discussion would not benefit the
bench, bar, or the public.” App. 53a. And it concluded
that because the Rule 3.3(B) violation, regarding samesex marriages, “would not affect [its] consideration of
the appropriate sanction, [it] need not consider respondent’s constitutional challenges.” App. 113a.
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On March 29, 2018, Judge Day sought reconsideration in light of recurring procedural due process
violations that occurred throughout the process that
had prejudiced him and his ability to present evidence
to the Court. (Petition - Reconsideration, Mar. 29,
2018.) On April 24, 2018, the Oregon Supreme Court
denied reconsideration, asserting without specifying
that “procedural opportunities were available to
respondent, which he did not pursue,” and enter its
judgment against Judge Day. App. 1a.

Reasons for Granting the Petition
Certiorari should be granted because 1) this case
presents an important federal due process question; 2)
the decision below violates important Free Exercise
and Free Speech rights; and 3) the decision below
violates important procedural due process rights.
This appeal presents the unusual, but profoundly
troubling, case where the Oregon Supreme Court found
an elected state court judge guilty of several violations
of state judicial ethics rules while refusing to consider,
or summarily disposing of, substantial constitutional
defenses, properly raised and often of first impression.
These substantial constitutional defenses included
Free Exercise and Free Speech defenses to the application of certain ethics rules and violations of procedural
due process in adjudicating them.
Due process requires that a court consider and
dispose of, with appropriate analysis, any properly
raised constitutional claims or defenses, especially
where, like here, the court of original jurisdiction has
no court with plenary appellate review. However, the
Oregon Supreme Court systematically refused to do
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this and found Judge Day guilty of violating the very
ethics rules which were the subject of the ignored
constitutional defenses. Not only was this erroneous on
the merit of the constitutional defenses asserted, it is
itself an egregious violation of due process.
Furthermore, the decision below was handed down
before this Court’s decision in Masterpiece Cakeshop,
Ltd. v. Colo. Civil Rights Comm’n, and the same bias
and hostility that infected that case infected this case.
No. 16-111, slip op. (U.S. June 4, 2018).
As a result, this Court should grant the petition
and set the matter for briefing and argument. In the
alternative, this Court should grant the petition,
vacate the judgment below and remand for reconsideration in light of Masterpiece and for proper consideration and analysis of the constitutional issues asserted
below but ignored or improperly summarily decided.
I. This Case Involves The Important Question
of Law of Whether It Is a Due Process Violation
for a Court of Original Jurisdiction To Refuse
To Consider, or To Reject Without Proper Analysis, Substantial Constitutional Claims.
Judicial review is a bedrock of our republic for
maintaining the rule of law. Marbury v. Madison, 5
U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 177 (1803) (“It is emphatically the
province and duty of the judicial department to say
what the law is.”).
In a judicial disciplinary proceeding, the Oregon
Supreme Court is not an appellate court, but rather is
the court of original jurisdiction. App. 9a. As the sole
adjudicator of any ethics charges, it has the absolute
responsibility to provide a carefully-considered opinion,
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including analysis of the constitutional questions at
issue. See United States v. Taylor, 487 U.S. 326, 336
(1988) (finding “discretionary choices” should not be
left to a court’s “inclination, but to its judgment,” which
must be guided by “sound legal principles”)(internal
citations omitted). A court’s careful consideration and
analysis ensures all parties receive an ordered judgment essential to proper judicial review. See O’Bryan
v. Estelle, 714 F.2d 365, 407 (5th Cir. 1983) (holding no
way exists for appellate court to review findings if they
are not on record); see also United States v. Martinez,
604 F.2d 361, 364 (5th Cir. 1979) (finding situations
may exist “where the trial judge must spell out his
findings with adequate specificity for meaningful
appellate review”).
Here, judicial review of the decision below is
frustrated because the Oregon Supreme Court refused
to consider or summarily rejected the constitutional
defenses raised by Judge Day. Its refusal to analyze
substantial constitutional claims6 risks arbitrary and
capricious enforcement and demonstrates an ominous
disregard of the important protections afforded by the
United States Constitution.
The concept of procedural due process is rooted in
“fundamental fairness” and includes rights such as the
opportunity to be heard, the right to cross-examine,
6

Judicial efficiency does not require in-depth analysis
of well-settled law. Cty. Court v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140, 153
(1979) (holding brief string citation appropriate when
several prior cases ruled on same issue). But none of the
constitutional defenses properly raised by Judge Day were
well-settled against him and several were novel.
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and the right to adequate notice. Lassiter v. Dep't of
Soc. Servs., 452 U.S. 18, 24 (1981). Thwarting meaningful judicial review, by refusing to consider, or
summarily rejecting, substantial constitutional claims
or defenses, runs contrary to this fundamental fairness
principle. The ability to conduct judicial review has not
traditionally been analyzed under due process, but
rather under the standard of review applicable to a
specific question of fact or law. See infra Part III.
However, the unique procedural posture of this case
creates an intersection between the fundamental
fairness envisioned by procedural due process and a
traditional standard of review analysis. Id. This
intersection creates an important question of law for
this Court to consider.
A. The Oregon Supreme Court, Acting as the
Court of Original Jurisdiction, Found Judge
Day Manifested Bias Toward Same-Sex Couples While Refusing To Consider His Free
Exercise Defenses Related to the Underlying
Charge, Warranting Review or Remand.
In an effort to avoid Judge Day’s constitutional
defenses, the Oregon Supreme Court found Judge Day
violated the applicable ethical rules but that it was
“unnecessary” to consider whether his Free Exercise
defenses to the same-sex marriage claim were “meritorious” because it would impose a three-year suspension
regardless of this violation. App. 113a. This reasoning
is flawed. To adjudicate someone’s guilt while completely ignoring any substantial constitutional defenses is contrary to a “judgment guided by sound legal
principles” called for in Taylor. 487 U.S. at 336.
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Moreover, the right to defend yourself on constitutional grounds exists even when no sanction is imposed. See In re Koffler, 412 N.E.2d 927, 929 (N.Y.
1980); In re Greene, 429 N.E.2d 390, 392 (N.Y. 1981).
In both Koffler and Greene, lawyers found to have
violated the Code of Professional Responsibility but
who were not sanctioned still had a right to appeal on
constitutional grounds. Like the lawyers in Koffler and
Greene, Judge Day has been adjudged to have violated
a code of conduct without a sanction imposed for that
violation. App. 112a. Judge Day has the right to review
of his constitutional defenses, regardless of the absence
of a sanction.
The Oregon Supreme Court seeks to minimize or
deny the impact of its judgment that Judge Day “manifested” bias toward same-sex couples. A concurrent loss
of government employment, with state-caused stigmatic harm triggers the constitutional right to due
process. See Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 712 (1976).
Here, the Oregon Supreme Court’s decision caused
severe stigmatic damage to Judge Day by finding him
guilty of manifesting bias toward same-sex couples.
App. 112a. This “biased” label will follow Judge Day
far beyond the three-year suspension.7 Yet the Oregon
Supreme Court denies this stigma harms Judge Day
because it did not attach his suspension directly to that
7

That Judge Day’s character and reputation have been
harmed is evident in numerous news accounts following the
court’s judgment. See, e.g., Aimee Green, Judge Vance Day
–who wouldn’t marry same-sex couples – suspended for 3
years, Oregon Live, (March 15, 2018), https://
www.oregonlive.com/pacific-northwest-news/index.ssf/201
8/03/oregon_supreme_court_xxxx_judg.html
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stigma. Id. 113a. Both the stigma and suspension
impact Judge Day and cannot be separated in order to
avoid a due process obligation. Judge Day lost his
government employment for three years and the court’s
judgment caused him stigmatic harm—the exact type
of “dual” harm envisioned by Paul. The attempt to
bifurcate the stigma from the suspension in order to
avoid analyzing a properly asserted and substantial
constitutional defense is fundamentally unfair.
Indeed, even without a loss of government employment, more recent cases show that severe stigmatic
harm with serious collateral effects can trigger procedural due process requirements. See GE v. Jackson,
595 F. Supp. 2d 8, 26 (D.D.C. 2009) (holding due
process may be considered when collateral consequences are “sufficiently formal or sufficiently broad”
or when the injured party precluded from pursuing
chosen categories of activities in a way “equivalent in
every practical sense to formal debarment”); United
States v. Tillman, 756 F.3d 1114, 1151 (9th Cir. 2014)
(holding sanctions ordered without notice and hearing
violated due process when it interfered with counsel’s
reputation as “death penalty specialist” in way critical
to his clients and his livelihood); Cooney v. Dalton, 877
F. Supp. 508, 515 (D. Haw. 1995) (finding collateral
effects of loss of income and reputation associated with
dishonorable discharge triggered need for due process
analysis).
Judge Day has not only been labeled as “biased”
and been suspended, but as a result of these proceedings, he is now facing criminal charges and disciplinary
investigation that could lead to his disbarment. Oregon
v. Day, No. 16CR73159, (Marion Cir. Ct. Or., filed Nov.
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16, 2018). (Oregon State Bar Letter Re: Vance D. Day,
May 1, 2018 (on file with counsel).) Such consequences
are both formal and broad, and will keep Judge Day
from pursuing his chosen field in a way critical to his
livelihood as detailed in Jackson and Tillman. Judge
Day faces criminal conviction, a collateral effect more
severe than those faced in Cooney.
The refusal to consider Judge Day’s Free Exercise
defense is also a violation of due process rights because
it directly diminished Judge Day’s opportunity to be
heard in any meaningful way. The opportunity to be
heard is a fundamental procedural due process right.
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976). The
Commission had the burden to prove, by clear and
convincing evidence, that Judge Day violated Oregon’s
Code. App. 11a. For the Oregon Supreme Court to rule
a violation is proven without considering the constitutional defense raised by the accused fundamentally
undermines this burden.
The Oregon Supreme Court’s decision to refuse to
consider substantial constitutional defenses not only
impacts Judge Day, but also sets a dangerous precedent for other similarly-situated litigants. It violates
fundamental due process and warrants review or
remand.
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B. The Oregon Supreme Court, Acting as the
Court of Original Jurisdiction, Found Judge
Day Made “Wilful Misstatements” and Carried Out Other “Misconduct” While Refusing
To Consider His Substantial Free Speech
Defenses Related to Those Charges, Warranting Review or Remand.
The Oregon Supreme Court based its suspension of
Judge Day on the “wilful misstatements” he made
during the investigation and Judge Day’s “misconduct”
during the gun-handling incidents. These holdings
implicate Rules 2.1(A),(C),(D) of the Code and Or.
Const., art. VII, §8(1). Judge Day raised constitutional
challenges8 to these specific rules and provisions, but
the court completely ignored them.
Specifically, Judge Day asserted: (1) an
overbreadth challenge to Rule 2.1(D); (2) a challenge
that Rules 2.1(A),(C) and Art. VII §8(1) fail strict
scrutiny; and (3) that Rules 2.1(A) and 2.1(C) are
unconstitutionally vague, both facially and as applied
to Judge Day. See supra Part II.B. Contrary to the
court’s claim, Judge Day’s constitutional challenges to
these codes and provisions and the court’s complete
lack of analysis directly affected his suspension from
the bench. The Oregon Supreme Court’s failure to
address them compounds the court’s due process
violation in refusing to analyze Judge Day’s Free
8

Judge Day also raised Equal Protection and Title VII
claims, which the Oregon Supreme Court also ignored. The
arguments against the court’s lack of analysis for these
claims is virtually identical to the First Amendment claims
raised and are incorporated by reference.
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Exercise claims. The lower court’s violation of Judge
Day’s fundamental due process warrants review or
remand.
C. The Oregon Supreme Court, Acting as a
Court of Original Jurisdiction, Summarily
Rejected Judge Day’s Substantial Procedural
Due Process Claims, Warranting Review or
Remand.
The Oregon Supreme Court also summarily dismissed Judge Day’s procedural due process claims in
one short paragraph of its 91 page opinion. App. 53a
(“We have considered those challenges, but we conclude that they are without merit and that further
discussion would not benefit the bench, bar, or the
public.”). This summary rejection not only failed to
ensure Judge Day’s rights were protected, but also
made it impossible for this Court, as the sole appellate
authority, to evaluate its reasoning on these issues.
This failure warrants review or remand.
Several procedural due process claims raised by
Judge Day were issues of first impression. Specifically,
the order of briefing required by the court of original
jurisdiction and comparing telephone testimony to live
testimony in order to determine credibility and demeanor were issues of first impression. These issues,
discussed more substantively below in Part II.C, were
summarily dismissed with a short string citation to
cases which hold that procedural due process is “flexible” and only requires the defendant receive “notice
and opportunity to be heard.” App. 54-55 (citing
Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972); In re
Complaint as to the Conduct of Devers, 974 P.2d 191,
193 (Or. 1999); and State ex rel. Currin v. Comm’n on
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Judicial Fitness & Disability, 815 P.2d 212, 213 (Or.
1991)). This superficial analysis does not satisfy Judge
Day’s due process rights or ensure they are protected.
Summarily rejecting substantial constitutional
claims never previously considered by a court is
improper and provides no protection of the fundamental procedural due process right to be meaningfully
heard discussed in Mathews. 424 U.S. at 333. As it
stands, it is impossible for this Court, acting as the sole
appellate authority, to determine if Oregon’s procedural due process analysis was constitutionally correct
because it is nonexistent. Adequate consideration,
especially for issues of first impression, so that an
appellate court can properly assess a lower court’s
reasoning, would reflect the “sound legal principles” in
Taylor. 487 U.S. at 336. Other judges subject to disciplinary proceedings cannot know what the boundaries
of their procedural due process rights from the decision
below, as they are not adequately considered and
analyzed though properly presented.
The Oregon Supreme Court summarily rejected
Judge Day’s procedural due process claims, even
further compounding the Oregon Supreme Court’s due
process violation by refusing to analyze Judge Day’s
Free Exercise and Free Speech defenses. The lower
court’s violation of Judge Day’s fundamental due
process warrants review or remand.
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II. Judge Day Raised Substantial Constitutional Defenses.
A. Judge Day Has Substantial Free Exercise
Defenses.
In its recent Masterpiece decision, this Court made
clear that the Free Exercise Clause requires not only
that laws affecting sincerely-held religious beliefs be
generally-applicable and neutral, but that the government must also be “neutral and respectful” of religious
views at all junctures of regulation and enforcement,
No. 16-111, slip op. at 12, 16, including in “the historical background of the decision under challenge, the
specific series of events leading to the enactment or
official policy in question, and the legislative or administrative history, including contemporaneous statements made by members of the decisionmaking body.”
Id. at 17 (quoting Church of Lukumi Babalu Aye v. City
of Hialeah, 508 U.S. 520, 540 (1993)). Even “subtle
departures from neutrality” are proscribed, Church of
Lukumi Babalu Aye, 520 U.S. at 534.
Central to Judge Day’s constitutional defense
against alleged party bias under Rule 3.3(B) is that as
a Christian, he holds the sincerely-held belief that
marriage should be confined to the union of a man and
a woman. Compelling him to solemnize a same-sex
wedding—a function that is neither required of Oregon
judges nor limited to Oregon judges—violates his Free
Exercise rights.
Throughout the Commission’s prosecution of Judge
Day is an open disdain and hostility towards the
religious beliefs of those whose faith honors marriage
between one man and one woman. While seeking to
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depose BAS, Commission’s counsel advised Judge
Day’s counsel of BAS’s “legitimate concerns” about
publicity because “he’s seen what religious zealots are
capable of during his numerous military tours,” supporting an apparent comparison of Judge Day to ISIS
and the Taliban. (ER 170.) In closing arguments, that
same lawyer argued that “the evidence consistently
showed that Judge Day is someone that marches
forward with his convictions . . . [he] is fomenting
disorder within the judicial system.” (Ex. 143 p.4.)
Judge Day is described as “conspir[ing] with state
employees to discriminate,” (Ex. 143 p. 52) As in
Masterpiece, no objection from the Commission chairman was raised to these comments. Masterpiece, No.
16-111, slip op., at 14.
In its recommendations, the Commission describes
Judge Day’s unwillingness to marry same-sex couples
as “misconduct,” App. 179a, and his 2014 plan to
discreetly screen-out same-sex couples as a “deplorable
lack of understanding of the most basic concepts of
impartiality.” App. 173a. The post-Obergefell Commission assumed Judge Day was refusing to follow the
law, even though he was solely governed by his
sincerely-held beliefs, which he ought to keep to
himself: “the personal, moral, and religious beliefs of a
judicial officer should never factor into the performance
of any judicial duty.” Id. Indeed, not once does the
Commission acknowledge the nationally-controversial
and constitutionally-unsettled nature of same-sex
marriage at the time in question, nor the fact that Rule
3.3(B) was adopted at a time when same-sex marriage
was expressly prohibited in Oregon. And not once in its
“Opinion” does the Commission acknowledge Judge
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Day’s Free Exercise rights or religious accommodations
acknowledged in Obergefell.
While it is true that Judge Day at all times was
honoring his sincerely-held religious beliefs, he did so
within a reasonable understanding of the law, including the United States Constitution. Neither Judge
Day’s approach to same-sex marriage, nor his understanding of impartiality, was “deplorable,” it was
considered and consistent with his oath of office. His
ultimate decision to entirely discontinue marriages
allowed him to continue to honor both his sincerelyheld beliefs and the U.S. Supreme Court’s later constitutional resolution of the issue.
The Commission disavows this hostility towards
Judge Day’s sincerely-held beliefs, suggesting that
Judge Day’s “assert[ion] that this proceeding is due to
his religious beliefs and his refusal to perform samesex marriages . . . . is not true.” App. 182a. Instead, it
argues, it is about Judge Day’s dishonesty. Id. But
Judge Day’s alleged dishonesty is part and parcel with
the same-sex discrimination allegations. If Judge Day
had posted a placard regarding his unwillingness to
perform same-sex marriage in the courthouse, the
Commission’s charges would remain the same. The
Commission is simply attempting to deflect from its
hostile mission.
This hostility toward Judge Day due to his religious beliefs permeated the entire process, from the
Commission’s investigation, discovery, and hearing to
the Commission’s ultimate “findings” regarding Judge
Day’s truthfulness, integrity, and demeanor as it
related to other years-old charges. Judge Day was
denied access to a key witness, BAS, and to impeach-
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ment evidence regarding BAS, and has never had
direct access to him to this day. In its “Opinion,” the
Commission rejected at every turn the testimony of
Judge Day, finding he lacked credibility on account of
“facial expressions and responses” allegedly “tinged
with sarcasm” and smug smiles, App. 134a, and
finding other witnesses more credible, including BAS,
who appeared by phone. The Commission describes
BAS’s demeanor as “genuine, sincere, heartfelt,” with
“authentic emotion at appropriate times.” App. 138a.
This hostility towards Judge Day is perpetuated
when the Oregon Supreme Court adopted credibility
determinations of the Commission and refused to
consider any of Judge Day’s Free Exercise and Free
Speech defenses, and summarily rejected his procedural due process claims. Indeed, the court—which
relies on two factors to assess the merit of an allegation: witness credibility and whether the evidence is
otherwise clear and convincing, App. 58a—gave
considerable weight to the hostile Commission’s “findings” on witness demeanor to conclude Judge Day’s
testimony was not “highly probable.” App. 85a. Once it
concluded this for one Count, the court used that
finding to find Judge Day’s testimony not credible on
other Counts. App. 73a (using Judge Day’s lack of
credibility as to Count 2 as grounds for lack of credibility on Counts 3 and 4); App. 81a (using acceptance of a
witness’ testimony on Counts 3 and 4 to reject Judge
Day’s credibility on Count 5). The Oregon Supreme
Court gave weight to a hostile Commission’s “factual
findings” to find repeated violations of the Code and
ignored or summarily rejected substantial constitutional defenses. This hostility to Judge Day’s religious
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beliefs infected the whole proceeding and violated
Judge Day’s Free Exercise rights under Masterpiece.
The Oregon Supreme Court’s decision is contrary
to Masterpiece—a decision the court below acknowledged was pending and premised its deflection of
constitutional analysis on. App. 112-13a. In light of
Masterpiece, this Court should grant certiorari and set
briefing and argument or, alternatively, vacate the
judgment below and remand this matter back to the
Oregon Supreme Court, as it did in Arlene’s Flowers,
Inc. v. Washington, No. 17-108, 2018 U.S. LEXIS 3950
(June 25, 2018), to conduct a neutral and respectful
constitutional review of the claims against Judge Day.
B. Judge Day Has Substantial Free Speech
Defenses.
1. Rules 2.1(A), 2.1(C), 2.1(D), 3.3(B), and
Art. VII (Amended) § 8(1)(b) and (e) Fail
Strict Scrutiny Review And Are
Overbroad.
As discussed above, the Oregon Supreme Court
unconstitutionally declined to consider and decide the
Free Speech defenses Judge Day properly asserted
against certain ethics rules charges for which he was
found guilty. See supra Part I.B. Under Free Speech
analysis, certain provisions that Judge Day was
charged with violating are unconstitutionally
overbroad.
This Court in Republican Party of Minnesota v.
White, 536 U.S. 775 (2000) and Yulee v. Fla. Bar, 135
S. Ct. 1656 (2015), requires the regulation of judicial
speech to be narrowly tailored to a compelling state
interest—strict scrutiny. White, 536 U.S. at 774; Yulee,
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135 S. Ct. at 1665. Oregon’s state interest in impartiality—bias for or against a party, White, 536 U.S. at
775-76—is derived from due process, with the goal of
preventing an advantage given to one adversary over
the other simply by virtue of who they are. Id. at 776.
Such due process rights are not implicated in the
marriage solemnizing context—there is no adversarial
relationship among the parties. And unless a couple is
denied access to marriage entirely—which cannot occur
here, since marriage ceremonies are non-mandatory
and non-exclusive services that Oregon judges can
perform, OR. REV. STAT. 106.1209—no due process
rights are implicated. See Obergefell, 135 S. Ct. at
2607 (“The Constitution . . . does not permit the State
to bar same-sex couples from marriage . . .”) (emphasis
added). Judicial impartiality is not implicated here.
Judge Day has never refused to perform a specific
same-sex marriage because of his beliefs and adopted
an approach consistent with the state of the law on the
issue at all times. Simply announcing as a judge that
one disagrees with same-sex marriage on religious
grounds cannot erode public confidence in the integrity
of the judiciary. Yulee, 135 S. Ct. at 1670. Judge Day’s
unwillingness to conduct same-sex marriages on
religious grounds neither affects his ability to be
impartial, White, 536 U.S. at 775-76, nor his ability to
administer justice without fear or favor. Yulee, 135 S.
Ct. at 1666. So Judge Day cannot constitutionally be
held in violation of Rule 3.3(B) and Or. Const., art. VII
(Amended) § 8(1)(b) and (e) as the Oregon Supreme
Court concluded. App. 111-12a.
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Indeed, Art. VII § 8(1)(b) and (e) has been applied
in this case in an unconstitutionally overbroad manner. The Oregon Supreme Court has suspended Judge
Day for violating judicial rules like Rules 2.1(A) and
2.1(C), which serve “aspirational and precautionary
purposes,” State v. Pierce, 333 P.3d 1069, 1075 (Ore.
2014), rather than address specific circumstances
where speech is either prohibited or required. See Code
Rule 1.1. App. 187a. And even where, as in Rule 2.1(D),
specific circumstances are provided, the scope is
broader than necessary to serve Oregon’s impartiality
and public confidence interests. See Rule 2.1(D) (prohibiting speech and conduct “involving” dishonesty,
fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation). App. 188a. These
are substantial constitutional claims that the Oregon
Supreme Court failed to consider.
2. Rules 2.1(A), 2.1(C), 2.1(D), and 3.3(B) Are
Unconstitutionally Vague.
The Oregon Supreme Court did not consider Judge
Day’s Free Speech challenges to the Rules. Where Free
Speech rights are at stake, judicial rules must also
sufficiently define their terms so that the boundary
between permissible and impermissible speech is
clearly marked. Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1 (1976);
see Spargo v. New York State Comm’n on Jud. Conduct,
244 F. Supp. 2d 72, 90 (D.N.Y. 2003), vacated on
abstention grounds, 351 F.3d 65 (2d Cir. 2003)
(“[A] rule that impedes basic First
Amendment freedoms, if vague, leads those whose
conduct is affected to more severely limit their conduct
in order to avoid a violation.”).
Rule 3.3(B) is being applied to Judge Day because
he briefly recused himself from the possibility of
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performing same-sex marriage ceremonies. He was not
provided fair warning that his unwillingness to perform non-mandatory, non-exclusively judicial services
in accordance with the law because of his sincerelyheld religious beliefs would violate Rule 3.3(B).
Likewise, terms like “public confidence in the
judiciary” (found in Rule 2.1(A)), “reflect adversely”
(found in Rule 2.1(C)), and “involving” (found in Rule
2.1(D)) lack any meaningful definition or criteria to
guide a judge for meeting these Rules’ aspirational
goals. See Spargo, 244 F. Supp. 2d at 90-91.
These are substantial constitutional claims that
the Oregon Supreme Court also failed to consider.
C. Judge Day Has Substantial Procedural Due
Process Claims
Judge Day also claimed Oregon violated his
procedural due process in several specific ways, all of
which were summarily rejected by the Oregon Supreme Court: 1) the Commission’s rulings regarding
BAS’s deposition and testimony; 2) the Commission’s
exclusion of impeachment evidence; and 3) the court of
original jurisdiction’s requirement that Judge Day
submit the opening brief. Each of these claimed violations of procedural due process are substantial and the
Oregon Supreme Court’s refusal to properly consider
and decide them warrant reversal and remand.
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1.

The Commission’s Rulings Regarding
BAS’s Deposition and Testimony Violated Judge Day’s Due Process Rights.
a. The Commission Refused To Order
BAS’s Deposition, Which Violated
Judge Day’s Procedural Due Process Rights.
BAS was the Commission’s key witness in the gunrelated charges leading to his suspension. To prepare
his defense, Judge Day sought to depose BAS in
advance of the hearing. The Commission had the
authority to order BAS’s deposition, Comm. R. P. 11.c.,
but it refused to do so. As is common with an opposing
party witness, without an order to appear for a deposition, BAS evaded and thwarted all of Judge Day’s
independent attempts to depose BAS. See Sali v.
Corona Reg’l Med. Ctr., 884 F.3d 1218, 1219 (9th Cir.
2018) (finding that if a party seeking deposition
suspects that opposing party is “bottleneck[ed]—either
directing or encouraging its witness not to appear—an
order directed at the opposing party may be fruitful”).
Because the Commission refused to order BAS to
appear at a deposition, Judge Day could not properly
prepare his defense. Such refusal directly affected
Judge Day’s opportunity to be heard and thus violated
his due process rights.
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b.

The Commission Proceeded with
BAS’s Telephone Testimony, Despite
BAS’s Inability To See Exhibits,
Which Violated Judge Day’s Procedural Due Process Rights.
Up to and including the day of BAS’s testimony at
Judge Day’s hearing, BAS was scheduled to testify in
person. Knowing this, Judge Day planned on using
several exhibits during his cross-examination of BAS.
When the Commission found out BAS would not be
testifying in person, it then authorized testimony by
“video or telephone, preferably video.” (Hr’g Tr., vol. v,
925.) The Commission’s attorney e-mailed Judge Day’s
exhibits to BAS, but BAS informed the Commission
before his testimony that he never received the exhibits. (Id., 1144). Despite this, the Commission allowed
the telephone testimony and cross-examination of BAS
to proceed without BAS’s access to the exhibits. (Id.)
The inability to secure testimony through exhibits
and the overall lack of ability to assess BAS’s demeanor on the stand prevented Judge Day’s counsel
from effectively cross-examining BAS. This lack of
effective cross-examination violated Judge Day’s
procedural due process rights.
c. The Commission Compared BAS’s
Telephone Demeanor to Judge Day’s
In-Person Demeanor, Which Violated Judge Day’s Procedural Due
Process Rights.
The comparison of telephone “demeanor” from one
critical witness to the in-person demeanor of another
key witness is improper. Telephone testimony should
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be limited, especially when determinations of witness
demeanor and credibility are critical to the adjudication. Nonverbal factors are critical to a proper assessment of any communication, which Oregon recognizes.
State ex rel. Anderson v. Miller, 882 P.2d 1109, 1113
(Or. 1994). (acknowledging that video deposition can
have “significant impact” because finder of fact often
will gain greater insight from the manner in which an
answer is delivered). Reliance on telephone testimony
is especially egregious when the telephone demeanor
of one witness is compared to the in-person demeanor
of another. This “demeanor” determination by the
Commission was critical to the Oregon Supreme
Court’s judgment in the gun-related incidents and was
part of its assessment of Judge Day’s overall credibility
as it related to the other charges. App. 74a.
Telephone testimony can cause due process concerns. See generally, A.E.P. v. K.A.H, 381 P.3d 1052,
1058 (Or. Ct. App. 2016) (holding that an underlying
statute “. . . evinces a policy judgment that, if a witness’s testimony will be outcome-determinative, the
opposing party has a right to face-to-face cross-examination, period.”); De Rojas v. Gonzales, No. 04-74682,
2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 5511 (9th Cir. Mar. 6, 2007)
(holding telephone testimony is inappropriate in
immigration administrative proceeding when opposing
party given no notice witness would be testifying via
telephone). BAS, the key witness on four of the violations found against Judge Day, was allowed to testify
via telephone. BAS was scheduled to appear in person,
and Judge Day had no idea until the day of the scheduled testimony that he would only be available via
telephone. Despite counsel’s vigorous objections, the
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Commission allowed BAS’s telephone testimony to
proceed. Such telephone testimony of an outcomedeterminative witness violated Judge Day’s right to
face-to-face cross-examination and violated the procedural due process rights the A.E.P. Court found vitally
important. The comparison of telephone “demeanor”
from one critical witness to the in-person demeanor of
another key witness is improper.
The Commission’s refusal to order BAS’s deposition, the lack of exhibits during cross-examination, and
the effect of BAS’s outcome-determinative telephone
testimony violated Judge Day’s procedural due process
rights.
2. The Commission’s Exclusion of Impeachment Evidence Violated Judge Day’s
Procedural Due Process Rights.
The Commission excluded impeachment evidence
offered against BAS, including evidence showing his
unreasonable and unfounded mental state as it related
to his perception of the consequences of testifying at
the hearing. App. 54a. Other critical impeachment
evidence, such as BAS’s medical records and evidence
of inconsistent, untruthful statements regarding BAS’s
social media use were also excluded. Id. These exclusions deprived Judge Day of his right to be meaningfully heard, the right to confront, and the right to a fair
trial. Taken together, the Oregon Supreme Court
denied Judge Day his rights to procedural due process.
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3.

The Oregon Supreme Court’s Requirement That An Accused Judge Submit the
Opening Brief Violated Judge Day’s Due
Process Rights.
Oregon’s appellate rules require a judge facing
disciplinary action to file the opening brief in the
Oregon Supreme Court. ORAP 11.27. This places the
burden on the judge as the accused, rather than the
Commission as the prosecutor. It suggests an adjudication has already occurred and the judge is appealing.
In fact, no such adjudication has occurred as the
Commission is strictly non-adjudicatory and the
accused judge is entitled to a presumption of innocence.
In re Jordan, 665 P.2d 341, 349 (Or. 1983).
When this Court acts as the court of exclusive,
original jurisdiction and questions of fact are at issue,
it will often appoint a Special Master. Mississippi v.
Louisiana, 346 U.S. 862 (1953). This Special Master
acts as a fact finder, but this Court does not limit itself
to the facts established by the Special Master. New
Jersey v. New York, 523 U.S. 767 (1998). If needed, this
Court will investigate facts and historical evidence in
order to properly adjudicate an issue. Id.
Likewise, eight states have a two-tiered judicial
disciplinary system. Cynthia Gray, Judicial Conduct
Commissions How Judicial Conduct Commissions
Work, Vol. 28, Number 3, JUST. SYS. J., 405, 414-15. In
these systems, an intermediary court acts as the court
of original jurisdiction and the state’s highest court
acts as a true appellate court. Id. In all of these cases,
the order of briefing and presentation of facts at both
the intermediary court and appellate level proceeds as
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would normally be expected, with the state presenting
its case first and the judge responding.
That Oregon Supreme Court does not follow proper
briefing procedures was severely prejudicial to Judge
Day, who filed an opening brief with only an “Opinion”
lacking any record citations to guide him. This was
fundamentally unfair to Judge Day, violating his
procedural due process rights.
The Oregon Supreme Court has violated Judge
Day’s procedural due process in several specific ways
and then summarily rejected any required analysis of
those violations. Future similarly-situated litigants
will not know their rights under Oregon’s law. These
procedural due process concerns are substantial and
warrant review or remand.
III. The Oregon Supreme Court Violated
Judge Day’s Due Process Rights In Its Refusal
To Consider and Its Summary Rejection of
Judge Day’s Substantial Constitutional Claims,
Warranting Review or Remand.
The unique procedural posture inherent to this
proceeding creates an ability for this Court to review
the constitutional claims de novo or to remand for
further analysis. The Oregon Supreme Court acted as
the court of original jurisdiction in the judicial disciplinary proceeding below. App. 8a. Since the Oregon
Supreme Court was the original adjudicator of the
charges, this Court is the sole appellate authority
authorized for judicial review of this matter. 28 U.S.C.
§ 1257(a).
This Court’s own rules give priority to writs of
certiorari sought to address important questions of
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federal law. S. Ct. R. 10(c). Judge Day asserts that the
lower court’s lack of analysis does create an important
question of federal law. Supra Part I. The nature of
this jurisdiction and the unique procedural posture
makes this case one of particular importance.
As discussed above, the ability to conduct judicial
review has not traditionally been analyzed under due
process, but rather under the standard of review
applicable to a specific question of fact or law, with
questions of law reviewed de novo, questions of fact
reviewed for clear error, and matters of discretion
reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 557-58 (1988). However, Judge
Day’s constitutional claims were either ignored or
inadequately analyzed by the court of original jurisdiction and no appellate authority exists outside this
Court. This creates a question central to due process’
“fundamental fairness” concerns and underscores the
need for this Court to either review the claims as the
only appellate court authorized to do so or to remand
for proper analysis.
Judge Day raised substantial questions of constitutional law, which would warrant de novo review by this
Court. Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Glenn, 554 U.S. 105, 108
(2008). However, the Oregon Supreme Court’s refusal
to consider or to improperly summarily reject those
constitutional defenses frustrates this Court’s review.
So, in the alternative, because all of the constitutional issues raised and the corresponding lack of
analysis by the Oregon Supreme Court created a lack
of due process, remand is warranted. Indeed, the
Oregon Supreme Court based its refusal to review
Judge Day’s constitutional claims on the fact this
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Court had not yet decided Masterpiece. In addition, the
Oregon Supreme Court summarily rejected Judge
Day’s Procedural Due Process claims. Given the timing
and the procedural posture of this case, this Court may
decide that the Oregon Supreme Court should have the
opportunity to remedy this refusal by requiring it to
fully analyze and decide all of Judge Day’s constitutional claims and defenses.
Judge Day has lost his livelihood for three years
and has suffered significant harm to his reputation.
Other, similarly-situated litigants could suffer the
same constitutional violations. The fact that Judge
Day’s substantial constitutional claims have been
ignored or not properly analyzed underscores the need
for this Court to review, as the sole appellate authority
in this case, or to remand for proper analysis.
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Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, this Court should issue
the requested writ of certiorari, set the case for briefing
and argument or summarily remand to the Oregon
Supreme Court with instructions to analyze and decide
Judge Day’s properly raised constitutional claims and
defenses.
Respectfully submitted,
James Bopp, Jr.
Counsel of Record
Anita Y. Milanovich
Melena S. Siebert
THE BOPP LAW FIRM
The National Building
1 South 6th Street
Terre Haute, IN 47807
812/232-2434 (voice)
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF OREGON
INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE
Re: The Honorable Vance D. Day,
Respondent.
Commission on Judicial Fitness and Disability
12139, 1486
S063844
ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR
RECONSIDERATION
Upon consideration by the court.*
Respondent has filed a petition for reconsideration of
the opinion that issued in this case on March 15,
2018. The petition asks the Supreme Court to pend
this proceeding through the conclusion of an upcoming criminal trial and then take additional evidence
under ORS 1.430(1), concerning evidence that is anticipated to be introduced at that trial but that was
not introduced in this judicial fitness proceeding, or
alternative relief. The evidence at issue includes the
completed examination of a key witness, medical records concerning that witness, and expert testimony
based on those records. Respondent argues that a series of procedural difficulties, certain rules of and rulings made by the Commission on Judicial Fitness and
Disability, and pre-argument rulings from this court
precluded him from obtaining and admitting that evidence for this court's de novo review in this proceeding, which violated his procedural due process rights.
We have previously considered aspects of the procedural due process arguments that respondent raises
in his petition. In an order issued on September 27,
2016, which sought to strike testimony from the key
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witness, we stated our conclusion that no due process
violation had occurred. We stated the same conclusion
in our opinion, addressing several of the same arguments.
We have again reviewed all the relevant facts. We
conclude that procedural opportunities were available
to respondent, which he did not pursue, to question
the key witness and to seek the medical records at
issue, so as to provide a basis for expert testimony.
Because respondent did not pursue those opportunities, no procedural due process violation occurred.
We have considered respondent's additional arguments.
The petition for reconsideration and the amended petition for reconsideration are denied.
[signature of Thomas A. Balmer]
THOMAS A. BALMER
CHIEF JUSTICE, SUPREME COURT 4/24/2018 4:15
PM
*Duncan and Nelson, JJ., not participating.
Landau and Brewer, Senior Justices pro tempore, participated in the consideration of this petition.
c: Susan D Isaacs
Janet M Schroer
Victoria D Blachly
Darlene D Pasieczny
Timothy R Volpert
James Bopp, Jr.
Anita Y Milanovich
Herbert G Grey
Kimberlee Wood Colby
Robert A Destro
asb
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ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR RECONSIDERATION
REPLIES SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO:
State Court Administrator, Records Section,
Supreme Court Building, 1163 State St,
Salem OR 97301-2563
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF OREGON
INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE
Re: The Honorable Vance D. Day, Respondent.
Commission on Judicial Fitness and Disability
12139, 1486
S063844
APPELLATE JUDGMENT
On recommendation from the Commission on Judicial
Fitness and Disability.
Argued and submitted June 14, 2017.
Janet M. Schroer, Portland, argued the cause and
filed the briefs for the respondent.
Timothy R. Volpert, Portland, argued the cause and
filed the briefs for the Commission on Judicial Fitness
and Disability.
Before Balmer, Chief Justice, Kistler, Walters,
Nakamoto and Flynn, Justices, and Landau and
Brewer, Senior Justices pro tempore.
Respondent is suspended from his judicial office without salary for a period of three years,
commencing upon entry of the appellate judgment.
Appellate Judgment
SUPREME COURT
Effective Date: April 24, 2018
(seal)
c: Susan D Isaacs
[other names omitted]
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APPELLATE JUDGMENT
REPLIES SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO:
State Court Administrator, Records Section,
Supreme Court Building, 1163 State St,
Salem OR 97301-2563
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[Editing Note: Page numbers from the reported
opinion, 413 P.3d 907 (2018), are indicated, e.g.,
[*913].]
[Filed: 03/15/2018]
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF OREGON
Inquiry Concerning a Judge re:
THE HONORABLE VANCE D. DAY, Respondent,
(CJFD No. 12139, 1486; SC S063844)
On recommendation from the Commission on Judicial Fitness and Disability.
Argued and submitted June 14, 2017.
[counsel omitted]
[OPINION]
]*911] PER CURIAM
Respondent is suspended from his judicial office
without salary for a period of three years, commencing upon entry of the appellate judgment.
[*912] PER CURIAM
This case is before us on a recommendation from
the Commission on Judicial Fitness and Disability.
The commission filed a formal complaint alleging 13
misconduct counts against respondent, involving the
following judicial conduct rules and constitutional
provisions: Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.1
(promoting confidence in the judiciary); Rule 2.2 (prohibiting using judicial position for personal advantage); Rule 3.3(B) (prohibiting manifestation of bias or
prejudice in the performance of judicial duties); Rule
3.7(B) (judge must be patient, dignified, and courteous
to litigants); and Article VII (Amended), sections
8(1)(b), (c), and (e), of the Oregon Constitution (pro-
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hibiting willful misconduct bearing a demonstrable
relationship to the effective performance of judicial
duties; willful or persistent failure to perform judicial
duties; and willful violation of a judicial conduct rule).
After conducting a hearing, the commission filed a
recommendation with this court, to the effect that
clear and convincing evidence supported a conclusion
that respondent had violated multiple rules with respect to eight of the counts, including violations not
alleged in the complaint. The commission further recommended that respondent be removed from office.
See ORS 1.430(1) (if commission holds hearing, Supreme Court shall review record of proceedings and
may discipline judge); Or Const, Art VII (Amended), §
8(1) (in manner provided by law, Supreme Court may
censure, suspend, or remove a judge from judicial office for specified misconduct). Respondent argues that
we should dismiss all or several counts for procedural
reasons; that the commission did not sufficiently
prove the alleged misconduct; and, in any event, that
the only appropriate sanction is a censure.
For the reasons explained below, we dismiss two of
the eight counts of complaint that are at issue, and we
also do not consider any violation that the commission
now recommends that it did not allege in its
complaint. We further conclude, however, that the
commission proved by clear and convincing evidence
that respondent engaged in some of the misconduct
alleged in the remaining six counts. We suspend respondent, without pay, for three years.
I. FRAMEWORK FOR ANALYSIS AND
EVALUATION OF RECORD
We begin by describing the constitutional and statutory framework that defines our task in this case.
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A.

Authority to Censure, Suspend, or Remove a
Judge
Under Article VII (Amended), section 8(1), of the
Oregon Constitution, this court may censure, suspend,
or remove from judicial office a judge who has
engaged in certain willful misconduct, as follows:
“(1) In the manner provided by law, * * * a
judge of any court may be removed or suspended from his [or her] judicial office by the
Supreme Court, or censured by the Supreme
Court, for:
“* * * * *
“(b) Wilful misconduct in a judicial office
where such misconduct bears a demonstrable
relationship to the effective performance of judicial duties; or
“(c) Wilful or persistent failure to perform judicial duties; or
“* * * * *
“(e) Wilful violation of any rule of judicial conduct as shall be established by the Supreme
Court [.] ”1
1

As summarized later below, Count 2 alleged a violation of Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(e), only. All the
other counts at issue alleged violations of both sections
8(1)(b) and (e), and Count 12 also alleged a violation of
section 8(1)(c).
Other parts of Article VII (Amended), section 8(1), grant
similar authority to this court to censure, suspend, or remove a judge for certain conduct that is not willful, but
those provisions are not at issue in this case. See id. at §
8(1)(a) (conviction of certain crimes); (d) (general incompetent performance of judicial duties); (f) (habitual drunkenness or illegal use of certain drugs).
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[*913] That constitutional provision was originally
adopted by the people in 1968, following a 1967 legislative referral; it was amended to its current form in
1976. Or Laws 1967, Senate Joint Resolution 9; Or
Laws 1975, Senate Joint Resolution 48; see also In re
Fadeley, 310 Or 548, 553, 802 P2d 31 (1990) (describing history). Pursuant to the authorization in Article
VII (Amended), section 8(1)(e), this court has established a Code of Judicial Conduct, revised from time
to time, that applies in judicial fitness [*551] proceedings.2 In re Schenck, 318 Or 402, 405, 870 P2d 185,
cert den, 513 US 871 (1994).
Also in 1967, the legislature passed an accompanying act that created what is now the Commission on
Judicial Fitness and Disability, and established the
process for judicial fitness and disability proceedings.
Or Laws 1967, ch 294; Fadeley, 310 Or at 553; see
also ORS 1.410 - 1.480 (current statutes). Under that
statutory framework, the commission may hold a
hearing following an investigation, ORS 1.420 (1)(a);
if the commission finds that the judge’s conduct justifies censure, suspension, or removal from office, the
commission then “shall recommend to the Supreme
Court” one of those three identified sanctions, ORS
1.420(4). Consistent with the constitutional provisions
just cited, however, only this court has authority to
censure, suspend, or remove a judge from office. See
also ORS 1.430(1) (if commission holds hearing, this
court shall review the record of proceedings on law
and facts, and may impose an identified sanction); In
re Jordan, 290 Or 303, 308, 622 P2d 297, clarified on
2

We discuss in detail below the particular rules set out
in the Code of Judicial Conduct that the commission determined respondent to have violated in this proceeding.
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petition for reh’g, 290 Or 669, 624 P2d 1074 (1981)
(Jordan I) (commission’s statutory duty is to make
recommendation to this court concerning censure, suspension, or removal).3 And, as alleged in this case and
as required by the Oregon Constitution, such a sanction may be imposed only as a result of willful misconduct or willful violation of a judicial conduct rule. In
re Gustafson, 305 Or 655, 657, 756 P2d 21 (1988).
B.

“Wilful” Misconduct
This court has explained that, for constitutional
purposes, “wilful” misconduct under Article VII
(Amended), sections 8(1)(b), (c), and (e), combines elements of “intent” and “knowledge”: A judge’s conduct
is “wilful” “if the judge intends to cause a result or
take an action contrary to the applicable rule and if
[the judge] is aware of the circumstances that in fact
make the rule applicable, whether or not the judge
knows that he [or she] violates the rule.” Gustafson,
305 Or at 660 (emphasis added); see also Schenck, 318
Or at 405 (judge must have “the conscious objective of
causing the result or of acting in the manner defined
in the rule of conduct” (internal quotation marks
omitted)). “It is not enough that a judge was negligent
[and] should have known better,” but, conversely, a
“benign motive” will not excuse either an intentional
or knowing violation “of a nondiscre-tionary norm.”
Gustafson, 305 Or at 559-60 (internal quotation

3

Of course, the voters also may “remove” a judge by
declining to reelect the judge to a new term. See Or Const
Art VII (Amended), § 1 (state court judges shall be elected
by voters to six-year terms); see also id. at § 2
(cross-referencing the authority of voters to recall public
officers, set out in Article II, section 18).
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marks omitted).
C.

Burden of Proof and Standard of Review
The commission must establish alleged violations
of the Code of Judicial Conduct by clear and convincing evidence. Commission on Judicial Fitness and
Disability Rule of Procedure (CJFDRP) 16.a.;
Schenck, 318 Or at 405; see also ORS 1.415(3) (commission shall adopt rules of procedure governing proceedings under ORS 1.420); Jordan I, 290 Or at 307
(purpose of judicial fitness proceeding is “proper administration of justice for the public good”; proceedings are not criminal in nature, and burden of proof is
clear and convincing evidence, rather than proof beyond [*914] reasonable doubt). “Clear and convincing
evidence means that the truth of the facts asserted is
highly probable.” In re Miller, 358 Or 741, 744, 370
P3d 1241 (2016). If witness testimony about key facts
is in conflict, then the record must establish that it is
“highly probable” that the testimony that supports the
allegations is true. See In re Knappenberger, 344 Or
559, 571, 186 P3d 272 (2008) (lawyer discipline, so
demonstrating); In re Bishop, 297 Or 479, 485, 686
P2d 350 (1984) (same). Respondent is entitled to a
presumption that he did not engage in the alleged
misconduct. See In re Jordan, 295 Or 142, 156, 665
P2d 341 (1983) (Jordan II) (lawyer discipline; so stating).
This court’s review of the record is de novo. See In
re Gallagher, 326 Or 267, 284, 951 P2d 705 (1998)
(citing ORS 1.430(1) for that proposition). As this
court previously has explained, in deciding whether
the commission’s proof is clear and convincing, we
“make our own independent evaluation of the evidence” and then “decide whether the conduct, based
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on our findings of the facts, constitutes conduct proscribed by the Oregon Constitution.” In re Field, 281
Or 623, 629, 576 P2d 348, reh’g den, 281 Or 638, 584
P2d 1370 (1978).
II. FACTS
A. Introduction
Respondent is a Marion County Circuit Court
judge, who was appointed to the bench in fall 2011
and then elected in 2012. The events at issue occurred
beginning in fall 2012 and continuing through 2014.
The commission initially, and briefly, investigated a
particular 2012 incident, as described below, but decided not to file a formal complaint. About 18 months
later, it commenced a more expansive investigation
about additional allegations, and it revisited the 2012
incident. The commission filed a formal complaint in
June 2015 that set out 13 counts, including the 2012
incident as well as other, subsequent alleged misconduct. It conducted an evidentiary hearing several
months later. The commission then filed an opinion
with this court, which included findings of fact, analysis, and conclusions of law. The opinion determined
that, as to eight counts, respondent committed multiple rule and constitutional violations, including several not alleged in the formal complaint. As to five
counts, the commission recommended dismissal.
We provide a general factual summary below pertaining to the eight counts identified in the commission’s recommendation. Later in this opinion, we discuss many of the facts—several of which are disputed—in greater detail.4
4

We do not describe facts relating to the five counts
that the commission recommends be dismissed. The com-
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B.

Alleged Misconduct; Complaint Allegations;
Hearing; and Commission Recommendations

1. Interactions at soccer games and response to related commission inquiry (Counts 1 and 2)
In fall 2012, one of respondent’s sons played on a
soccer team for Chemeketa Community College. In
October, respondent’s son was injured during a game
that respondent attended, which prompted respondent to think poorly of the ability of a referee, Deuker,
to manage player safety. After the game, respondent
approached Deuker in the officials’ area. His and
Deuker’s accounts of what happened next varied. In
respondent’s account, he stated his intent to file an
official complaint, asked for Deuker’s name, and provided a business card after being asked for his contact
information. In Deuker’s account, respondent—while
complaining about the officiating—“shoved” his business card at Deuker, which identified him as a circuit
court judge, prompting Deuker to feel intimidated by
him. Deuker sought advice after the [*915] game from
a longtime referee, Allen, who advised him to report
the incident to another official, as well as to the commission, and Deuker did so.
A few weeks later, Allen attended a Chemeketa
mission does not ask us to revisit those counts in this
court; we therefore limit our consideration to the violations
that the commission found, and we dismiss the remaining
counts. See Gallagher, 326 Or at 284 (although the court
has authority to consider all matters charged, it may
choose to limit its consideration to only the commission’s
determined violations).
We also do not describe facts that relate to immaterial
matters or evidence that, in our judgment after reviewing
the record, carries little to no weight.
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playoff game. According to Allen, as he watched the
field after the game, he noticed respondent—whom he
did not know but assumed to be the judge from before—crossing toward the officials. From several
yards away, Allen put his hands up and yelled at respondent to leave and go back to the spectators’ area.
Respondent replied that he only had wanted to tell
the referees that they had done a good job, and then
he turned and walked toward the team. A week later,
Allen wrote to the commission. In his letter, he referred to Deuker’s earlier complaint; summarized
what he characterized as a second attempt by respondent to “intrude” on the officials’ area; and explained
that he had “intercepted” respondent and advised him
to leave.
The commission assigned a single 2012 case number to Deuker’s and Allen’s reports, and, in early January 2013, it sent an inquiry to respondent. Respondent wrote back later the same month, explaining his
interaction with Deuker after the first game and describing a physical altercation with an unidentified
man after the second game. As to the first game, respondent stated that he had produced his business
card after being asked to provide contact information.
As to the second game, respondent stated that, as he
started to thank the officials, he had been physically
accosted and almost thrown down by a man matching
Allen’s description, who had yelled that he had no authority to be near the officials.
The commission assessed those “diametrically opposed” written versions of the events and determined
that respondent’s version “[rang] more true.” In February 2013, the commission sent respondent a letter
stating that it had concluded that the “complaint”—that is, Deuker’s and Allen’s initiating com-
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plaints to the commission— “should be dismissed.”
About 18 months later, the commission began investigating other misconduct allegations involving
respondent, prompting it to further investigate
Deuker’s and Allen’s reports, including interviews
with Deuker, Allen, and others who had attended the
soccer games. In its June 2015 formal complaint, the
commission included two counts relating to those incidents, notwithstanding its earlier dismissal notification to respondent. Count 1 described respondent’s
conduct after the first game in approaching the officials’ area, complaining about Deuker’s officiating,
and producing his circuit court business card; and
charged him with violating Rule 2.1(A) (preserving
integrity of judiciary; promoting public confidence in
judiciary); Rule 2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct reflecting
adversely on character to serve as judge); Rule 2.2
(prohibiting using judicial position for personal advantage); and Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b)
and (e) (willful misconduct bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial duties;
willful violation of judicial conduct rule). Count 2 described respondent’s written statement in his responding letter to the commission about being physically
accosted after the second game, alleged that that
statement was false, and charged respondent with
again violating Rule 2.1(C) and Article VII
(Amended), section (8)(1)(e), as well as Rule 2.1(D)
(prohibiting conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, or
misrepresentation).
At the hearing, the commission heard testimony
from respondent, Deuker, Allen, and others who had
been present at the games. As to both Counts 1 and 2,
the commission determined that respondent had violated all the rules alleged, as well as Article VII
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(Amended), section 8(1)(e). It further determined that
he had violated another rule in connection with Count
2—Rule 3.12(A) (not being candid with disciplinary
authority)—when he reported to the commission that
he had been physically accosted after the second
game.5
[*916] 2. Relationship with Veterans Treatment Court
participant; participant’s handling of firearms; related court inquiry and commission investigation
(Counts 3, 4, 5, and 6)
The next group of allegations arose in connection
with respondent’s role as judge of the Marion County
Veterans Treatment Court (VTC), which originally
began as a Veterans Treatment Docket and then
transitioned to a funded VTC in October 2013. The
VTC operates similarly to a drug court, involving a
post-adjudicative, collaborative, and interdisciplinary
team model that includes a judge, a deputy district
attorney, two defense attorneys, a probation officer, a
VTC coordinator, a law enforcement representative,
treatment professionals, one or more Veteran’s Administration specialists, a veteran mentor coordinator, and an assessor. Participants are probationers
who have pled guilty to criminal charges and have
been accepted into the VTC to work through a
multi-phase, 18- to 24-month program that provides
them with support and addresses their unique
5

The commission also determined, under Count 2, that
respondent had violated the identified rules when he reported to the commission that, after the first game, he had
produced his business card only upon request. Count 2 did
not, however, allege any facts about that statement; it concerned only respondent’s statement about having been
physically accosted after the second game.
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needs—including medical, psychological, housing,
benefits, and vocational training—as well as reintegration into their communities. Most VTC participants had pled guilty to misdemeanor charges, but
felony charges were sometimes involved. VTC courtroom proceedings, which all participants were required to attend, were intentionally more relaxed and
informal than ordinary court proceedings. One goal of
the VTC was to improve participant accountability by
increasing their contacts with VTC team members,
both in court and, depending on the circumstances,
out of court. Because the VTC was new at the time of
the events at issue, its practices were evolving.
The record shows that, in his work with the VTC,
respondent genuinely cared about the participants.
He put his “heart and soul” into the VTC, motivated
by his desire to honor and assist veterans, not to promote his own interests. He had “tremendous respect”
for the participants, cared for them, and wanted to
help their positive transition back to society. The record also shows that respondent had a deep respect
for, a sincere interest in, and a fascination with, military history and the work of the armed forces.
In June 2013, a veteran to whom we refer as BAS
was accepted onto the Veterans Treatment
Docket—later transitioning to the VTC—after he pled
guilty to felony driving under the influence of intoxicants (DUII).6 His judgment of conviction, which respondent signed, provided for 24 months’ supervised
6

DUII is a Class C felony if the defendant already has
been convicted of DUII at least two times in the 10 years
prior to the date of the current offense. ORS 813.011(1).
Otherwise, DUII is a Class A misdemeanor. ORS
813.010(4).
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probation, with conditions, and for reduction of his
felony conviction to a misdemeanor on successful completion. His plea agreement included a lifetime
driver’s license revocation, and his probation conditions included compliance with the Veterans Treatment Docket and a statutorily based prohibition on
possessing firearms.7
BAS was a decorated former Navy SEAL, who had
served at least 12 deployments.8 He had many significant needs relating to his veteran status—including
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), traumatic
brain injury (TBI), substance abuse, and a debilitating knee injury. He lived outside Salem on a rural
farm and had no friends or family in the area, nor a
driver’s license.
Respondent and the VTC team began working with
BAS, whom they had assessed as high-risk. Outside of
court, team members drove BAS to appointments and
other errands, and they sometimes visited his home
with groceries or to visit or check on him. A back-up
VTC judge, Judge Ochoa, took BAS to a Portland museum and drove him to appointments; the deputy district attorney took him hiking and bike-riding (with
defense counsel’s consent); and respondent’s son drove
him to appointments and became [*917] friendly with
him.9 Respondent also encouraged his clerk to social7

ORS 166.270(1) makes it a crime for a felon to possess
a firearm.
8

SEAL is an acronym for the United States Navy’s sea,
air, and land special operations force.
9

Respondent has two sons; one son became involved
with BAS in 2013, and the other had played on the
Chemeketa soccer team in 2012.
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ize with BAS and to serve as a confidant for him. By
about the end of 2013, respondent had gone to BAS’s
home at least twice.
Due to the unique nature of BAS’s military service
and his personality, some members of the VTC team,
including respondent, developed a special interest
him. In September 2013, respondent asked to interview BAS for an article about the VTC that he was
writing. BAS did not feel as though he could decline to
be interviewed because he worried that declining
might harm his case, but he did not convey that to
respondent.
Later that fall, respondent and BAS had joking interactions during open VTC hearings about BAS’s
firearms prohibition. Those interactions showed a continuing acknowledgment—by both respondent and
BAS—of that prohibition.
As the holiday season approached, the VTC team
grew concerned about BAS’s well-being—namely, his
isolation and the danger of self-harm—and they discussed making a concerted effort to keep him socialized. In mid-November, respondent arranged for BAS
to work at the home of his son-in-law, Mansell. Before
driving BAS to Mansell’s home, respondent took him
to a small, brief wedding ceremony that respondent
had agreed to officiate. There, respondent introduced
BAS as a Navy SEAL and used his call sign, which
made BAS feel as if he were “on display.”
Respondent then took BAS to Mansell’s home. BAS
had been told that other VTC participants would be
there, but none were. The work involved preparing
cabinetry for a lacquer application. BAS located three
hidden drawers in the cabinetry, opened one, and
found a gun. The surrounding circumstances are in
dispute. According to BAS, respondent had challenged
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him to find a hidden drawer containing a gun; BAS
found it and asked respondent if he could handle it;
and respondent said yes. BAS then checked the gun
and put it back.10 According to Mansell and respondent, Mansell had challenged BAS to find the hidden
drawers while respondent worked on a carpentry project across the room and was not paying attention;
BAS found a drawer containing an unloaded gun but
did not handle it; Mansell made a comment about the
gun; and respondent vaguely heard the comment but
was not aware of the situation.
Out-of-court interactions between BAS and respondent continued. Respondent invited BAS to
Thanksgiving dinner, but BAS declined due to illness.
They had other text exchanges in that same
timeframe. In early December, respondent attended a
VTC conference with a Marion County Circuit Court
colleague, Judge Prall, and he and BAS texted during
the conference. Also while there, respondent and
Judge Prall met a famous Navy SEAL and others who
were friends of BAS’s, and they learned more about
BAS’s military service. During that conference, respondent and Judge Prall discussed judicial boundaries with treatment court participants, and Judge
Prall told respondent that she did not have
out-of-court interactions with participants, aside from
incidental greetings. At around the same time, BAS
was admitted to a three-week treatment program in
Texas for his TBI, and he and respondent texted while
10

At the hearing, BAS was not asked whether the gun
had been loaded. He previously had stated, in an interview
with the commission’s investigator about a year earlier
that had not been conducted under oath, that the gun had
been loaded.
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he was there. He returned to Oregon shortly before
Christmas.
On Christmas Eve, BAS accepted an invitation to a
holiday dinner at the home of Judge Ochoa and his
wife; the VTC coordinator, Lambert, and the VTC
deputy district attorney also attended. On Christmas
evening, respondent invited BAS to a family brunch
at his home the next day, to celebrate respondent’s
birthday.
BAS attended the brunch. Judge Ochoa and the
deputy district attorney also had been invited but
were unable to attend; the only other attendants were
respon-dent’s family [*918] members. Unbeknownst
to respondent, BAS was uncomfortable—he felt out of
place, and he was not comfortable discussing military,
political, and religious issues with respondent and his
family. While there, BAS noticed a particular gun
case and commented that it held a “good weapon.”
Within the next few days, respondent and BAS had
more text exchanges.
In early January 2014, BAS’s pellet stove—which
was his only heat source—stopped working, and the
VTC team discussed their concerns about BAS being
isolated in the cold weather with no heat. On a
Sunday, respondent and his son drove to BAS’s home
to bring him lunch and check the stove. Unbeknownst
to respondent, his son had brought the gun that BAS
had noticed at the brunch to show to BAS. Again, the
surrounding circumstances are in dispute. According
to BAS, while respondent’s son was handling the gun
with respondent sitting nearby, BAS asked respondent if he could show his son how to handle the gun
safely. Respondent answered affirmatively and also
said that, because he had signed BAS’s probation order, he could make “adjustments.” BAS then handled
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the gun. Again according to BAS, at the end of the
visit, BAS told respondent that his son would be returning later that day to target-shoot with BAS using
the gun; respondent stated that he had no objection;
and, later that day, his son and BAS shot the gun on
BAS’s property.11 According to respondent, he had
been working with the broken stove while his son and
BAS were in another part of the room. He heard BAS
say something that caught his attention, and he
looked and saw BAS holding the gun. Respondent denied having said anything to BAS about the gun, and
he testified that he had not thought about BAS’s felon
status—and accompanying firearms prohibition—at
that time. He also testified that he did not learn about
the target-shooting until much later, when the commission investigation was underway.
Respondent and BAS texted again over the following week. In the last exchange, respondent offered to
bring BAS a working heat source, but BAS declined.
Respondent suggested that BAS was “disengaging,”
but BAS stated that he was not. By this time, BAS
had confided in respondent’s clerk, as well as an assigned taxi driver who took him to appointments, that
he felt uneasy and overwhelmed about respondent’s
out-of-court contacts with him, but he thought that he
needed to acquiesce to avoid more severe consequences in his case. Respondent did not know about
those conversations.
About a week after the second gun-handling incident, BAS told respondent’s clerk that respondent and
11

During the hearing, BAS was not asked whether the
gun had been loaded when respondent’s son brought it into
his home. Of course, the gun was loaded later, when BAS
and respondent’s son used it for target-shooting.
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his son had brought a gun to his home, and she told
Lambert. Lambert spoke to BAS right away; he confirmed that the incident had occurred and also described the earlier incident at Mansell’s home. BAS
told Lambert that he felt distraught by the constant
contact and was concerned that, if he did not do what
respondent wanted, his felony conviction might not be
reduced to a misdemeanor at the end of his probation.
He also expressed concern about going to jail for a
firearms violation. Lambert immediately memorialized their conversation afterwards, in notes to herself.
Lambert then spoke to respondent. She told him
about BAS’s concern regarding the contacts from him
and his family, and respondent agreed that, in light of
BAS’s discomfort, those contacts should be reduced,
and they stopped thereafter. At the commission hearing, respondent testified that it had not occurred to
him that, over those few months, he had placed BAS
in a difficult position, as a probationer in his court.
During the same conversation, Lambert also told
respondent that she knew about both gun-handling
incidents, and she mentioned BAS’s felon status. According to respondent, that conversation was the first
time that he had thought about BAS’s felon status,
and he became greatly concerned that negative implications could flow to BAS in light of his firearms prohibition. He then told the VTC deputy district attorney, as well as BAS’s lawyer and probation officer,
that his [*919] son had shown BAS a gun. The deputy
district attorney evaluated whether to criminally
charge BAS, but decided not to do so.
In February, BAS went back to Texas for treatment, and, while there, he secured a job that required
carrying a firearm. The VTC team decided that it was
appropriate to reduce his felony to a misdemeanor.
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Respondent signed a judgment to that effect, nunc pro
tunc, effective June 2013. BAS moved to Texas and
participated in several more VTC hearings by telephone. At an April hearing, he mentioned that he was
traveling to visit his ill father, and his father died not
long after that. At a May hearing, respondent offered
his condolences to BAS, who was reserved and found
it difficult to talk. After BAS reported that he had
been in only sporadic contact with his mentor, respondent ordered additional contact, but BAS thereafter
had difficulty connecting with his mentor.
At a hearing in August, BAS reported that he had
stopped trying to contact his mentor, but respondent
reiterated his earlier order, and he ordered BAS to
write a paper about the importance of mentor contact.12 BAS became very angry and upset about some
of respondent’s comments in court, and he called Lambert afterwards, stating that he needed to talk to
someone about respondent. Lambert suggested that
he speak to Presiding Judge Rhoades, and Lambert
reported their conversation to Judge Rhoades, including telling her about the gun-handling incidents and
other issues involving BAS and respondent.
Judge Rhoades then spoke with BAS by telephone,
and he told her about the second gun-handling incident and some of his other contacts with respondent.
The next day, she reassigned BAS’s case to Judge
Prall, and she arranged to meet with respondent, with
another judge, Judge Penn, in attendance. The purpose of the meeting was to confirm whether any of respondent’s conduct relating to BAS should be reported
to the commission, but respondent did not know the
12

It was a common VTC practice to order paper-writing
as a sanction for violating a term of a hearing order.
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topic of the meeting in advance.
At their meeting, Judge Rhoades told respondent
that she had received information about his
out-of-court contact with BAS and, referring to the
second gun-handling incident, that he had been present when BAS had handled a gun. Respondent initially denied remembering that incident. After Judge
Rhoades provided additional information, he acknowledged it, but he denied that he had given BAS permission to handle the gun, and he stated that he had not
known at that time that BAS was a felon. Judge
Rhoades did not think that respondent was forthcoming. Judge Penn similarly did not think that respondent sounded truthful about his lack of awareness
concerning BAS’s felon status, and he described respondent as clarifying or modifying his answers to
various questions throughout the meeting. For his
part, respondent characterized the meeting as akin to
a “star chamber”; he had been shocked and caught
off-guard by the questions and what he thought was
an aggressive tone. As the meeting ended, Judge
Rhoades and Judge Penn expressed their view that
the second gun-handling incident should be reported
to the commission, and respondent confirmed that he
would self-report.
Soon thereafter, respondent sent a letter to the
commission, stating that he had been recently advised
that a VTC participant had contacted his presiding
judge “with concerns about an interaction he had with
me in January of this year.” He provided BAS’s name
and case number, but no additional detail. Judge
Penn had advised respondent to write a letter that
was general in nature because its purpose was to provide the commission with sufficient information to
begin an investigation. A few weeks later, Judge Penn
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called the commission to inquire about the status and
realized that additional information was needed, so he
sent some documentation and provided the names of
staff members who might be appropriate to interview.
An investigator hired by the commission later interviewed several witnesses, including respondent. During his December 2014 interview, respondent told the
investigator that, during the second gun-handling
incident, he [*920] had been in another part of the
room working on the stove; he had simply observed
the interaction with the gun between his son and
BAS; and there had been no discussion about whether
BAS should touch the gun.
Meanwhile, BAS successfully completed his probation after his case was reassigned to Judge Prall. Several witnesses testified that BAS had demonstrably
benefitted from his participation in the VTC—he had
become sober, his debilitating knee injury and other
health issues had been addressed, he had received
treatment for his TBI and PTSD, and he could function in society and was employable. Overall, he was in
a healthier emotional and mental state than when he
entered the program. BAS also testified that he appreciated respondent’s assistance and kind treatment of
him, and he previously had acknowledged that respondent and the entire VTC team had wanted what
was best for him.
As to the conduct directly involving BAS, following
its investigation, the commission charged respondent
with two identical counts for each gun-handling incident (Counts 3 and 4), alleging violations of Rule
2.1(A) (preserving integrity of judiciary; promoting
public confidence in judiciary), Rule 2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct reflecting adversely on character to serve
as judge), and Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b)
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and (e) (willful misconduct bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial duties;
willful violation of judicial conduct rule). It also
charged those same rule and constitutional violations,
as well as a violation of Rule 3.7(B) (judge must be
patient, dignified, and courteous to litigants), as part
of alleging an improper relationship between respondent and BAS (Count 6). That count specifically alleged that respondent had “singled BAS out for attention and improperly imposed himself onto BAS,”
thereby placing BAS “in the position of being subject
to [respondent’s] attentions, while being aware of [respondent’s] control over his probation status.” As to
respondent’s meeting with Judge Rhoades and Judge
Penn, and his interview with the commission’s investigator, the commission charged respondent with violating Rule 2.1(D) (prohibiting conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation), and, again,
Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b) and (e) (Count
5). The complaint specifically alleged that respondent
untruthfully had told Judge Rhoades and Judge Penn
that he “did not know” that BAS had been convicted of
a felony, and that he had “denied” to the commission,
when asked about the second gun-handling incident,
that he had told BAS that he “waived” the firearms
prohibition.
At the hearing, the commission heard testimony
from BAS by telephone and heard live testimony from
respondent, Judge Rhoades, Judge Prall, Judge Penn,
Lambert, other members of the VTC team, and other
witnesses. The commission expressly found BAS’s testimony to be credible, and it determined that respondent had violated all the rules and constitutional provisions alleged in Counts 3 through 6, except that it
made no finding on Article VII (Amended), section
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8(1)(b), on Count 5. It further determined that respondent had violated several additional rules: As to both
Counts 3 and 4, the commission found violations of
Rule 2.1(B) (prohibiting commission of criminal act)
a n d Rule 3 . 9 (A) (prohi b i t i ng ex parte
communications); and, as to Count 5, the commission
found a violation of Rule 2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct
reflecting adversely on character to serve as judge)
and Rule 3.12(A) (not being candid with disciplinary
authority).
3. Funding for “Heroes and Heritage Hall” (Count
9)
In connection with his work on the VTC, respondent created a “Heroes and Heritage Hall” in an open,
public area on the same floor of the Marion County
Courthouse as his courtroom. The Hall was a military
artwork and memorabilia gallery that was intended to
recognize military service, commemorate local veterans, and bring attention to veteran-related issues.
Respondent hung items of his own and items donated
by others. To professionally complete and frame some
pieces, he used both personal funds and funds from a
nonprofit foundation that had partnered with the
VTC.
[*921] As the Hall artwork display expanded, local
lawyers—some of whom appeared before respondent— inquired about it. Respondent spoke with some
of them about sponsoring memorabilia pieces for particular well-known local lawyers and judges who were
veterans. Respondent thought that those pieces provided encouragement to the VTC participants because
they showed that other veterans had addressed their
military-related issues and then gone on to serve their
community in distinguished ways. Each lawyer who

29a

had agreed to sponsor all or part of a memorabilia
piece wrote a check payable to the order of the foundation and then either mailed the check to the foundation or to respondent’s chambers, or dropped it off in
his chambers.
Information about the Hall came to the commission’s attention when it interviewed witnesses in connection with respondent’s initial self-report. Following
its investigation, the commission alleged in Count 9 of
its complaint that, by collecting money from lawyers
who appeared before him in court to sponsor veteran-related art, with donation checks delivered to
him at the courthouse, respondent violated Rule
2.1(A) (preserving integrity of judiciary; promoting
public confidence in judiciary), and Article VII
(Amended), sections 8(1)(b) and (e) (willful misconduct
bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial duties; willful violation of judicial
conduct rule). In its opinion, the commission determined that respondent had intentionally “solicit[ed]”
donations and thus had violated the rule and constitutional provisions as alleged, as well as Rule 4.5(A)
(prohibiting personal solicitation of funds).13
13

Count 9 also alleged a violation of Rule 2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct reflecting adversely on judge’s character and
fitness to serve as judge), apparently concerning related
factual allegations about whether respondent had permission to hang the artwork, his initial public identification of
paying sponsors, and the nature of one framed collage.
That collage included a painted portrait of Adolf Hitler
that had been cut from a frame at the end of World War II
by a local veteran serving in Germany. In the collage, the
portrait was partially covered by World War II-era photographs, letters, and memorabilia from the veteran, and it
was surrounded by photographs of American soldiers dur-
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4. Screening process for same-sex marriage requests
(Count 12)
After he became a judge, respondent regularly solemnized marriages for members of the public, pursuant to ORS 106.120.14 At that time, the Oregon Constitution stated that “only a marriage between one
man and one woman shall be valid or legally recognized as a marriage.” Or Const, Art XV, § 5a (adopted
by initiative petition in 2004). In May 2014, an Oregon federal district court judge ruled that Oregon’s
constitutional ban on same-sex marriage and related
statutory provisions violated the Equal Protection
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United
States Constitution. Geiger v. Kitzhaber, 994 F Supp
2d 1128, 1139 (D Or), appeal dismissed, 2014 WL
8628611 (9th Cir 2014), cert den, 135 S Ct 1860
(2015). Marion County Circuit Court judges did not
ing the war, medals awarded to the veteran, and other
memorabilia.
Notwithstanding those additional factual allegations in
the complaint, the commission in its opinion focused on
only the collection allegation under Rule 2.1(A), and it
made no recommendation as to Rule 2.1(C). We similarly
narrow our consideration of Count 9.
14

Under ORS 106.120(2)(a), a marriage in Oregon may
be solemnized by “[a] judicial officer.” (Other authorized
persons or entities—county clerks, certain religious
congregations or organizations, and authorized clergypersons—also may solemnize marriages, ORS
106.120(2)(b) - (d).) ORS 106.120(1)(a) defines “judicial officer” as meaning, among other things, a “judicial officer of
this state as that term is defined in ORS 1.210.” ORS
1.210, in turn, defines a “judicial officer” as “a person authorized to act as a judge in a court of justice.”
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receive any specific instruction about solemnizing
marriages after that ruling.
Respondent’s clerk and his judicial assistant (JA)
knew that respondent thought that marriage should
be permitted between only opposite-sex couples, based
on his own sincere and firmly held religious beliefs.
After the federal court ruling, they asked respondent
about any changes to the process in his chambers for
solemnizing marriages. He instructed that, when his
chambers received any marriage request, the JA or
the clerk should obtain the couple’s names, addresses,
[*922] dates of birth, and telephone numbers; and
then check the Oregon Judicial Information Network
(OJIN) to see if the couple had existing case records
and, if so, to confirm their genders.15 If the JA or clerk
determined that the couple was a same-sex couple,
then they should call the couple back and say that
respondent was not available or they should otherwise
provide that information to respondent, so that he
could decide how to proceed. If the couple was an opposite-sex couple, however, then the wedding date
should be put on respondent’s schedule. Respondent’s
staff was not comfortable with the instruction to check
OJIN—which they had not previously done—and to
provide incorrect information about respondent’s
availability.
On one occasion, respondent’s JA checked OJIN
and discovered that a requesting couple might be a
15

At the time of these events, the Oregon Judicial Information Network (OJIN) was the Oregon circuit courts’
case register system that was in use in Marion County. It
contained a register of events for cases filed in the Oregon
circuit courts, with additional information about case parties.
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same-sex couple. Respondent had an actual scheduling conflict on the requested date, however, so she
truthfully told the couple that he was not available.
Several weeks after that, respondent stopped solemnizing marriages altogether.
Respondent’s JA testified at the hearing that she
never had seen respondent act in any way that had
discriminated against any lesbian, gay, bisexual, or
trans-gender (LGBT) person. Other witnesses—
including sitting judges—similarly testified that they
never had known respondent to discriminate against
anyone and never had heard respondent make any
derogatory remark about the LGBT community.
Respondent’s in-chambers process for handling
same-sex marriage requests came to the commission’s
attention when its investigator interviewed respondent’s JA and his clerk in connection with respondent’s initial self-report. Following its investigation,
the commission charged respondent in Count 12 of its
complaint with violating Rule 3.3(B) (prohibiting
manifestation of bias or prejudice in performance of
judicial duties), and Article VII (Amended), sections
8(1)(b), (c), and (e) (willful misconduct bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial duties; willful or persistent failure to perform judicial duties; willful violation of judicial conduct rule).
The allegation stated that he inappropriately had
screened, and ordered his staff to screen, same-sex
couples because he refused to marry such couples
even though their marriages were lawful. Following
the hearing, the commission determined that respondent’s screening practice had violated Rule 3.3(B) as
alleged, as well as Article VII (Amended), sections
8(1)(b) and (e) (willful misconduct bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial
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duties; willful violation of judicial conduct rule).16 It
further determined that that same practice had violated Rule 2.1(A) (preserving integrity of judiciary;
promoting public confidence in judiciary), and his direction to his staff to lie to the public about his availability had violated Rule 2.1(D) (prohibiting conduct
involving dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation).
5. Additional factual and procedural background
a. Testimony supporting respondent’s reputation
for honesty
At the commission hearing, many witnesses—
including several sitting judges—testified that respondent had a reputation for truth, honesty, and veracity.
After considering all the evidence, however, the commission expressly found respondent’s testimony to be
disingenuous in several respects.
b. Commission’s additional factual findings
In its opinion, after making factual findings on
each count of complaint, the commission summarized
additional factual findings not related to any particular count. It later relied on several of those findings—specifically, those supporting its unfavorable
view [*923] of respondent’s credibility and its determinations that he had engaged in a pattern of
self-benefit and had displayed a lack of boundaries—as part of its consideration of the appropriate
recommended sanction. After reviewing the record, we
conclude that none of those additional final factual
findings bear on our evaluation of the complaint allegations or our assessment of an appropriate sanction,
16

The commission made no finding on the alleged violation of Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(c) (willful or
persistent failure to perform judicial duties).
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and so we do not discuss them.
c. Commission did not amend its complaint
At the close of the commission’s case, its counsel
suggested that the commission had discretion to add
counts to the complaint, to conform to the evidence.
The chair responded that the commission’s rules contemplated a motion, to which counsel responded that
she would prepare such a motion at a later time. See
CJFDRP 10.b. (commission, at any time prior to determination, may allow or require amendments; complaint may be amended to conform to proof; if amendment made, judge shall be given reasonable time to
answer and prepare and present defense). Respondent
countered that fundamental due process required that
he be apprised of additional charges. The commission’s counsel never submitted a written motion to
amend or otherwise proposed any amendment. Nonetheless, as described, the commission ultimately determined that respondent committed multiple rule
violations not alleged in the complaint.
6. Sanction
In assessing the appropriate recommended sanction, the commission considered several factors that,
in its view, revealed patterns of misconduct on respondent’s part. First, it determined that respondent’s conduct showed that he had little insight concerning the
boundaries that a judicial position requires. Second, it
observed that respondent had engaged in a pattern of
self-benefit, including that he had “exploit [ed] his
judicial position to satisfy his personal desires.” Third,
it determined that respondent had engaged in a pattern of dishonesty. And finally, the commission opined
that, even after he became the subject of an investigation in August 2014, respondent had been “unable to
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understand the magnitude of his actions in relation to
the Code of Judicial Conduct.” The commission summarized respondent’s misconduct as “frequent and extensive,” including actions taken “for personal gain
and * * * amounting to criminal behavior,” as well as
misconduct that “impugn[ed] his honesty and integrity” and “undermine[d] the public’s confidence in the
judiciary.” The commission unanimously concluded—and recommended to this court—that the appropriate sanction was removal from office.
III. RESPONDENT’S PRELIMINARY MOTIONS
AND PROCEDURAL ARGUMENTS
Respondent makes several preliminary motions
and procedural arguments, which we address below.
A.

Counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, and 12—Motion to Dismiss, `Lack of Authority
Respondent first argues that the commission lacked
statutory authority to file all counts that were not the
result of his self-report to the commission—that is, all
counts except Count 4 (which involved BAS and the
second gun-handling incident). He contends that the
commission’s authority to investigate and bring
charges is narrowed by ORS 1.420(1), which requires
an initial “complaint” by “any person.” All counts
other than Count 4 derived from the commission and
its investigation, or, as to the soccer-related counts
(Counts 1 and 2), from an effective “refil[ing]” of an
old inquiry that was previously dismissed. Accordingly, in respondent’s view, none of those counts were
statutorily authorized. As explained below, we disagree.
ORS 1.420(1) provides that, “[u]pon complaint from
any person concerning the conduct of a judge or upon
request of the Supreme Court,” and following an in-
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vestigation, the commission may hold a hearing and
take other alternative actions. In In re Sawyer, 286 Or
369, 594 P2d 805 (1979), this court considered
whether ORS 1.420(1) requires the filing with the
commission of a formal initiating complaint that must
be disclosed to the judge. In that case, no initiating
complaint [*924] had been filed, and the judge contended that the commission therefore had no jurisdiction to act. Id. at 373. This court first explained that,
as with attorney discipline proceedings (and unlike in
criminal proceedings), judicial fitness proceedings do
not require that the judge be notified of the accuser’s
identification in advance. Id. at 374. Next, the court
explained that the reference in ORS 1.420(1) to a
“complaint from any person” did not necessarily impose a jurisdictional requirement of a formal complaint by an identifiable person. Instead, the statute
“contemplates that the Commission may undertake
the investigation of the conduct of a judge upon the
basis of any information coming to it from ‛any person,’ including any information coming to it through
any of its members or staff.” Id. at 375. The court additionally recognized that, in the event of a factual
dispute, “an accused judge would be entitled to examine any evidence developed during the course of the
investigation that was favorable to the judge.” Id. at
374.
The court’s reading of ORS 1.420(1) in Sawyer applies in this case, as well: The fact that the commission received a new initiating report (from respondent) that directly concerned only one count of complaint did not deprive it of authority to charge the remaining counts following its investigation. In light of
Sawyer, we deny respondent’s motion to dismiss
Counts 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, and 12, on jurisdictional
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grounds.
B.

Counts 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, and 12—Recommended
Misconduct Determinations Not Alleged in Commission’s Complaint
On Counts 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, and 12, as described earlier,
the commission determined that clear and convincing
evidence supported all the rule violations, and almost
all the constitutional violations, alleged in the complaint. Also on those counts, the commission determined that respondent had committed 10 rule violations not alleged in the complaint.17 As part of challenging the sufficiency of the evidence supporting
those counts, respondent argues that the commission
acted improperly when it made recommendations
17

The commission determined that respondent violated
the following rules, in addition to those alleged:
• Count 2 (false statement in response to soccer-related
inquiry): Rule 3.12(A) (not being candid with disciplinary authority);
• Counts 3 and 4 (BAS gun-handling incidents): Two violations each of Rule 2.1(B) (prohibiting commission of
criminal act) and Rule 3.9(A) (prohibiting ex parte communications);
• Count 5 (presiding judge and commission inquiries
about BAS gun-handling incidents): Rule 2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct adverse to character to serve as judge);
Rule 3.12(A) (not being candid with disciplinary authority);
• Count 9 (Heroes and Heritage Hall): Rule 4.5(A) (prohibiting personal solicitation of funds); and
• Count 12 (screening process for same-sex marriages):
Rule 2.1(A) (preserving integrity of judiciary; promoting
public confidence in judiciary); Rule 2.1(D) (prohibiting
conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation).
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about unalleged violations. For the reasons explained
below, we agree.
This court has explained that, as a necessary component of due process, a judge against whom a judicial
fitness complaint has been filed is entitled to adequate notice, “i.e., information sufficiently specific to
permit [the judge] to understand precisely where,
when, how and before whom he [or she] is alleged to
have committed [certain] acts” that purportedly violated specified ethical rules. State ex rel Currin v.
Comm’n on Judicial Fitness, 311 Or 530, 532-33, 815
P2d 212 (1991); see also id. at 533 (“[a]dequate notice
is a necessary component of due process of law”);
CJFDRP 8.c. (complaint against judge must specify
“in ordinary and concise language the charges against
the judge and the alleged facts upon which such
charges are based”). Recently, in In re
Ellis/Rosenbaum, 356 Or 691, 344 P3d 425 (2015),
the court explained that an accused lawyer who is the
subject of a disciplinary proceeding must be put on
notice “of the conduct constituting the violation, as
well as the rule violation at issue,” including a sufficient allegation of facts in connection with a charged
allegation. Id. at 738 (internal quotation marks omitted; citing Bar Rule of Procedure (BR) 4.1(c), which
requires complaint to set out alleged misconduct
[*925] and rules violated); see also In re Coe, 302 Or
553, 556, 731 P2d 1028 (1987) (lawyer discipline; service of complaint and notice of answer satisfied due
process requirements). By way of illustration, in In re
Thomas, 294 Or 505, 525, 659 P2d 960 (1983), the
Oregon State Bar alleged several rule and statutory
violations in a particular cause of complaint. The trial
board found that the lawyer had not committed the
alleged violations, but it did find that he had commit-
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ted an unalleged statutory violation. The parties did
not brief the alleged violations on review, so only the
unalleged violation was at issue. Id. at 526. This court
dismissed the cause of complaint, explaining that an
attorney must be given “reasonable written notice of
the charge against him.” Id.; see also In re Chambers,
292 Or 670, 676, 642 P2d 286 (1982) (rejecting trial
board’s finding that lawyer engaged in misrepresentation when pleadings contained no allegation putting
lawyer on notice of misrepresentation charge; “[t]he
proof supports this finding, but the pleadings do not”).
The complaint against respondent did not allege 10
of the rule violations that the commission ultimately
found. And, the commission did not, at any point of
the proceedings, amend its complaint pursuant to its
rules, although that possibility was raised and discussed. We conclude that respondent had insufficient
notice as to the 10 unalleged rule violations, and we
therefore do not consider them. Cf. In re Skagen, 342
Or 183, 215, 149 P3d 1171 (2006) (lawyer discipline;
explaining that no due process violation occurred,
based on a failure to provide notice of charges, because the Bar had filed an amended complaint incorporating updated allegations); In re J. Kelly Farris,
229 Or 209, 214-15, 367 P2d 387 (1961) (lawyer discipline; explaining that a Bar procedural rule, which
had provided the lawyer with reasonable time to defend against any amendment to the complaint that
the panel permitted, “provide[d] for all the essential
ingredients of due process” that were at issue).18
18

The commission argues that respondent had notice of
some of the unalleged charges because its counsel noted in
her hearing memorandum that some particular additional
rules might be in play. A general reference to unalleged
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C.

Counts 1 and 2—Motion to Dismiss “Revived”
Counts Previously “Dismissed”
Respondent next argues that we should dismiss
Counts 1 and 2—the earlier soccer-related allegations— because the commission impermissibly “revived” those counts in its formal complaint. As previously described, in early 2013, after evaluating initiating complaints from Deuker (a soccer referee) and
Allen (a longtime soccer official) about respondent’s
conduct at two soccer games in fall 2012, as well as
respondent’s January 2013 letter that responded to
those complaints, the commission had determined
that respon-dent’s version of the events “[rang] more
true.” It therefore notified respondent in February
2013 that the “complaint”—that is, Deuker’s and
Allen’s initiating complaints—“should be dismissed.”
About 18 months later, however, the commission began investigating respondent’s self-report about BAS,
and, in early 2015, it reinvestigated the soccer-related
incidents. The commission’s investigator interviewed
Deuker, Allen, and others, and the commission later
notified respondent of its intent to file charges. It then
included Counts 1 and 2 in its formal complaint, filed
in June 2015. Count 1 alleged that respondent had
engaged in misconduct during the first game, by stating his intention to report Deuker while producing a
business card that identified him as a circuit court
judge. Count 2 alleged that respondent had falsely
stated in his January 2013 letter responding to the
commis-sion’s inquiry that, after the second game, he
had been physically accosted by an unknown person,
presumably, Allen.
rule violations in a hearing memorandum is insufficient
notice.
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In challenging Counts 1 and 2 on procedural
grounds, respondent emphasizes the wording of the
commis-sion’s February 2013 initial dispositional letter to him, to the effect that the 2012 “complaint”
“should be dismissed.” In his view, the commission’s
rules do not permit “reconsideration” of an earlier dismissal of an initiating complaint; neither do they permit the commission to “reviv[e]” [*926] such a complaint. It follows, he argues, that the commission was
precluded from charging Counts 1 and 2. The commission disagrees. It asserted below that the earlier dismissal had not been “with prejudice,” and it argues in
this court that its rules permitted a reinvestigation of
the soccer-related incidents once it later determined,
as part of the investigation into other alleged misconduct, that respondent had not been forthcoming about
the BAS gun-handling incidents. Stated differently,
the commission argues that it received and developed
new information—its own assessment that respondent
was not always truthful—that warranted a reinvestigation of the soccer-related complaints. As explained
below, we conclude that the commission’s rules precluded it from charging Count 1, but permitted charging Count 2.19
CJFDRP 7 sets out a comprehensive structure for
the commission’s investigation and disposition of an
initiating complaint about a judge. See also ORS
1.415(3) (commission shall adopt rules of procedure
governing judicial fitness proceedings). That rule first
provides that, once the commission receives informa19

Other than a claim preclusion argument that we
briefly address below, the parties’ contentions—and, accordingly, our analysis—are confined to the scope of the
commission’s authority to act under its rules.
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tion indicating that a judge may have engaged in misconduct, it must make whatever investigation it
deems necessary, “to determine whether formal proceedings should be instituted and a hearing held.”
CJFDRP 7.a.; see also ORS 1.420(1) (upon complaint
about judicial misconduct and after such investigation
that commission considers necessary, commission may
take series of alternative actions).20 That is, at the
investigation phase, a “formal proceeding[ ]” has not
yet been instituted. See CJFDRP 8 (setting out process for “formal proceedings,” initiated by commission’s filing of formal complaint against judge). Also,
as explained earlier, the scope of the commission’s
authority to investigate extends to information about
purported judicial misconduct that comes to its attention through its own members or staff. Sawyer, 286 Or
at 375; see also CJFDRP 7.a. (commission may initiate an investigation “on its own motion”).
As part of its investigation, the commission may
20

ORS 1.420 provides, in part:

“(1) Upon complaint from any person concerning the conduct of a judge or upon request of the Supreme Court, and
after such investigation as the Commission on Judicial
Fitness and Disability considers necessary, the commission may do any of the following:
“(a) The commission may hold a hearing pursuant to subsection (3) of this section to inquire into the conduct of the
judge.
“(b) The commission may request the Supreme Court to
appoint three qualified persons to act as masters, to hold a
hearing pursuant to subsection (3) of this section and
maintain a record on the matter referred to them and to
report to the commission on the conduct of the judge.
“(c) The commission may allow the judge to execute a
consent to censure, suspension or removal.”
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send an inquiry to the judge requesting information
about the allegations. CJFDRP 7.b. The purpose of
such an inquiry is for the commission “to develop basic information regarding the [initiating] complaint *
* * to assist [it] in evaluating the merits of [that] complaint.” Id. The commission also may compel the production of any documents as may be required for its
investigation. CJFDRP 7.a.
CJFDRP 7 then sets out three potential dispositions at the close of the investigation phase. First, the
commission may determine that the judge’s conduct
departed from ethical standards, but was not sufficiently serious to warrant a hearing. In that event,
the commission may make the judge aware of the objectionable conduct and then “shall dismiss the complaint.” CJFDRP 7.c. Second, the commission may
determine that the judge’s conduct departed from ethical standards sufficiently to warrant a sanction. In
that event, the commission “shall notify the judge of
the investigation, the nature of the charges, and the
Commission’s intent to issue a formal complaint.”
CJFDRP 7.d. The judge, in turn, “shall be afforded
reasonable opportunity to make a statement in writing explaining, refuting or admitting the alleged misconduct.” Id. After notifying the judge pursuant to
that rule, and after considering the judge’s response,
[*927] the commission then may initiate formal proceedings. CJFDRP 8.a. Third, “[a]t any stage in the
proceedings,” if the commission’s investigation discloses “that there is not sufficient cause to warrant
further proceedings,” then “the case shall be dismissed”; if the judge had been notified of the pendency
of the complaint, then the judge “shall be provided
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notice of the dismissal.” CJFDRP 7.e.21
21

CJFDRP 7 provides, in part:

“INVESTIGATION AND DISPOSITION
“a. Preliminary Investigation
“The Commission, upon receiving information indicating
that a judge’s behavior may come within the purview of
Section 8, Article VII (amended) of the Constitution of the
State of Oregon, shall make such investigation as it deems
necessary to determine whether formal proceedings should
be instituted and a hearing held. The Commission may
make such investigation on its own motion. * * *
“b. Inquiry of Judge
“The Commission’s investigation may include a written
inquiry directed to the subject judge requesting information on the allegations contained in the complaint. The
purpose of the inquiry shall be to develop basic information regarding the complaint in order to assist the Commission in evaluating the merits of the complaint. * * *
“c.
Informal Disposition
“If the investigation reveals a departure by the judge from
the Code of Judicial Conduct which is not sufficiently serious to warrant a public hearing under Rule 8, the Commission may, by conference or communication, make the judge
aware of the objectionable conduct and shall dismiss the
complaint. ***
“d. Formal Disposition: Notice
“If the investigation reveals a departure by the judge from
the Code of Judicial Conduct which may warrant censure,
suspension or removal, the Commission shall notify the
judge of the investigation, the nature of the charges, and
the Commission’s intent to issue a formal complaint under
Rule 8. * * * The judge shall be afforded reasonable opportunity to make a statement in writing explaining, refuting
or admitting the alleged misconduct ***. ***
“e.

Dismissal
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In this case, the commission’s 2013 activity in response to Deuker’s and Allen’s initiating complaints
about respondent’s conduct at the 2012 soccer games
followed CJFDRP 7.a., b., and e.—that is, the commission undertook an investigation to determine whether
formal proceedings should be held; it requested information from respondent; and then, after considering
his response, it determined that there was not “sufficient cause to warrant further proceedings,” CJFDRP
7.e., and it therefore “dismissed” the “case,” Id., and
provided notice to respondent of that dismissal. However, as part of its later investigation relating to
respon-dent’s self-report about BAS, the commission
decided to reinvestigate Deuker’s and Allen’s previously dismissed initiating complaints, because its investigation into the BAS-related incidents prompted it
to disbelieve respondent’s January 2013 letter responding to those earlier complaints. That is, after
already having decided that it must dismiss the soccer-related initiating complaints under CJFDRP 7.e.,
and after having done so, the commission in effect
returned to a “preliminary investigation” phase under
CJFDRP 7.a. Respondent contends that the commission’s rules did not permit that course of action.
As a general matter, we agree with respondent’s
premise that, once the commission investigates
information about judicial misconduct and determines
that it must follow one of the dispositional pathways
set out in CJFDRP 7.c., d., or e., it may not reinvesti“At any stage in the proceedings, if the investigation discloses that there is not sufficient cause to warrant further
proceedings, the case shall be dismissed. If the judge has
been notified of the pendency of the complaint, the judge
shall be provided notice of the dismissal.”
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gate that same information under CJFDRP 7.a. and
reach a different dispositional outcome. In reviewing
CJFDRP 7 as a whole, we first observe that each
dispositional pathway establishes a mandatory course
of action for the commission to take at the conclusion
of its investigation. See CJFDRP 7.c., d., and e. (each
providing that commission “must” or “shall” take designated course of action, if preliminary criteria met).
Second, the criteria for each dispositional pathway are
mutually exclusive—that is, the commission’s evaluation of its investigation can lead to only one of the
three alternative outcomes. Compare CJFDRP 7.c.
(commission must dismiss if investigation reveals
misconduct that departs from Code of Judicial Conduct but is not sufficiently serious to warrant public
hearing), with 7.d. (commission must notify judge of
intent to file charge and provide judge with opportunity to respond, if investigation [*928] reveals misconduct that warrants censure, suspension, or removal), and 7.e. (commission must dismiss if investigation discloses insufficient cause to warrant further
proceedings). It follows that, when the commission
determines after an investigation that the criteria for
one of the dispositional pathways are satisfied, it necessarily also decides by implication that the criteria
for the other two pathways are not satisfied. That is,
those alternative pathways are not available outcomes following the commission’s investigation into
particular information about problematic judicial conduct.
But, this case does not precisely fit the scenario just
described. It is true that, in 2013, the commission initially investigated Deuker’s and Allen’s complaints,
sent an inquiry to respondent, and dismissed under
CJFDRP 7.a., b., and e. And, it is true that, in 2014,
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the commission reinvestigated the same information
set out in Deuker’s and Allen’s initiating complaints
and then decided to move forward with formal charges
under CJFDRP 7.d. The commission reinvestigated
the original initiating complaints, however, because it
developed what it characterizes as additional, new
information to investigate: its own unfavorable assessment of respondent’s credibility, which derived
from its separate investigation into the BAS gun-handling incidents. The question before us, then, is when
—if at all—the commission’s rules permit a reinvestigation, and grant authority to file formal charges,
based on new information about misconduct that already had been the subject of a previous investigation
that the commission had resolved by dismissal under
CJFDRP 7.e.
Nothing in the text of the commission’s rules expressly precludes a reinvestigation of that sort. In
that regard, we think it important that the key purpose of judicial fitness proceedings—including the commission’s preliminary investigation phase—is to preserve public confidence in the integrity, as well as the
impartiality, of the judiciary. Schenck, 318 Or at 438.
That purpose would be thwarted if the commission
were unable to investigate any new information that
related to earlier information that it already had investigated, but had resolved by dismissal because further proceedings had not been warranted based on the
initial information alone. For example, the commission might receive initial information about an act of
judicial misconduct that carried little credible weight,
resulting in dismissal; but, later, the commission
might receive credible information from a different
source about the same or related misconduct that
warrants a reinvestigation.
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At the same time, however, the text of the commission’s rules similarly do not expressly permit a reinvestigation, based on new information, of misconduct
previously resolved by dismissal under CJFDRP 7.e.
And, notably, the established criteria for the three
mandatory, mutually exclusive pathways set out in
CJFDRP 7.c., d., and e., suggest that the commission’s
authority is not unlimited. That is, the commission
does not appear to have unlimited authority to reinvestigate alleged misconduct that it previously resolved by dismissal, based on additional, new information of any kind.
To ensure that CJFDRP 7 operates as intended, we
conclude that the commission’s authority to reinvestigate alleged misconduct that it previously disposed of
by dismissal under CJFDRP 7.e. depends on consideration of the following factors: (1) the quality and nature of the new information; (2) the nexus between the
new information and the original information that the
commission previously investigated, which had led to
dismissal under CJFDRP 7.e.; (3) the relative seriousness of the alleged misconduct that was the subject of
that earlier dismissal; and (4) the amount of time that
has passed since that dismissal. A balancing and consideration of those factors ensures that the commission ultimately is guided by the dispositional criteria
expressly set out CJFDRP 7.c., d., and e.—that is,
whether sufficient cause warrants any further proceeding at all; or whether the apparent misconduct is
not sufficiently serious to warrant a hearing; or
whether the apparent misconduct was more serious in
nature. That approach also is informed by principles
of both fairness and finality.
We now apply that framework to Count 1 of the commission’s formal complaint. [*929] Count 1 alleged
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the same facts (and related rule violations) about respondent’s conduct at the first 2012 soccer
game—producing a business card that identified him
as a circuit court judge while complaining about the
officiating and stating an intent to file an official
complaint—that had derived from Deuker’s (and,
somewhat, Allen’s) initiating complaints. The commission previously had dismissed those complaints in
February 2013 under CJFDRP 7.e., because it
thought that respon-dent’s conflicting account of his
interaction with Deuker after the first game, set out
in his January 2013 letter, “[rang] more true.” Almost
two years later, in the latter part of 2014, the commission came to think that respondent had been untruthful in connection with the BAS gun-handling incidents, which prompted it to question the veracity of
his January 2013 letter, as well. It therefore reinvestigated the soccer-related initiating complaints under
CJFDRP 7.a. in early 2015, by interviewing Deuker,
Allen, and others, and it ultimately notified respondent under CJFDRP 7.d. of its intent to file formal
charges.
After considering the factors outlined above, we
conclude that the commission did not have authority
under its rules to reinvestigate respondent’s conduct
at the first soccer game under CJFDRP 7.a. The new
information on which the commission relied to reinvestigate the alleged misconduct at issue in Count 1
consisted solely of its own unfavorable assessment of
respondent’s credibility in connection with the BAS
gun-handling incidents. That assessment did not derive from any new information connected to the soccer-related incidents, and it did not derive from any
assessment of respondent’s credibility in relation to
those incidents. Instead, it derived from the commis-
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sion’s investigation into other, unrelated alleged misconduct that occurred more than a year later. And, it
was not bolstered by any new facts about what actually had occurred at the soccer games. Stated another
way, the commission’s “new information”—its general
sense that respondent was not truthful—was only
marginally and tenuously related to the initiating
complaints that had been the subject of the earlier
2013 investigation. Additionally, the conduct at issue— particularly when viewed in light of the other
alleged mis-conduct—was not of a significantly serious nature.22 And, the commission did not commence
its reinvestigation until almost two years after dismissing the original initiating complaints.
In sum, regarding the misconduct alleged in Count
1, the commission was bound by its earlier disposition
of dismissal under CJFDRP 7.e. We therefore dismiss
Count 1 of the complaint.23
22

As noted, the misconduct alleged in Count 1 involved
the brief interaction between respondent and Deuker,
which the commission alleged had violated Rule 2.1(A)
(preserving integrity of judiciary; promoting public confidence in judiciary), Rule 2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct
reflecting adversely on character to serve as judge), and
Rule 2.2 (prohibiting using judicial position for personal
advantage). We do not mean to suggest that an alleged
violation of any of those rules is less serious than a violation of other rules. Rather, we observe only that the factual allegations under Count 1—for example, as compared
to other factual allegations in this case that involve some
of the same rules—did not allege misconduct of a significantly serious nature.
23

The parties have disputed whether the concept of dismissal “with prejudice” applies, but we think that that
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We turn to Count 2, which we analyze differently.
Count 2 did not allege any of the same 2012 conduct
on respondent’s part that Deuker and Allen had identified in their initiating complaints (which the commission [*930] in turn had investigated and dismissed in early 2013). Instead, Count 2 alleged that,
in his January 2013 letter responding to the commission’s inquiry about Deuker’s and Allen’s initiating
complaints, respondent had made a willful false statement about having been accosted after the second soccer game by an unidentified person. Unlike the misconduct alleged in Count 1, the commission neither
had previously investigated that misconduct under
CJFDRP 7.a., nor had it reached any dispositional
determination under CJFDRP 7.c., d., or e. Count 2
argument misses the mark. A dismissal “with prejudice” or
“without prejudice” applies once a formal proceeding has
been instituted—which, in a judicial fitness proceeding, is
upon the filing of a formal complaint. See generally
CJFDRP 7.a. (investigation phase determines whether
formal proceedings should be instituted); CJFDRP 8 (governing “formal proceedings,” commenced with filing complaint); CJFDRP 17.g. (once formal proceeding instituted,
dismissal “without prejudice” is required when judge resigns or retires during pendency of prosecution, “which
means that it may be revived if the judge resumes a judgeship”); see also ORCP 54 A, B (specifying various circumstances when dismissal of an “action” is “with prejudice” or
“without prejudice”); ORS 18.082(3) (entering general
judgment has effect of dismissing with prejudice claims for
relief set out in complaint or petition, unless court notes
dismissing without prejudice). In this circumstance, where
no formal proceeding had yet been instituted, the commission’s mutually exclusive dispositional options are governed by CJFDRP 7.
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thus does not involve any question about whether the
commission permissibly relied on new information to
reinvestigate an earlier initiating complaint of misconduct that it previously had dismissed.
It is true that, when it evaluated respondent’s letter in early 2013, including his statement about having been accosted, the commission apparently found
that letter and statement to be credible. It therefore
took no action about respondent’s statement at that
time—such as commencing an investigation into the
veracity of the statement or engaging in further inquiry with respondent, under CJFDRP 7.a. and b.
Rather, it commenced its investigation of respondent’s
statement later, in early 2015, once it developed an
unfavorable assessment of respondent’s credibility in
the course of its more expansive investigation into
other purported misconduct. And then, once it investigated the statement under CJFDRP 7.a., it determined that respondent had engaged in misconduct
that may warrant a sanction—willfully making a
false statement—and so it formally notified him of its
intent to file formal charges, CJFDRP 7.d., and it
later included Count 2 in its complaint. Nothing in
the commission’s rules precluded it from proceeding in
that way; to the contrary, the steps that the commission took in relation to Count 2 were entirely consistent with its rules.24
24

Respondent argues that the doctrine of claim preclusion prohibited the commission from bringing Count 2. We
disagree that that doctrine—even assuming that it applied
when formal proceedings had not yet been initiated— prevented the commission from alleging Count 2. As
explained, the commission’s 2013 dismissal under
CJFDRP 7.e. pertained to the initiating complaints about
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In sum, we agree with respondent that the commission’s rules did not authorize it to charge Count 1, and
we dismiss that count. We disagree as to Count 2, and
we address that count on the merits further below.
D.

Procedural Due Process Challenges
Respondent raises several procedural due process
challenges that, in his view, require dismissal of either the entire complaint or, at the least, Counts 3
through 6 (the BAS-related counts). Respondent specifically challenges an appellate court rule that governs the order of briefing in this court; various commission rules that purportedly did not ensure his
right to due process; and certain actions that the commission took during the hearing. We have considered
those challenges, but we conclude that they are without merit and that further discussion would not benefit the bench, bar, or the public.25 See [*931] generally
respondent’s conduct toward the soccer officials, not the
alleged misstatement in his response letter. Claim preclusion does not apply in that circumstance. See Drews v. EBI
Companies, 310 Or 134, 140, 795 P2d 531 (1990) (plaintiff
who prosecuted one action against a defendant through to
a final judgment was precluded from prosecuting another
action against the same defendant, when, among other
conditions, “the claim in the second action is one which is
based on the same factual transaction that was at issue” in
the first action (internal quotation marks omitted; emphasis added)).
25

ORAP 11.27(2)(b) requires the commission to commence a judicial fitness proceeding in this court by filing
its recommendation, together with a record of its proceedings below. The judge then files an opening brief, and the
commission files an answering brief. Respondent asserts
that that rule unconstitutionally required him to bear the
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Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 US 471, 481, 92 S Ct 2593,
33 L Ed 2d 484 (1972) (within the constitutional requirement of notice and opportunity to be heard, “due
process is flexible and calls for such procedural
protections as the particular situation demands”); In
re Devers, 328 Or 230, 233, 974 P2d 191 (1999) (lawburden of proof in this proceeding, in which no final adjudication has yet occurred.
CJFDRP 7.a. governs the commission’s preliminary investigation and authorizes it to “make such investigation as it
deems necessary to determine whether formal proceedings
should be instituted and a hearing held.” Respondent asserts that, in this case, the commission’s broad-ranging
authority under that rule impermissibly led it to hire an
inexperienced investigator and it then based its entire case
on the faulty investigation.
CJFDRP 11.c. provides that, upon written request of the
commission’s counsel or the judge, the commission may
order that material witness testimony be taken by deposition and, if the witness is unwilling to appear, may issue a
subpoena. Respondent argues that he was unable to depose a key witness, BAS, and also unable to obtain certain
discovery, amounting to an unconstitutional denial of his
opportunity to be heard.
CJFDRP 13.e. provides that, at the hearing, the judge
shall have the right and reasonable opportunity to defend
against the charges by introducing evidence and examining and cross-examining witnesses. Respondent challenges
the commission’s exclusion of certain impeachment evidence regarding BAS; again notes his own inability to depose BAS pretrial; and also notes a ruling that precluded
him from further cross-examining various witnesses following commissioner questions. He asserts that those rulings and circumstances violated his right to be meaningfully heard, to examine witnesses, and to have a fair trial.
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yer discipline; essential elements of due process are
notice and opportunity to be heard, and to “defend in
an orderly proceeding adapted to the nature of the
case before a tribunal having jurisdiction” (internal
quotation marks omitted)); Currin, 311 Or at 533 (judicial fitness; adequate notice is necessary component
of due process).
We now proceed to consider whether, under the
standards set out at the outset of this opinion, 362 Or
at 550-53, the evidence clearly and convincingly established the alleged misconduct violations that are
before us.
IV. ANALYSIS OF ALLEGED MISCONDUCT
A.

False Statement in Response to Commission’s
Inquiry About Soccer-Related Conduct (Count 2)

1. Summary of alleged misconduct
We first summarize the relevant facts underlying
Count 2. Allen, a longtime referee, attended a playoff
soccer game (“second game”), involving the
Chemeketa team on which respondent’s son played,
after referee Deuker had expressed to another official
a concern about an interaction with respondent at the
end of an earlier game (“first game”). After the second
game ended, Allen saw respondent cross the field and
begin to approach the officials, and Allen put his
hands up and yelled at respondent to leave. He sent a
letter to the commission a week later, stating that he
had “intercepted” respondent and told him to leave.
In response to the commission’s resulting inquiry,
respondent sent a detailed letter to the commission
that recounted the events differently. He reported
that, as he approached the officials after the second
game and began to thank them, he was
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“grabbed by my shoulders from behind
without warning, whirled around, nearly
picked [up] off my feet and forcefully
thrown forwards. I nearly went down on my
hands and knees, but was able to right myself.”
Respondent next stated that the man involved in that
altercation, who generally matched Allen’s description, then yelled something about respondent having
no authority to be near the officials. He further stated
that fans and players around him “were as shocked as
I was and several came to see if I was OK.” He also
stated that he briefly had spoken to a Chemeketa representative who was present, who referred to the
other man as a “self proclaimed official.”
Count 2 alleged that respondent’s first statement
quoted above—about being grabbed and almost
thrown down—was false and, instead, that no physical contact had occurred between respondent and an
official after the second game. That count then alleged
that respondent had violated the willful rule violation
provision of Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(e), set
out above, 362 Or at 550, as well as Rules 2.1(C) and
(D) of the Code of Judicial Conduct, which provide:
“Rule 2.1 Promoting Confidence in the Judiciary “* * * * *
“(C) A judge shall not engage in conduct that
reflects adversely on the judge’s character, competence, temperament, or fitness to serve as a
judge.
[*932] “(D) A judge shall not engage in conduct
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.”
At the hearing, the commission heard testimony
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from Allen, respondent, and other witnesses that included the Chemeketa athletics director, an assistant
referee, and respondent’s son.26 All the witnesses testified that, as the second game ended, a brief fight
had broken out between some players, which caused
some confusion on the field. Allen testified that he
and respondent had remained about 15 yards away
from each other and had no physical contact, and he
had not seen anybody else have any physical contact
with respondent. The athletics director and the assistant referee testified to the same effect as Allen: Although their attention had been somewhat diverted
because of the fight, both had seen respondent
stopped at some distance by the man who had yelled
at him and gestured for him to stop, respondent then
turned away, and no physical interaction had occurred. The assistant referee identified Allen, whom
he knew, as the man who had stopped respondent.
The athletics director did not know Allen, but she
thought that the man involved had attended the game
at another officials’ request, in light of Deuker’s earlier complaint about respondent’s conduct at the first
game. Respondent’s son testified that he had not seen
the interaction, but stated that respondent had told
him immediately afterward, as they were leaving the
game, that someone had grabbed his shoulders from
behind, pushed or shoved him enough to cause him to
lose his balance, and yelled at him. For his part, re26

The Chemeketa coach also testified at the hearing in
respondent’s behalf, but his testimony about respondent
was limited to respondent’s interaction with Deuker at the
first game. In response to a commissioner’s question, the
coach stated that he had not seen respondent at the end of
the second game.
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spondent testified at his deposition—in testimony
that the commission’s counsel introduced as evidence
at the hearing—consistently with the version of
events set out in his letter, and he referred to his letter at times when offering that testimony.
In evaluating the evidence, the commission expressly found Allen to be a “very credible” witness,
who presented as “very straightforward, honest and
genuine” in his demeanor. By contrast, it found respondent’s testimony to be inconsistent with “virtually
every other witness” and therefore not credible. The
commission ultimately determined that respondent
had violated the rules and constitutional provision as
alleged.
For the reasons explained below, we conclude that
the commission proved Count 2 by clear and convincing evidence.
2. Analysis
As with other allegations at issue in this case, key
facts are in dispute because respondent’s version of
the events differs from those of other witnesses. Our
evaluation of the evidence thus turns on two factors:
witness credibility and, otherwise, whether the commission’s evidence clearly and convincingly shows
that respondent engaged in the alleged misconduct.
See In re Fitzhenry, 343 Or 86, 103-04, 162 P3d 260
(2007) (lawyer discipline; discussing consideration of
credibility assessments coupled with de novo record
review); In re Martin, 328 Or 177, 189, 970 P2d 638
(1998) (same); In re Trukositz, 312 Or 621, 629, 825
P2d 1369 (1992) (same; also noting that, “where * * *
the testimony of the witnesses is so divergent, a resolution as to who is telling the truth is usually best left
to an assessment of credibility”).
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In assessing witness credibility, this court “may
avail itself of the assistance provided by the work performed by the [c]ommission.” Jordan I, 290 Or at 307.
And, when the commission makes express credibility
findings based on the witness’s demeanor and manner
of testifying, we give weight to those findings. See
Fitzhenry, 343 Or at 103 (lawyer discipline; so stating); see also Jordan I, 290 Or at 307 (factfinder that
heard the witnesses testify is better qualified to determine disputed factual questions than the court, which
“read[s] the cold, printed record” (internal quotation
marks omitted); while not conclusive, factfinder’s determination entitled to respect). Then, as to this
[*933] court’s review of the record, we “assess credibility based on objective factors, such as the inherent
probability or improbability of testimony, whether
testimony is internally consistent or inconsistent,
whether the testimony is corroborated or contradicted,
and so on.” Fitzhenry, 343 Or at 104; see also Schenck,
318 Or at 420-21 (when objective factors are in play,
court on de novo review is as well-equipped as commission to make credibility determinations).
In this case, after hearing Allen’s testimony, the
commission made an express, favorable finding about
his credibility, based on its observations of his demeanor and manner of testifying. We give weight to
that finding.
We further conclude that additional evidence supported Allen’s version of events, rather than respondent’s. Most notably, the two other hearing witnesses
who saw the interaction between Allen and respondent described having seen a person (whom one of
them knew to be Allen) put up his hands—while at a
distance from respondent—and tell or gesture to respondent to leave, and respondent then turned away
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and walked toward the team. Both those witnesses
had been on alert to watch for spectators approaching
the officials’ area, in light of Deuker’s earlier report,
and neither saw any physical interaction or altercation between respondent and Allen or anyone else.27
Also, respondent wrote in his letter to the commission
that several nearby fans and players had been
shocked by the physical interaction and checked on
his well-being afterwards, and that he had spoken to
a Chemeketa representative about it at the time. But,
at the hearing, no eyewitness corroborated respondent’s account.28
In this court, respondent emphasizes the postgame
confusion on the field and reiterates that he did not
know Allen, suggesting that he may have been accosted by someone who was not Allen. That is, Allen
and the eyewitnesses all could have been correct that
Allen did not physically interact with respondent, but
somebody did, and the witnesses simply did not see it.
The evidence, however, contradicts that theory. Notably, both respondent’s January 2013 letter to the com27

The attention of those witnesses had been somewhat
diverted, because of the confusion on the field. Nonetheless, one of them, the assistant referee, had seen respondent start to cross the field toward the officials, which initially drew his attention; the other, the athletics director,
had had her attention diverted only in the moments before
the interaction between Allen and respondent. Both witnesses had seen Allen with his hands up, while at a distance from respondent, to stop respondent from proceeding
further across the field toward the officials, and then had
seen respondent turn away and leave the area.
28

As noted, respondent’s son testified in support of respondent’s account, but he had not witnessed it.
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mission and his deposition testimony described a single interaction, between respondent and some “self
proclaimed official” whom he did not know, occurring
in the following way: Respondent walked toward the
officials and was grabbed from behind as he did so
and almost thrown down, and someone then immediately yelled at him to stay away from the officials. In
his letter, he wrote that the person who had accosted
him also had yelled at him; in his deposition, he testified that, after stumbling from the contact, he saw a
person with his hands up yelling at him to leave the
area, and that may have been the same person who
had accosted him. The two eyewitnesses—the assistant referee and the athletics director—also described
a single event involving respondent and Allen, a longtime official, including Allen putting his own hands
up in a “stop” position, but without engaging in any
contact with respondent. The assistant referee in particular had seen respondent start to cross the field to
approach the officials and Allen put up his hands; he
then watched respondent stop short of Allen and leave
the area. Neither he nor the athletics director, whose
attention had been drawn when Allen yelled at respondent but otherwise testified to the same effect,
saw any physical interaction between respondent and
Allen or anyone else. And, as noted, no independent
evidence supported respon-dent’s account, notwithstanding his statement in his letter that others immediately nearby had been shocked by the altercation
and that he had spoken to a Chemeketa representative about it at the time.
[*934] In sum, on de novo review, Allen’s recounting of his interaction with respondent is highly probable, while respondent’s is not. We conclude that the
commission established by clear and convincing evi-

62a

dence that respondent made a false statement in his
responding letter, when he asserted that he had been
accosted after the second game.
That determination, in turn, demonstrates that
respondent violated Rule 2.1(D), which prohibits a
judge from “engag[ing] in conduct involving dishonesty, * * * deceit, or misrepresentation.” See also Jordan I, 290 Or at 313-15 (court concluded, after reviewing evidence de novo and considering commission’s
credibility findings, that judge gave false statement
under oath). In making that false statement, respondent also violated Rule 2.1(C), because making a false
statement to the commission in response to a judicial
conduct inquiry amounted to “conduct that reflects
adversely on the judge’s character * * * to serve as a
judge.” Rule 2.1(C); see also Jordan I, 290 Or at 315
(after determining that judge gave false statement
under oath, court stated that “a judge cannot effectively perform his judicial duties when his integrity
has been directly impugned, as in this case”).29 That is
particularly true where, as here, respon-dent’s false
statement involved an accusation that another person
had accosted him.

29

Respondent does not raise any issue about the extent
to which Rule 2.1(C) implicitly may impose a materiality
requirement; he also does not argue that this alleged misrepresentation, or those alleged in another count (Count
5), if proved, were not material. We do not address
whether Rule 2.1(C) imposes a materiality requirement.
But, in any event, we conclude that respondent’s misstatement was material. See generally In re Herman, 357 Or
273, 287, 348 P3d 1125 (2015) (lawyer discipline; misrepresentation is material if it would or could significantly influence the recipient’s decision-making process).
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Finally, we agree with the commission that those
rule violations were willful under Article VII
(Amended), section 8(1)(e). The evidence supports a
reasonable inference that respondent intentionally
made a false statement in his letter to the commission: He was given time to draft the letter, and he set
out in the letter a detailed factual account that is at
odds with other clear and convincing evidence in the
record. And, respondent was aware of the circumstances that made the rules applicable: He was responding to a formal inquiry from the commission
charged with investigating allegations of judicial misconduct, and the Code of Judicial Conduct required
him to respond in a forthright manner. See generally
Rule 3.12(A) (judge shall cooperate and be candid
with disciplinary authority).
In sum, clear and convincing evidence supports the
alleged violations of Rule 2.1(C), Rule 2.1(D), and Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(e), under Count 2.
B.

Relationship with VTC Participant BAS;
Gun-Handling Incidents; Related Court Inquiry
and Commission Investigation (Counts 3 through
6)
We first set out a brief factual and procedural summary relating to Counts 3 through 6 of the complaint,
to provide context for the discussion that follows. We
then discuss and evaluate the evidence in greater detail. As explained, we conclude that the commission
proved all the allegations in Counts 3 and 4, and most
of the allegations in Counts 5 and 6, by clear and convincing evidence.
1. Summary of alleged misconduct
Counts 3 through 6 arose in connection with respondent’s relationship with the VTC probationer, BAS.
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BAS was accepted onto the Veteran’s Treatment
Docket in June 2013 after pleading guilty to felony
DUII, and a condition of his probation was that he not
possess firearms. Respondent acknowledged that condition, in his capacity as the VTC judge, on at least
two occasions in fall 2013. During the holiday season
and into January 2014, respondent had several
out-of-court contacts with BAS, and he and BAS also
texted back and forth multiple times. BAS also described two incidents in which respondent had been
present and expressly had permitted BAS to handle a
gun; according to BAS, during the second incident,
respondent also had told BAS that he could make
adjustments to BAS’s probationary condition that
prohibited handling firearms. Respondent [*935]
countered that, although the two were together on the
occasions that BAS described, he had been either completely unaware that BAS had handled a gun or only
inadvertently had become aware of that fact.
Later in August 2014, during a meeting with Judge
Rhoades and Judge Penn, respondent denied having
given BAS permission to handle a gun during the second incident; he also stated that he had not realized
at the time that BAS was a felon. After that meeting,
respondent self-reported to the commission, and the
commission’s investigator later interviewed respondent. Respondent told the investigator in late 2014
that, during the second gun-handling incident, there
had been no discussion about whether BAS should
touch the gun.
The commission filed four counts in connection with
the conduct summarized above, all of which alleged
violations of Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b)
and (e) (willful misconduct bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial duties;
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willful violation of judicial conduct rule). As to the
Code of Judicial Conduct, in relation to the
gun-handling incidents, Counts 3 and 4 also charged
identical violations of the following rules:
“Rule 2.1 Promoting Confidence in the Judiciary
“(A) A judge shall observe high standards of
conduct so that the integrity, impartiality and
independence of the judiciary and access to justice are preserved and shall act at all times in a
manner that promotes public confidence in the
judiciary and the judicial system.
“* * * * *
“(C) A judge shall not engage in conduct that
reflects adversely on the judge’s character, competence, temperament, or fitness to serve as a
judge.”
Additionally, Count 5 alleged that respondent had
engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, or
misrepresentation in violation of Rule 2.1(D), when he
stated to Judge Rhoades and Judge Penn that he did
not know BAS was a felon, and when he denied to the
commission during its inquiry that he had “waived”
BAS’s firearms prohibition. And, Count 6 alleged that,
in singling BAS out for attention and improperly imposing himself on BAS, and in placing BAS in the position of being subject to his attentions while being
aware of his own control over BAS’s probationary status, respondent had violated Rule 2.1(A) (preserving
integrity of judiciary; promoting public confidence in
judiciary); Rule 2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct reflecting
adversely on judge’s character to serve as judge); and
Rule 3.7(B) (judge must be “patient, dignified, and
courteous to litigants”). The commission determined
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that respondent had violated all those rules and constitutional provisions as alleged.
2. Additional procedural facts
The procedural facts described below concern an
issue that arose in connection with BAS’s appearance
as a witness and related events thereafter, which respondent argues should be considered in assessing
BAS’s credibility.
BAS did not live in Oregon in the months before
the commission hearing or during the hearing. Before
the hearing, respondent’s counsel asked the commission’s counsel a number of times about arranging to
depose BAS, but he did not receive any definitive response. The commission’s counsel, in turn, expected
BAS to appear in person at the hearing, but learned
the day before that he would not travel to Oregon and
instead needed to appear remotely. At the hearing the
next day, upon learning that BAS would not appear in
person, respondent’s counsel asked for the opportunity
to depose him before he testified, but the commission
denied that request. But, before BAS testified, the
commission directed its counsel to email certain exhibits to him, to aid respondent’s counsel’s cross-examination. BAS then testified by telephone; however,
he stated that he had not received the emailed exhibits, and respondent’s counsel cross-examined him
without those exhibits. Although the exhibits were
not available for BAS’s cross-examination, the commission did admit them into evidence. They included
court documents relating to BAS’s felony DUII conviction, plea, probationary conditions, custodial status,
and Veterans Treatment Docket acceptance; and also
several video clips of VTC courtroom [*936] sessions
in which BAS had appeared either in person or by
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telephone, usually before respondent, but sometimes
before another judge.
After the commission filed its opinion with this
court, respondent moved to supplement the record
with continued deposition testimony of BAS. We
granted that motion in part and ordered the parties to
complete a cross-examination of BAS so that he could
be questioned about the nontransmitted exhibits.
Representatives for respondent attempted to contact
BAS out-of-state and serve a subpoena on him, but
those attempts were unsuccessful. In the meantime,
BAS obtained counsel, who twice arranged for BAS to
voluntarily appear at an examination, but BAS did
not appear.
Respondent then moved, in this court, to strike
BAS’s testimony from the record, and he relatedly
argued that BAS “now has demonstrated numerous
times throughout this proceeding that he is not reliable and his word is not trustworthy.” We denied that
motion, but we gave respondent leave to raise issues
about witness credibility in his brief, which he has
done. We consider that argument in our analysis of
the evidence.
3. Analysis
a. Gun-handling incidents (Counts 3 and 4)
We begin our analysis of the gun-handling incidents by setting out some evidence that is undisputed.
First, the record shows that, at VTC hearings in
mid-October and early November 2013, respondent
expressly told BAS that he was not allowed to possess
or handle firearms. On the first occasion, as part of
approving the opportunity for BAS to present a
law-enforcement training, respondent stated to BAS,
drawing courtroom laughter, “No guns. You don’t get
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any guns.” On the second occasion, in response to a
jokingly asked question from BAS about whether he
could touch a gun now, respondent emphatically answered, “No,” again to courtroom laughter.
It also is undisputed that, a week after the second
gun-handling incident, BAS told respondent’s clerk
that respondent and his son had brought a gun to his
home, and she in turn told the VTC coordinator, Lambert. Lambert spoke to BAS that same day, and he
told her about both incidents, as well other interactions with respondent. After they spoke, Lambert immediately documented their conversation, and her
notes are in the record.
We turn to the other evidence. As noted, the first
gun-handling incident (Count 3) occurred in mid-November 2013, at the home of respondent’s son-in-law,
Mansell. BAS had been hired to do some preparation
work for a lacquer application on a large expanse of
cabinetry that respondent and Mansell had built. The
cabinetry contained three concealed drawers, which
Mansell often challenged visitors to find. BAS testified that respondent had showed him a corner cabinet,
told him that it contained a secret compartment with
a gun, and asked if he could find it. BAS continued
that he did find the gun and asked respondent if he
could handle it, and respondent gave him permission
by answering, “yes, go ahead.”30 BAS then checked the
30

BAS initially testified that “[h]e” showed BAS the
cabinet and issued the challenge to find the compartment
with the gun, without identifying whether “he” referred to
respondent or Mansell. As noted, though, BAS went on to
testify that he asked respondent for permission to handle
the gun, and respondent said “yes, go ahead.” Given that
context, we understand BAS’s use of “he,” to identify the
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gun and put it back. That testimony was consistent
with BAS’s earlier recounting of the incident, in midJanuary 2014, to Lambert; he also had told Lambert
that respondent had acknowledged his skill in finding
the gun.31
[*937] For his part, respondent testified that he
remembered Mansell and BAS working on a different
side of the room from him, and that Mansell had said
something to BAS about finding the hidden compartperson who challenged him to find the compartment with
the gun, as referring to respondent.
31

BAS’s earlier account to Lambert was hearsay, unless
an exception applied. See OEC 801 (defining hearsay). Several witnesses offered testimony at the commission hearing that qualified as hearsay under OEC 801 and thus,
under the Oregon Evidence Code, would be inadmissible in
a court proceeding unless otherwise provided by law. OEC
802.
The Code does not apply in commission proceedings,
however; instead, a commission rule of evidence, CJFDRP
13.d., applies. That rule provides, in part:
“Irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious evidence
shall be excluded. All other evidence of a type commonly
relied upon by reasonably prudent persons in the conduct
of their serious affairs shall be admissible.”
At the hearing, respondent’s counsel asked about hearsay evidence, and the chair responded that hearsay evidence was admissible, with the commission assigning it
appropriate weight. Respondent does not challenge the
admission of any evidence on that basis in this court.
We give weight to hearsay evidence in the record that is
supported by other indicia of reliability—for example, as
with BAS’s recounting to Lambert, a recitation of events
reasonably close-in-time to when those events occurred,
which was documented immediately thereafter.
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ment. As he worked on the other side of the room, not
paying attention, he heard Mansell make a comment
that, he learned later, concerned an unloaded gun
that BAS had found in the compartment.32
Mansell’s testimony was consistent with respondent’s —that is, that Mansell (not respondent) had
challenged BAS to find any one of three hidden drawers and that BAS had searched for several minutes
and found one that contained an unloaded gun.
Mansell further testified that BAS had not touched
the gun; instead, Mansell had made a comment to
BAS about the gun, and then they closed the drawer.
Mansell denied that respondent had seen the gun and
stated, in response to questions from the commissioners, that respondent had been perhaps as much as 25
feet away when BAS found it.
The second incident (Count 4) occurred about seven
weeks later, in early January 2014, when respondent
and his son went to BAS’s home to check his broken
pellet stove. Unbeknownst to respondent, his son had
brought a gun to show to BAS. BAS testified that,
when respondent’s son brought the gun inside, in its
case, respondent was sitting about five feet away, eating his lunch. BAS watched respondent’s son handle
the gun and then asked respondent if he could demonstrate some safety features and safe handling techniques. Respondent said “no problem” and told BAS
that, as the judge who had signed his probation order,
he could make “adjustments” to his probation as he
saw fit. BAS and respondent’s son then handled the
gun for 30 seconds to a minute. BAS also testified
that, before respondent and his son left, BAS told re32

BAS was not asked at the hearing whether or not the
gun was loaded.
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spondent that he and respondent’s son had plans to
target-shoot later; respondent replied that he had no
problem with BAS teaching a loved one how to shoot
or handle their gun safely; and, later that day, BAS
and respondent’s son used the gun to target-shoot on
BAS’s property. That testimony was consistent with
BAS’s earlier, more immediate account to Lambert, in
mid-January 2014. BAS also testified at the hearing
that, while at his home, respondent had looked at the
broken stove, but had not worked on it.
Respondent was the only other testifying witness
who also had been present during the second
gun-handling incident. At the hearing, the commission’s counsel introduced testimony from respondent’s
earlier deposition. In that testimony, he described
having been working on the stove, with “[his] hands in
the pellets and the soot,” when he “may have heard”
BAS telling his son something that prompted him to
think that BAS was showing his son some sort of tactical maneuver. He then looked over and saw BAS
with the gun, showing the maneuver to his son. Respondent further testified that he did not recall saying
anything in response to seeing BAS with the gun and
also did not think at that time about BAS’s status as a
felon; rather, his concern was trying to repair the broken stove. In his hearing testimony, respondent denied that BAS had asked his permission to handle the
gun, denied having told BAS that he would waive
BAS’s firearms prohibition, and denied having known
at the time about any plan for BAS and his son to go
target-shooting.33
33

Respondent’s son did not testify at the hearing, but he
signed a declaration under penalty of perjury, dated about
a year after the incident and several months before the
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[*938] About a week after the second incident, BAS
told respondent’s clerk that respondent and his son
had brought a gun to his home. She told Lambert,
who then immediately spoke to BAS about that incident; Lambert also learned during her conversation
with BAS about the first incident. Lambert then
spoke to respondent. At the hearing, respondent
stated that his conversation with Lambert was the
first time that it had occurred to him that BAS was in
felon status and that handling a gun could have negative implications for him, and that it had greatly concerned him. Soon thereafter, he told the VTC deputy
district attorney, BAS’s lawyer, and BAS’s probation
officer that his son had shown BAS a gun.
Several months after that, in August 2014, BAS
and Lambert spoke again about BAS’s frustrations
with respondent, and Lambert then told Judge
Rhoades about the gun-handling incidents and other
issues involving BAS and respondent. Judge Rhoades
spoke to BAS, which in turn prompted the meeting
between Judge Rhoades, Judge Penn, and respondent,
although respondent did not know the topic in advance and so was caught off-guard. Judge Penn described the meeting as Judge Rhoades beginning a
line of questioning and respondent providing initial
answers, which respondent then clarified or modified
after Judge Rhoades provided follow-up information.
commission filed its complaint. His declaration stated
that, while respondent had been in another part of the
room with the stove, BAS had showed the son a maneuver
with the gun, which had not been loaded, and given it back
to him. The declaration further stated that respondent had
“simply observed the interaction” between his son and
BAS.
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For example, respondent initially did not recall the
second gun-handling incident at all; then, after Judge
Rhoades provided some specific circumstances, he
said, “oh yes, I do recall that.” Neither Judge Rhoades
nor Judge Penn thought that respondent was forthcoming. Respondent self-reported to the commission
shortly after that meeting.
We must weigh the conflicting testimony about the
gun-handling incidents to determine whether the
commission proved by clear and convincing evidence
that the facts occurred as BAS described, which in
turn provides the basis for the alleged constitutional
and rule violations set out in Counts 3 and 4. As with
Count 2, we must consider witness credibility. See 362
Or at 587-88 (discussing topic); see also Trukositz, 312
Or at 629 (lawyer discipline; assessment of credibility
is critical to resolving who is telling the truth, when
testimony is notably divergent). We also consider objective factors, “such as the inherent probability or
improbability of testimony, whether testimony is internally consistent or inconsistent, [and] whether the
testimony is corroborated or contradicted.” Fitzhenry,
343 Or at 104.
In its opinion, in explaining its assessment of conflicting evidence on the BAS-related counts (Counts 3
through 6), the commission expressly found BAS to be
credible. It first referred to several factors that did not
relate to BAS’s demeanor while testifying:
“BAS has no motive to lie. He received no benefit from testifying. In fact, some of his testimony was against his interest. BAS did not
initiate a complaint against [respondent] with
the Commission and clearly did not want to
participate in these proceedings. Although
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BAS’s concerns about repercussions for participating were evident, his testimony was consistent with his numerous prior interviews, the
notes of which are in evidence.”
Next, it referred to factors relating to BAS’s demeanor
and manner of testifying:
“[A]lthough he appeared by telephone, his demeanor was genuine, sincere, [and] heartfelt,
and he displayed authentic emotion at appropriate times.”
As to Count 3, the commission also specifically
found that BAS was “the most credible source” of information.34
[*939] As did the commission, we give significant
weight to BAS’s testimony. First, we give weight to
the commission’s finding that, based on BAS’s demeanor and manner of testifying, he presented genuinely and sincerely. See Schenck, 318 Or at 420 (even
on de novo review, court gives significant weight to
factfinder’s determination of witness credibility, when
based on perception of witness’s demeanor and particularly when factfinder stated basis for its conclu34

The commission, by contrast, found that respondent
had been “disingenuous” about several discrete subjects
involving the BAS-related counts, but those findings appear to have been based on the commission believing other
witnesses’ accounts instead of respondent’s, not on any
observation of respondent’s demeanor or manner of testifying in relation to Counts 3 through 6.
The commission also found that Mansell’s testimony
about Count 3 was inconsistent with an earlier, sworn declaration that Mansell had submitted on respondent’s behalf. After reviewing Mansell’s testimony and that declaration, we do not view them as inconsistent.
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sions). We acknowledge, as respondent posits, that the
ability to visually observe a testifying witness can
provide a fact-finder with greater insight than a
nonobservational setting, such as appearance by telephone. See generally State ex rel Anderson v. Miller,
320 Or 316, 323, 882 P2d 1109 (1994) (so noting, in
context of issuing peremptory writ directing that deposition be videotaped).35 But, the commission was
able to evaluate BAS’s manner of expression as it listened to his testimony and separately questioned him.
Other evidence in the record also supports his credibility, relating to his genuineness and sincerity in expression. For example, in video recordings of 14 of
BAS’s VTC appearances that are in the record, he presented as an earnest and forthright communicator,
regardless of whether the circumstances were favorable to him or whether he appeared in person or by
telephone. Also, the VTC deputy district attorney testified that he had observed BAS, in the context of his
VTC appearances over the course of many months, to
be credible and that the VTC team had found him to
be very credible.
Another factor supporting BAS’s credibility, as the
commission observed, is that his testimony about handling the guns was against his interest. By telling respondent’s clerk and then Lambert a week after the
35

See also ORS 45.400(3) (court may allow the use of
telephonic testimony on good cause shown, unless outweighed by prejudice to the nonmoving party; factors in
assessing prejudice include whether the ability to evaluate
witness credibility and demeanor is critical to the outcome,
and whether face-to-face cross-examination is necessary
because the subject of the testimony may be determinative
of the outcome).
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second incident that he had handled a gun, BAS
self-reported what appears to have been a violation of
his own probation condition. We also think it significant that, after BAS described the gun-handling incidents to Lambert shortly after the second incident,
she documented his account immediately, and that
account was the same as described in his testimony.
And, the record reveals that it is unlikely that BAS
would have gone target-shooting with respondent’s
son without thinking that he had respondent’s permission to do so.
Finally, at the time of the gun-handling incidents
and up through the time when he spoke to Judge
Rhoades, BAS was a probationer in respondent’s court
who was actively working to successfully complete his
probation. Pressing an inaccurate, unfavorable account about his probationary judge’s involvement in
the gun-handling incidents would have been counterproductive to those efforts and could have placed
BAS’s probationer status at risk. Cf. Jordan II, 295
Or at 156 (lawyer discipline; lack of motive to give
incorrect testimony is factor to consider when evaluating witness credibility).36
36

Respondent argues that BAS had a motivation to
lie—for example, to protect himself against felon-in-possession charges. Respondent also points to evidence in the
record—deriving from a hearsay statement that BAS purportedly made to his assigned taxi driver—suggesting that
BAS might have possessed his own gun while he was a
probationer in the VTC.
The timing of BAS’s possible possession of his own gun,
in relation to whether he was still in felon status or had
been reduced to misdemeanor status, is unclear. In any
event, we disagree that BAS had a motive to lie about respondent’s involvement in the two gun-handling incidents.
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Although we agree with the commission that BAS’s
testimony is entitled to significant weight, we acknowledge some countervailing considerations. For
example, around the time of the incidents, BAS was
undergoing treatment for PTSD and TBI, which the
record shows are conditions that can affect [*940]
thought processing.37 Also, because BAS did not appear for the continued cross-examination that this
court ordered, respondent was unable to fully
cross-examine him, and BAS in turn demonstrated an
unwillingness to be questioned any further.38
As explained above, very shortly after the second incident,
BAS provided information to court personnel about his
own handling of guns while in respondent’s presence—which placed his own legal status at risk—in the
context of expressing his genuine frustrations about
respon-dent’s out-of-court contacts with him.
37

Relatedly, between the time of the first incident and
BAS’s recounting of that incident to Lambert several
weeks later, BAS received out-of-state treatment for his
TBI. That significant intervening activity could have affected his recollection about the first incident.
38

Although respondent never made an offer of proof
regarding his intended cross-examination, the exhibits
were admitted as evidence at the hearing. We infer from
the exhibits that respondent intended to cross-examine
BAS about the following facts, which the exhibits establish
by clear and convincing evidence: the nature of BAS’s conviction and probationary terms (which were standard
terms); the fact that VTC hearings can be informal and
involve humor, regardless of who is the judge; and the fact
that respondent and BAS had repeated positive interactions during BAS’s VTC hearings.
In reviewing BAS’s testimony as a whole, as well as the
nontransmitted exhibits, other exhibits, and testimony
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An additional consideration applies to the first incident (Count 3): Another witness, Mansell, provided
testimony that supported respondent’s account.
Relatedly, BAS’s testimony about that incident was
brief, whereas Mansell’s conflicting testimony was
more detailed. Although that disparity aligns with the
nature of the respective questioning of those witnesses, Mansell’s more detailed account arguably suggests a more precise recollection of the events.39
If the only evidence supporting Count 3 were the
conflicting testimony of BAS and Mansell, then we
would have some difficulty concluding that the commission had proved the underlying facts on that count
by clear and convincing evidence—stated differently,
that BAS’s version of the events was “highly probable.” See Bishop, 297 Or at 485 (lawyer discipline;
when conflicting testimony is at issue, court must be
“convinced that it is highly probable” that the testimony supporting the allegations is accurate); Jordan
II, 295 Or at 159 (lawyer discipline; where one witness had no motive to lie, but other witness’s testifrom other witnesses, we conclude that no new information
would have been elicited from the nontransmitted exhibits,
on continued cross-examination, that would have
adversely affected our assessment of BAS’s credibility in
any significant way.
39

On direct examination, BAS was asked four questions
about the first gun-handling incident; he was not asked
about that incident on cross-examination or by the commissioners. Respondent’s testimony was similarly brief. By
contrast, Mansell provided a detailed description of the
cabinetry and the size of the room, the location of each person in the room, and the order of events, and he answered
a number of questions from the commissioners.
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mony had better corroboration, court was unable to
determine whose testimony to believe; Bar therefore
did not prove misconduct by clear and convincing evidence). That calculation is altered, however, when we
also consider respondent’s testimony, including on
Count 4, and assess his credibility as a witness.
Respondent’s testimony on Count 3 differed from
BAS’s in a few respects: it had been Mansell, not respondent, who had challenged BAS to find the hidden
drawer that contained the gun, and respondent denied
having given BAS permission to handle the gun. Respondent’s testimony on Count 4, though, provided
even more detail that contrasted with BAS’s testimony— notably, that respondent had been actively
working on the stove at the time, that his attention
had been drawn to BAS showing his son a tactical
maneuver, that he had said nothing at all to BAS
about the gun, and that there had been no discussion
about any target-shooting.40 The number of opposing
details surrounding the second incident suggests that
either BAS or respondent was not being truthful
about [*941] that incident, as opposed to merely recalling it differently.
40

Respondent previously had provided a similar, but
less detailed, description of that incident to the commission’s investigator. Then, according to the investigator’s
report, he had not said that his attention had been drawn
by discussion about the tactical maneuver; instead, he
more simply stated that BAS had briefly shown his son a
SEAL maneuver, while respondent had been “in another
part of the room working with the stove and simply observed the interaction.” Respondent was given the opportunity to review and provide revisions to the investigator’s
report, and his approved version was admitted into evidence.
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As to respondent’s credibility, in connection with
these proceedings, we already have determined that
he provided certain information to the commission
that has been refuted by other evidence. Specifically,
concerning Count 2, respondent provided a detailed
account of the events at a soccer game—notably including a description of having been physically accosted—which he reiterated at his deposition, in testimony introduced at the hearing. But, three eyewitnesses persuasively contradicted that account at the
hearing. Respondent’s course of continuing deceptive
conduct undermines the credibility of his testimony
about both the gun-handling incidents, notwithstanding Mansell’s supportive testimony on Count 3 or
other evidence in the record that, as a general matter,
respondent has a reputation for honesty in the community.
Respondent’s evasive actions during his meeting
with Judge Rhoades and Judge Penn also do not reflect well on his credibility. We acknowledge that respondent was caught off-guard in that meeting. Nonetheless, Judge Penn described respondent as clarifying or modifying his answers throughout the meeting,
depending on the information that Judge Rhoades
presented to him. Most significantly, respondent initially denied recalling the second gun-handling incident at all; but then, he acknowledged remembering it
after Judge Rhoades provided him with some specific
information. However, that second incident would not
have been an incidental, forgettable event to respondent: He acknowledged in his own testimony that,
within a week after it had occurred, he had spoken to
Lambert about it; immediately became greatly concerned about potential negative implications for BAS;
and then reported it to three members of the VTC
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team, including the deputy district attorney. Those
facts counter his later assertion, during the initial
part of his meeting with Judge Rhoades and Judge
Penn, that he did not recall the incident. And, his otherwise evasive conduct during that meeting compounds his credibility problem.
Other facts refute another of respondent’s assertions: that he did not think about BAS’s felon status
and related firearms prohibition until Lambert raised
that issue with him after the second gun-handling
incident. Most notably, only a week before the first
gun-handling incident, respondent and BAS had jokingly interacted during an open VTC hearing about
BAS’s firearms prohibition. That interaction showed
that, at that time, it was obvious to both of them that
the prohibition applied. They had a similar interaction at a court proceeding a month earlier, which demonstrates an ongoing mutual understanding that a
firearms prohibition applied to BAS.41 In light of those
interactions, it is apparent that respondent knew during both the gun-handling incidents that BAS was
subject to a firearms prohibition. His contention to the
contrary further undermines his credibility.
In sum, we find BAS to be a credible witness and
give significant weight to his testimony on Counts 3
and 4, for the reasons described. By contrast, the record does not reflect well on respondent’s credibility.
He previously provided false information to the commission in response to an official inquiry; his conduct
41

When respondent and BAS joked about the firearms
prohibition on those occasions, both of them, as well as
others present in the courtroom, reacted with laughter.
That context shows that BAS’s firearms prohibition was a
well-known fact.
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during his presiding judge’s inquiry about these incidents was evasive; and his protestations about not
having an awareness at the critical time about BAS’s
felon status—and, thus, the applicable firearms prohibition—are contradicted by established facts in the
record. We thus conclude that BAS’s description of
both gun-handling incidents was highly probable and
that the commission therefore has proved by clear and
convincing evidence the underlying facts alleged in its
complaint on Counts 3 and 4. We now turn to the judicial conduct rules identified in those counts, as well as
the applicable constitutional provisions.
Counts 3 and 4 alleged identical violations of Rule
2.1(A), which requires a judge to “observe high standards of conduct so that the integrity * * * of the judiciary * * * [is] [*942] preserved”; it further requires a
judge to “act at all times in a manner that promotes
public confidence in the judiciary.” Those counts also
alleged identical violations of Rule 2.1(C), which provides that a judge “shall not engage in conduct that
reflects adversely on the judge’s character * * * to
serve as a judge.” Preserving the integrity of and promoting public confidence in the judiciary assures the
public “that certain types of conduct are improper and
will not be tolerated.” Schenck, 318 Or at 438. Likewise, ensuring against conduct that reflects adversely
on a judge’s character assures litigants and the public
that judges perform their judicial duties in an effective and honorable manner, and that they—like those
who appear before them—are subject to applicable
legal and other requirements. By affirmatively permitting a VTC participant in his court to handle a gun
on two occasions, notwithstanding an applicable firearms prohibition, and in offering assurance that he,
as the judge, could adjust that probationary condition,
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respondent violated those rules as alleged. His conduct demonstrated to BAS that ordinarily applicable
rules may not apply to a judge—and, by extension at
the judge’s discretion, to a probationer in the judge’s
court. That conduct undermines, rather than promotes, confidence in the judiciary.
Also in taking those actions, respondent acted willfully under Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b) and
(e) (prohibiting willful misconduct bearing a demonstrable relationship to the effective performance of
judicial duties and willful violation of a judicial conduct rule). His conduct in permitting BAS to handle
the guns was not inadvertent; rather, it was direct
and, as demonstrated by his statements to BAS during the incidents, intentional. And, respondent was
aware of circumstances that made Rules 2.1(A) and
(C) applicable: During the gun-handling incidents,
while interacting with an active probationer in his
court, he affirmatively permitted that probationer to
engage in conduct that his probationary terms prohibited. Because respondent acted willfully, his violations
of Rules 2.1(A) and (C) were “wilful.” Or Const, Art
VII (Amended), § 8(1)(e). Those same actions also, as
alleged, amounted to willful misconduct that “bears a
demonstrable relationship to the effective performance of judicial duties.” Id. at § 8(1)(b).
b. Misstatements during presiding judge meeting and investigator interview (Count 5)
Count 5 alleged two misstatements on respondent’s
part, relating to inquiries about the second
gun-handling incident: First, his August 2014 statement to Judge Rhoades and Judge Penn that he had
not known that BAS was a felon at the time of that
incident; and, second, a responsive statement made to
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the commission, framed by the parties as a December
2014 purported statement to the commission’s investigator, to the effect that he “denied” that he had told
BAS that he “waived” the statutory provision against
felons possessing firearms.42 Based on those alleged
misstatements, Count 5 alleged a single violation of
Rule 2.1(D) (prohibiting conduct involving dishonesty,
deceit, or misrepresentation), as well as Article VII
(Amended), sections 8(1)(b) and (e) (willful misconduct
bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial duties; willful violation of judicial
conduct rule). In its opinion, the commission determined that respondent had made both misstatements
and had violated the rule and section 8(1)(e) as alleged, but it made no recommendation as to section
8(1)(b).43
We begin with respondent’s alleged misstatement
to Judge Rhoades and Judge Penn. Judge Penn testified at the hearing that, during the August 2014
meeting, respondent had stated that he did not know
[*943] that BAS was a felon at the time of the second
gun-handling incident, and Judge Penn did not think
that that answer sounded truthful. Respondent countered in his testimony that, in making that statement,
42

Count 5 also alleged that respondent denied in a responsive statement during the inquiry that his son had
brought a gun to BAS’s house. The commission’s opinion
does not mention that allegation, likely because the report
prepared by its investigator notes respondent’s acknowledgment that he had become aware, near the end of the
incident, that his son had brought the gun.
43

Because the commission makes no recommendation
about Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(b), under Count
5, we similarly do not discuss that rule.
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he had intended to convey that he had not realized
during the incident—or had in his mind at that
time—that BAS was a felon. Instead, he was focusing
on BAS’s broken stove and ensuring that BAS had a
working heat source. He also emphasized at the hearing that he had been surprised by the questions being
asked of him during the meeting and had been caught
off-guard by the confrontational tone.
If we had accepted respondent’s description of the
gun-handling incidents—that is, that he had not been
aware of the first incident and only inadvertently had
become aware of the second incident as it was concluding—then we similarly might accept respondent’s
assertion that he did not have BAS’s felon status in
mind at the time of the second incident. But, we have
determined that BAS’s description of the incidents—not respondent’s—is highly probable. BAS’s
description, in turn, supports a finding that
respon-dent’s statement to Judge Rhoades and Judge
Penn about his awareness about BAS’s felon status at
the relevant time (and thus, the firearms prohibition)
was not true. Most significantly, BAS testified that
respondent had acknowledged his firearms prohibition during the second incident at BAS’s home, but
had told BAS that he could make “adjustments.”
Moreover, twice during VTC hearings that preceded
both gun-handling incidents, respondent and BAS had
publicly joked about BAS’s firearms prohibition. The
second of those occasions occurred shortly before the
first gun-handling incident (at Mansell’s home). Those
repeated, joking references, occurring close in time to
the first incident, showed that the firearms prohibition based on BAS’s felon status was readily apparent
to both respondent and BAS. Additionally, Judge
Penn persuasively testified that respondent’s state-
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ment during the meeting about BAS’s felon status
(and thus resulting firearms prohibition) did not seem
truthful.
Having determined that respondent made a false
statement about his lack of awareness concerning
BAS’s felon status during his meeting with Judge
Rhoades and Judge Penn, we agree with the commission that he violated Rule 2.1(D), which prohibits a
judge from “engag[ing] in conduct involving dishonesty, * * * deceit, or misrepresentation.”44 We further
agree that that violation was willful under Article VII
(Amended), section 8(1)(e). Respondent made that
misstatement notwithstanding having told BAS that
he did not have a problem with BAS showing his son
how to safely handle a gun and that he could make
adjustments to BAS’s probation conditions. And, he
made that misstatement in the context of an inquiry
from his presiding judge about whether any of his
conduct—regarding his interactions with a VTC probationer—should be reported to the commission. That
context supports the conclusion that respondent’s misstatement was intentional and that he was aware of
the circumstances that made Rule 2.1(D) applicable.
See Jordan I, 290 Or at 332 (by giving false testimony
under oath—professing a lack of recollection about a
certain event—judge engaged in willful misconduct in
judicial office). In sum, clear and convincing evidence
supports the alleged violations of Rule 2.1(D) and Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(e), set out in Count
44

Respondent’s statement was also material, in that it
could have significantly influenced Judge Rhoades’s decision-making process, about whether to report respondent’s
conduct to the commission. See 362 Or at 590 n 29 (discussing materiality).
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5.
We do not agree, however, that the record shows by
clear and convincing evidence that respondent made a
second misstatement during his interview with the
com-mission’s investigator—specifically, that he
falsely denied having told BAS during the second
gun-handling incident that he “waived” BAS’s firearms prohibition. The investigator testified only very
briefly about that part of her interview with respondent, and she mentioned nothing about any purported
waiver. Similarly, a memorializing report that she
wrote at the time of the interview summarized respondent as simply having said that “[t]here was no
discussion” during the second [*944] gun-handling
incident about whether BAS should touch the gun.
The report did not state whether the investigator ever
asked respondent about “waiv[ing]” the prohibition or
what he may have told her in response. That factual
allegation therefore does not factor into our conclusion
that respondent violated Rule 2.1(D) and Article VII
(Amended), section 8(1)(e), as alleged in Count 5.
c. Respondent’s relationship with BAS (Count 6)
Count 6 concerned respondent’s treatment of, and
attention toward, BAS, particularly the multiple
out-of-court contacts beginning in fall 2013 and continuing into early January 2014. That count alleged:
“[Respondent] singled BAS out for attention
and improperly imposed himself onto BAS. [Respondent’s] conduct put BAS in the position of
being subject to [respondent’s] attentions, while
being aware of [respondent’s] control over his
probation status.”
Based on that conduct, the complaint next alleged
violations of Rule 2.1(A) (preserving integrity of judi-
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ciary; promoting public confidence in judiciary), Rule
2.1(C) (prohibiting conduct reflecting adversely on
character to serve as judge), and Rule 3.7(B) (judge
must be patient, dignified, and courteous to litigants),
as well as Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b) and
(e) (willful misconduct bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial duties; willful
violation of judicial conduct rule). The commission
determined that respondent violated those rules and
constitutional provisions.
The following facts relating to Count 6 have been
proved by clear and convincing evidence. In September 2013, respondent asked permission to interview
BAS for an article about the VTC that respondent was
writing. BAS felt that he could not decline because he
worried that declining might harm his case, and he
did not want to get on respon-dent’s “bad side,” although he did not tell respondent that.
Then, over November and December 2013, and into
January, respondent had several out-of-court contacts
with BAS. In mid-November, respondent took BAS to
a small, brief wedding ceremony that respondent had
agreed to officiate, and he introduced BAS as a Navy
SEAL and used his call sign. Although BAS’s interactions with others at the wedding were polite and
friendly, respondent’s actions made BAS feel as if he
were “on display” or an “exhibition piece.” He did not
share his discomfort with respondent. Later that
month, respondent invited BAS to join his family for
Thanksgiving dinner, but BAS declined because he
was ill. Respondent’s son took some of the food to
BAS, and BAS texted his thanks to respondent. BAS
and respondent had other text exchanges in that same
time period.
In early December, respondent attended a VTC con-
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ference with Judge Prall, where they met friends of
BAS’s, including a famous Navy SEAL, and they
learned more about BAS’s military service. Respondent and Judge Prall also discussed appropriate
boundaries between treatment court judges and participants; Judge Prall shared that, other than incidental greetings, she did not have out-of-court-interaction
with participants. Respondent and BAS texted each
other during the conference and later that month,
while BAS was being treated for his TBI in Texas, and
they texted each other holiday greetings on Christmas
evening.
The day after Christmas, at respondent’s invitation, BAS attended a family brunch to celebrate respondent’s birthday. Respondent and his family tried
to engage BAS in religious, military, and political discussions, and he felt uncomfortable and “backed up
against the wall.” Over the next few weeks, respondent and BAS texted back and forth about various
topics. That continued into early January, through
the week after the second gun-handling incident. In
one of those exchanges, respondent offered to come
and look at the foundation of BAS’s home, but BAS
responded that he did not feel well, and he expressed
feelings of personal negativity. Respondent texted
back words of encouragement. Later that evening,
respondent offered to bring BAS a working heat
source the next day. BAS initially accepted, but then
texted the next day that he would not be home and so
respondent should not drive out. Respondent expressed concern that BAS was “disengaging,” [*945]
but BAS assured him that he was not.
BAS expressed frustrations about respondent’s
out-of-court contacts with him to others, including his
assigned taxi driver and respondent’s clerk—and later
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to Lambert and, ultimately, Judge Rhoades. The
driver testified that BAS acted differently outside of
court because he could “let loose” and that it “fire[d]
him up” a bit when he talked about respondent’s authority over his probation. Lambert testified that BAS
had told her, around mid-January 2014, that he felt
“very distraught” by respondent’s constant contact;
that he felt “like [respondent’s] monkey on a stick”;
that he was being subjected to religious music and
political talk; but that he thought that respondent
would “mess him up” if he did not do what respondent
wanted, including not reducing his felony sentence to
a misdemeanor. She immediately memorialized those
comments in her notes. The record also shows that
BAS had out-of-court contacts with Judge Ochoa and
other members of the treatment team, but those contacts had not concerned him; whereas, with respondent, he felt as though he were being “groomed” as an
exhibition piece for the VTC. BAS did not share his
frustrations with respondent.
For his part, respondent testified that, particularly
during the 2013 holiday season, it had not occurred to
him that he was placing BAS in a problematic position concerning his probation status, over which respondent presided. He had been focused, instead, on
ensuring that BAS was socialized and protected
against thoughts of depression and self-harm after
returning to Oregon following his TBI treatment, at
the start of the Christmas season. He therefore took
actions that he thought were in BAS’s best interests.
We accept that testimony, but we agree with the commission that respondent also experienced a personal
benefit of sorts from his relationship with BAS, which
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may have motivated some of his conduct.45
Evidence in the record shows that, through the fall
and early January, respondent and BAS had, by outward appearances, a friendly relationship. Their text
exchanges—several of which BAS initiated—were
pleasant and well-meaning, and their VTC hearing
interactions were positive and forthright. Respondent
stopped having out-of-court contact with BAS once
Lambert told him that it made BAS uncomfortable. At
a later point, their public interactions appeared to
deteriorate, beginning when BAS’s family-related circumstances deteriorated. By May 2014, BAS was in a
more negative emotional state, and he and respondent
had less than positive in-court interactions from that
point forward, until his case was reassigned. At the
commission hearing, respondent acknowledged that
his out-of-court contacts with BAS had crossed appropriate boundaries and that, looking back, he would
have relied on others to keep BAS from becoming isolated.
Turning to the rule violations alleged in Count 6,
we agree with the commission that respondent’s
out-of-court contacts with BAS violated Rule 2.1(A)
(judge must observe high standards of conduct to pre45

For example, respondent—who has a profound interest in military history and the armed forces—appears to
have taken great personal pride in having a relationship
with BAS, a former decorated Navy SEAL. Also, through
his relationship with BAS, respondent also was able to
meet other Navy SEALs, including one who was famous.
By contrast, the record also shows that—other than once
driving a participant home after a church service—respondent did not engage in out-of-court contacts with other
VTC participants.
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serve the integrity and impartiality of, and promote
public confidence in, the judiciary), and Rule 2.1(C)
(prohibiting conduct reflecting adversely on character
to serve as judge). By singling BAS out for special and
personalized treatment, respon-dent’s conduct suggested to other VTC participants that a judge permissibly may develop a relationship with one probationer
but not others and, in light of that relationship, treat
that probationer partially as compared to others. And,
although respondent’s out-of-court contacts with BAS
were generally well-meaning, they undermined public
confidence in the judiciary and reflected adversely on
his character as a judge, because they placed BAS in
the position of thinking that the successful completion
of his probation depended on engaging in favorable
out-of-court contact with respondent.46 [*946] In sum,
respondent’s conduct toward BAS—extending to his
out-of-court contacts with BAS and his personal fascination with BAS’s military experience, which, in turn,
showed a personal benefit that respondent derived
from the relationship—demonstrated a failure to exercise good judgment in recognizing appropriate judicial
boundaries between a judge and a probationer in the
46

Respondent rejects the characterization that he “singled BAS out”—rather, he contends, the entire VTC team
was understandably impressed with BAS’s service and
acted as a group to address his unique needs. We acknowledge that BAS had unique needs and that the VTC team
sought to address them. But the record nonetheless shows
that respondent engaged in out-of-court contacts with BAS
(and not other participants) that placed BAS in a position
of having to decide whether to respond favorably to respondent’s invitations—such as inviting BAS to his home, driving out to BAS’s home, taking BAS to a wedding, and engaging in multiple text exchanges with BAS.
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judge’s court.
We disagree with the commission, however, that
respondent’s out-of-court contacts with BAS violated
Rule 3.7(B), which requires that a judge be “patient,
dignified, and courteous to litigants” and other court
participants— such as jurors, witnesses, lawyers,
court staff, and others with whom the judge deals in
an official capacity. Rule 3.7 as a whole governs courtroom decorum and judicial demeanor when acting in a
judge’s official capacity, as well as communications
with jurors.47 See generally Rule 3.7, Notes on
Sources, printed in Oregon Rules of Court v I – State
516 (2017) (Rule 3.7(A) is identical to ABA Model
Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.8(A)); ABA Model
Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.8 Comment [1] (Feb
47

Rule 3.7 provides:

“Rule 3.7 Decorum, Demeanor, and Communication
with Jurors
“(A) A judge shall require order and decorum in
proceedings before the court.
“(B) A judge shall be patient, dignified, and courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers, court
staff, court officials, and others with whom the
judge deals in an official capacity, and shall require
similar conduct of lawyers, court staff, court officials, and others subject to the judge’s direction and
control.
“(C) A judge shall not praise or criticize jurors for
their verdict other than in a ruling in a proceeding,
but a judge may thank and commend jurors for
their service. A judge who is not otherwise prohibited by law from doing so may meet with jurors who
choose to remain after trial but should be careful
not to discuss the merits of the case.”
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2007) (duty to act with patience and courtesy connected to conducting court’s business); see also
Gustafson, 305 Or at 666-67 (discussing alleged violations of canon requiring judge to be patient and dignified toward litigants during court proceedings). The
allegations in Count 6 did not pertain to respondent’s
conduct in presiding over the VTC or toward BAS in
the context of any VTC hearings or his case before the
court, and we therefore conclude that no violation of
Rule 3.7(A) occurred.
We next must determine whether, in violating
Rules 2.1(A) and (C), respondent acted willfully under
Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b) and (e). As
noted earlier, in Gustafson, 305 Or at 660, this court
explained that
“a judge’s conduct is ‛wilful’ within the meaning
of Article VII (Amended), section 8, if the judge
intends to cause a result or take an action contrary to the applicable rule and if he [or she] is
aware of circumstances that in fact make the
rule applicable, whether or not the judge knows
that he [or she] violates the rule.”
In that case, which had involved a less-experienced
judge, the court concluded that some of the judge’s
misconduct was willful and some was not. As an example of the latter, the judge had told a criminal defendant that his retained lawyer was not serving him
well and then discharged the lawyer for failing to attend a hearing. This court determined that the judge
had engaged in misconduct, implicating canons that
required the judge to respect and comply with the law,
to be patient with litigants and lawyers, and to ensure
a defendant’s right to be heard. But the court determined that the judge had acted without “the subjec-
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tive culpability required for ‛wilful’ misconduct” because he had “suffered from a misconception” about
his authority to discharge the lawyer. Id. at 664. The
court similarly determined that the judge had not engaged in willful [*947] misconduct when he had
abused his discretion in a different case in denying a
motion for continuance. The court explained that, although the judge had disregarded clearly legitimate
reasons for granting the motion, the record did not
show by clear and convincing evidence “that he realized this or did so with an impermissible motive.” Id.
at 667-68. The court cited several other instances
where the judge had taken case-related actions that
either were without legal basis or were unreasonable
and inconsiderate, but concluded that the record did
not show that he had acted with any conscious awareness in that regard. Id. at 668-69. By contrast, the
court found willful misconduct when the judge had
interfered with an existing lawyer-client relationship
and prevented more than one defendant from exercising the right to be heard through counsel, when he
repeatedly had discharged a public defender due to
his personal animus toward her. Id. at 665-66.
In Schenck, which also involved a less-experienced
judge, the court again concluded that some of the
judge’s misconduct was willful and some was not. In
one instance, the judge had taken actions that he
thought were consistent with resolving a disqualification motion. The court explained that, even assuming
that the judge should have recused himself for actual
bias, “there is not clear and convincing evidence of the
other necessary predicate, viz., that [he] intended to
cause a result or take an action contrary to the applicable rule of judicial conduct.” 318 Or at 413-14. In
another instance, the court concluded that the judge
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had violated the canon prohibiting ex parte communications when he wrote to a justice of this court concerning a mandamus matter in which a writ had issued but the reconsideration period was still pending.
The court concluded that the violation had not been
willful because no clear and convincing evidence
showed that the judge had been aware of circumstances that made the ex parte rule apply—rather, the
judge had viewed the case as having concluded after
the writ issued. Id. at 424.
By contrast, this court cited a different instance in
Schenck where the judge had acted willfully. The
judge had continued a case assignment even though
the applicable canon required disqualification; this
court reasoned in that circumstance that his denial of
a motion to disqualify was sufficient to establish a
willful violation. The court further explained:
“Although the Judge argues that he acted in
good faith, his asserted good faith in coming to
the wrong conclusion [on a related timeliness
issue] is not relevant to the determination
whether [he] made an intentional decision that
violated the canon.”
Id. at 416; see also id. at 418-19 (providing additional
example of willful misconduct).
Gustafson and Schenck—which, as with this case,
both involved less-experienced judges—provide a useful backdrop for our evaluation of the evidence. Those
cases show that a judge may engage in an intentional
action that has the effect of violating a judicial conduct rule, but still may not amount to willful misconduct. Rather, to establish willful misconduct, the record must show by clear and convincing evidence that
the judge intended to take the action that was con-
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trary to the alleged rule violation and that the judge
was aware of circumstances that made the rule applicable. Gustafson, 305 Or at 660; Schenck, 318 Or at
405.
We turn to the evidence about respondent’s out-ofcourt contacts with BAS in fall 2013 through early
January 2014. Those contacts certainly were intentional, as opposed to inadvertent. But, the central allegation in Count 6 is that, in engaging in those contacts, respondent “improperly imposed himself onto
BAS” and “put BAS in the position of being subject to
[respondent’s] attentions, while being aware of [respondent’s] control over his probation status.” We must
focus on that allegation, in determining whether respondent acted willfully.
We conclude that, before December 2013,
respon-dent’s conduct in engaging in out-of-court contacts with BAS was not willful, within the meaning of
Article VII (Amended), sections 8(b) and (e), and in
the context of the allegations set out in Count 6.
Those [*948] contacts had the reasonable effect of
causing BAS to think that he should or must reciprocally engage with respondent, and they also reasonably could have conveyed to other VTC participants
that respondent treated BAS in a partial manner.
However, the record does not show by clear and convincing evidence that, before December, respondent
had a conscious awareness about those dynamics. See
Gustafson, 305 Or at 659 (stating, in assessing a
[*616] judge’s departure from prescribed norms of conduct, that “[i]t is not enough that a judge was negligent, that he ‛should have known better’ ”). Rather,
the record shows that respon-dent’s intent in that
timeframe was to ensure that BAS had the necessary
support to successfully complete his probation and
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that he did not engage in self-harm.
In early December however, respondent and Judge
Prall had a conversation about the boundaries between a treatment court judge and court participants,
such as in the VTC. Judge Prall told respondent that,
aside from an incidental out-of-court greeting, she did
not have out-of-court interaction with any treatment
court participant. At that point, respondent became
aware of circumstances making Rules 2.1(A) and (C)
applicable to his relationship with a VTC participant
such as BAS. But, respondent’s contacts with BAS
continued; indeed, they increased and intensified over
the next several weeks— both in the number of text
exchanges and personal out-of-court contacts (such as
the birthday brunch at respondent’s home, respondent’s early January visit to BAS’s home, and respondent’s subsequent plans to again visit him there).
And, although the gun-handling incidents were not
alleged as part of Count 6, respondent’s conduct toward BAS during the second incident is illustrative of
his willful actions toward BAS—as the commission alleged, that he improperly imposed himself on BAS
and placed BAS in a position of being subject to his
attentions, while being aware of his own control over
BAS’s probation status. For all those reasons, we conclude that the commission has proved by clear and
convincing evidence that, beginning in December, respondent acted willfully, as set out in Article VII
(Amended), section 8(1)(e), when he violated Rules
2.1(A) and (C). Moreover, that same conduct toward
BAS—a probationer in the VTC over which respondent presided—amounted to willful misconduct in a
judicial office that bore a demonstrable relationship to
respondent’s effective performance of his duties as the
VTC judge, in violation of Article VII (Amended), sec-
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tion 8 (1)(b).
C.

Funding for “Heroes and Heritage Hall” (Count
9)
Count 9 concerned respondent’s creation of a
“Heroes and Heritage Hall” artwork and memorabilia
gallery at the courthouse. Among other things, the
complaint alleged that, in collecting funds to professionally prepare and frame artwork from lawyers—including some who appeared before him in
court—with donation checks delivered to him at the
courthouse, respondent violated Rule 2.1(A) (preserving integrity of judiciary; promoting public confidence
in judiciary) and Article VII (Amended), sections
8(1)(b) and (e) (willful misconduct bearing demonstrable relationship to effective performance of judicial
duties; willful violation of judicial conduct rule). In its
opinion, the commission determined that respondent
had “sought and received money from attorneys,” “solicit [ed] [their] financial support,” and collected funds
from them. That conduct, the commission continued,
violated Rule 2.1(A) and the alleged constitutional
provisions.48 As explained below, we conclude that the
48

The complaint alleged other misconduct relating to
the Hall, violating both Rule 2.1(A) and also Rule 2.1(C)
(prohibiting conduct reflecting adversely on character to
serve as judge). The commission, however, did not recommend any rule violations based on those additional allegations, so we do not address them.
In relation to purportedly soliciting funds, the commission also determined that respondent violated Rule 4.5(A),
which prohibits a judge from personally soliciting funds for
an organization or entity. But the complaint did not allege
that violation, and we do not consider it for that reason.
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commission did not prove Count 9 by clear and convincing evidence.
The record shows that, as the Hall artwork display
expanded, various local lawyers—some of whom appeared before respondent—inquired [*949] about it.
Respondent spoke with some of them about sponsoring memorabilia pieces for particular well-known local
lawyers and judges who were veterans. Each lawyer
who had agreed to sponsor all or part of a memorabilia piece made payment by check paid to the order of
a nonprofit foundation that had partnered with the
VTC and then dropped off or mailed the check to
respon-dent’s chambers, or mailed it to the foundation’s address. At the hearing, respondent denied directly soliciting funds from lawyers, and none of the
lawyers who testified about making contributions
stated that he had solicited funds from them. To the
contrary, each lawyer testified that the lawyer had
volunteered to sponsor certain memorabilia artwork
and then had a conversation with respondent about
the cost of framing and related arrangements.
Respondent’s conduct in securing funds for certain
artwork in the Hall from local lawyers, including having payments delivered to his chambers, had the potential of reflecting adversely on the judiciary in several respects. For example, it could have created a
public perception of partiality toward lawyers who
contributed or, conversely, created a perception that a
noncontributing lawyer would not be treated favorably. The exchange of funds in the courthouse between respondent and lawyers who appeared before
him, or payments for the nonprofit foundation otherwise sent directly by those lawyers to respondent,
similarly could be perceived as undermining—rather
than promoting—the public’s confidence in judiciary.
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A better practice would have been for the foundation
or some other organization, rather than respondent
himself, to coordinate receipt of donations for a project
such as the Hall.
We disagree with the commission, however, that
respondent’s conduct violated Rule 2.1(A), which requires a judge to observe high standards of conduct so
that the integrity of the judiciary is preserved and
also to act in a manner that promotes public confidence in the judiciary. The record shows that some
lawyers inquired about sponsoring certain artwork,
and respondent replied to those inquiries, sometimes
served as a delivery point for payment to the foundation, and then arranged for the preparation and framing of the artwork. He neither directly sought out donations nor conveyed any possibility of differential
treatment toward lawyers who contributed (or did not
contribute). Respondent’s conduct did not violate Rule
2.1(A); neither did it amount to willful violation of a
rule under Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(e), or
willful misconduct in office bearing a demonstrable
relationship to the effective performance of judicial
duties under Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(b).
We dismiss Count 9.
D.

Screening Process for Same-Sex Marriage Requests (Count 12)

1. Summary of alleged misconduct
Count 12 concerned respondent’s direction to his
staff to “screen” marriage requests from same-sex couples. Unlike almost all the other counts at issue, the
underlying facts are undisputed. Respondent made
himself available to solemnize marriages after becoming a judge in fall 2011. After an Oregon federal district court judge invalidated Oregon’s constitutional
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ban on same-sex marriage in May 2014, respondent’s
JA and his clerk asked him about any updated process, in light of his religious belief that marriage
should be between only opposite-sex couples. He discussed with them how to “discreet[ly]” handle
same-sex couple requests. He told them that, upon
receiving any marriage request, they should check for
any personal gender information available in
OJIN—which they had not previously done—to try to
determine whether the request involved a same-sex
couple. If so, they should tell the couple that he was
not available on the requested date or otherwise notify him, so that he could decide how to proceed. If the
request were from an opposite-sex couple, however,
then they should schedule the wedding date. Respondent’s JA checked OJIN one time and determined that
a requesting couple might be a same-sex couple, but
respondent had an actual scheduling conflict, and so
she truthfully told the couple that he was not available. Several weeks after that, respondent stopped
solemnizing all marriages. Respondent’s JA and other
witnesses otherwise testified that they never had seen
or known [*950] respondent to discriminate against,
or heard him speak in a derogatory way, about the
LGBT community.
Count 12 alleged, as a factual matter:
“[Respondent] inappropriately screened and
ordered his court staff to screen wedding applicants to ensure that they were not same-sex
applicants, because [respondent] refused to
marry same-sex partners even though they
could lawfully marry under Oregon law.”
That count went on to allege that respondent’s conduct violated Article VII (Amended), sections 8(1)(b),
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(c), and (e) (prohibiting willful misconduct bearing a
demonstrable relationship to the effective performance of judicial duties; willful or persistent failure to
perform judicial duties; and willful violation of a judicial conduct rule), as well as Rule 3.3(B), which provides:
“A judge shall not, in the performance of judicial duties, by words or conduct, manifest bias
or prejudice * * * against parties, witnesses,
lawyers, or others based on attributes including
but not limited to, sex, gender identity, race,
national origin, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, marital status, disability, age, socioeconomic status, or political affiliation and
shall not permit court staff, court officials, or
others subject to the judge’s direction and control to do so.”49
In its opinion, the commission made no recommendation as to Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(c), but
it otherwise determined that respondent’s “discriminatory practice” violated Rule 3.3(B) and the remaining alleged constitutional provisions.50 As discussed
49

Count 12 alleged only a violation of Rule 3.3(B); it did
not make any allegation about respondent’s direction to
his staff to provide inaccurate information to same-sex
couples, concerning his availability to solemnize marriages. As noted earlier, the commission nonetheless determined that that latter conduct violated Rule 2.1(D) (prohibiting conduct involving dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation), but we do not consider it, because it was not
alleged in the complaint.
50

Because the commission makes no recommendation
as to Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(c), we do not discuss that allegation.
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below, we agree that respondent’s conduct violated
Rule 3.3(B) and Article VII (Amended), sections
8(1)(b) and (e).51
2. Rule 3.3(B)
The parties, as well as amici curiae Christian Legal
Society (CLS) and Hall, and Lambda Legal Defense
and Education Fund, Inc., raise two questions about
respon-dent’s alleged misconduct, in light of the wording of Rule 3.3(B): First, whether he acted while in the
performance of his “judicial duties,” and, second,
whether his implementation of a screening process—standing alone—“manifest[ed]” prejudice
“against” anyone within the meaning of the rule. We
address each question in turn.
We have little difficulty concluding that the act of
solemnizing marriages, once a judge has chosen to do
so, qualifies as a “judicial dut[y]” under Rule 3.3(B).
Under ORS 106.120(2), a marriage in Oregon may be
solemnized by a county clerk, an authorized
clergyperson, certain religious congregations or organizations, and “[a] judicial officer.” ORS 106.120(2)(a).
ORS 106.120(1)(a) defines “judicial officer” as meaning, among other things, a “judicial officer of [*621]
this state as that term is defined in ORS 1.210.” ORS
1.210, in turn, defines a “judicial officer” as “a person
authorized to act as a judge in a court of justice.” That
statutory scheme authorizes a state court judge to
solemnize marriages.
Of course, judges are not required to solemnize
marriages. But, it is by virtue of holding judicial office
that a judge is statutorily authorized to do so. It fol51

Our determination is subject to affirmative defenses
that respondent raises, as explained later below.
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lows that, so long as a judge chooses to make himself
or herself available to solemnize marriages under
ORS 106.120(2)(a), that activity falls within the ambit
of the judge’s “judicial duties” under Rule 3.3(B). See
Webster’s Third New Int’l Dictionary 705 (unabridged
ed 2002) (defining “duty,” in part, as “obligatory tasks
* * * or functions enjoined by order or usage [*951]
according to * * * occupation[ ] or profession”).
Amici curiae CLS and Hall emphasize that the essence of the judicial function involves deciding cases
and controversies. See Koch v. City of Portland, 306
Or 444, 448, 760 P2d 252 (1988) (judicial function is
one that involves or requires an adjudicatory process).
In their view, the act of solemnizing a marriage—which serves the purpose of formally memorializing a marriage contract for the county’s records—
falls outside the scope of that function. That argument
incorrectly focuses on the general concept of judicial
“function,” rather than a judge’s judicial “dut[y].” The
former refers to constitutionally authorized responsibilities that are “judicial” in nature, as opposed to executive, legislative, or otherwise. See, e.g., DeMendoza
v. Huffman, 334 Or 425, 453-54, 51 P3d 1232 (2002)
(explaining legislature’s authority to act in a way that
does not unduly burden or substantially interfere with
judicial function); State ex rel Huddleston v. Sawyer,
324 Or 597, 615, 932 P2d 1145, cert den, 522 US 994
(1997) (act of determining appropriate range of criminal sentences is legislative, not judicial, function); see
also Couey v. Atkins, 357 Or 460, 520-21, 355 P3d 866
(2015) (explaining limits on “judicial power,” such as
court’s lack of authority to provide advice to legislature without any form of judicial process). The latter
term—which is used in Rule 3.3(B)—refers to the activities for which a judge is responsible, in his or her
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capacity as a judge. That range of responsibilities naturally includes deciding cases and controversies, but
it also encompasses other statutorily authorized activity assigned to a judge by virtue of holding judicial
office.52
Once a judge chooses to make himself or herself
available to the public to perform marriages as part of
his or her judicial duties, Rule 3.3(B) prohibits the
judge from “manifest [ing] * * * prejudice * * * against
* * * others,” based on attributes including sexual orientation, or permitting staff to do so. Respondent next
contends that, because he never actually refused to
marry any same-sex couple by virtue of his briefly
employed screening process, no prejudice or discrimination occurred toward anyone. He argues that Rule
3.3(B) does not authorize punishment for discrimination that did not occur against unknown parties.
We begin with the prohibition in Rule 3.3(B) that a
judge may not “manifest” prejudice. “Manifest” is defined, in part, as “to show plainly : make palpably evident or certain by showing or displaying.” Webster’s at
1375. That definition suggests that the act in question
must be undertaken such that it is obvious to others.
Along those same lines, a comment to the underlying
model rule suggests that “manifest [ing]” bias or prejudice means taking an action that must be capable of
52

Respondent and amici CLS and Hall also argue that,
because the act of solemnizing marriages is optional, it
cannot be considered a “dut[y].” We disagree. Although a
“duty” ordinarily may be thought of in terms of an obligation or mandated activity, if a judge undertakes to perform
an optional activity that is statutorily authorized by virtue
of holding judicial office, then that activity qualifies as a
judicial “dut[y]” under Rule 3.3(B).
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perception:
“Examples of manifestations of bias or prejudice include but are not limited to epithets;
slurs; demeaning nicknames; negative stereotyping; attempted humor based upon stereotypes; threatening, intimidating, or hostile
acts; suggestions of connections between race,
ethnicity, or nationality and crime; and irrelevant references to personal characteristics.
Even facial expressions and body language can
convey to parties and lawyers in the proceeding, jurors, the media, and others an appearance of bias or prejudice. A judge must avoid
conduct that may reasonably be perceived as
prejudiced or biased.”
ABA Model Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.3(B)
Comment [2] (Feb 2007) (emphasis added); see also
Rule 3.3, Notes on Sources, printed in Oregon Rules of
Court v I – State 516 (2017) (Rule 3.3(B) adopted from
ABA Model Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.3(B)).53 A
requirement of perceptibility [*952] by others is consistent with the purpose of the rule, which is to prevent a judge from acting in a way that impairs fairness or prompts unfavorable views of the judiciary.
See ABA Model Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.3
Comment [1] (“A judge who manifests bias or prejudice in a proceeding impairs the fairness of the pro53

Before the current Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct
was adopted in 2013, former JR 2-110(B) (2012) prohibited
a judge from acting “in a way that the judge knows, or reasonably should know, would be perceived by a reasonable
person as biased or prejudiced toward any of the litigants,
jurors, witnesses, lawyers or members of the public.” Oregon Rules of Court v I – State 533 (2012).
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ceeding and brings the judiciary into disrepute.”). To
be perceptible, the conduct may be readily visible to
others—for example, conduct displayed through spoken words or writing. But, a manifestation of bias or
prejudice also may be discernable through actions
that a judge may take over time, in the performance
of his or her judicial duties, that demonstrate a pattern of bias or prejudice.
Respondent’s screening process was designed to
“discreet[ly]” handle same-sex marriage requests—
specifically, to ensure that he married only opposite-sex couples, but without any same-sex couple, or
anyone else outside his chambers, being made aware
of the refusal. In that respect, his screening process
was not displayed or made known in a manner that
was capable of perception by members of the public—such as a same-sex couple seeking a marriage
officiant.
However, respondent’s chosen course of action—
motivated by his intention to marry only opposite-sex
couples—was evident to his staff. He directed his staff
to check OJIN for gender information about each requesting couple, which they had not done before Oregon’s constitutional same-sex marriage ban was invalidated. He then directed them to schedule opposite-sex marriages, but to either notify him about a
potential same-sex marriage request, so that he could
decide how to proceed, or to tell the requesting couple
that he was not available. Those actions indisputably
communicated to his staff his intention to treat
same-sex couples who requested a marriage offici-ant
differently from opposite-sex couples. Moreover, he
directed his staff to participate in that differential
treatment, which included providing inaccurate information to same-sex couples. Those actions

109a

“manifest[ed]” prejudice in the performance of judicial
duties, within the meaning of Rule 3.3(B).
Respondent next argues that, because no same-sex
couple was refused the opportunity to marry as a result of his screening process, he did not discriminate
or manifest prejudice “against” any such couple. Rule
3.3(B). While it is true that respondent’s actions did
not result in any actual refusal to marry a same-sex
couple, for the reasons explained below, we nonetheless conclude that those actions manifested prejudice
“against * * * others,” within the meaning of the rule.
We reiterate that, in prohibiting a judge from manifesting prejudice against court participants or others
based on personal attributes, Rule 3.3(B) seeks to prevent judicial actions that impair the fairness of a proceeding or prompt an unfavorable view of the judiciary. ABA Model Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.3
Comment [1]. Most commonly, problematic conduct
likely would involve a judge’s overt and prejudicial
treatment of a particular person involved in a proceeding before the court—such as a litigant, juror,
witness, or lawyer. See, e.g., In re Ochoa, 334 Or 484,
51 P3d 605 (2002) (Ochoa I) (stipulated discipline for
judge who violated former JR 2-110(B), based on his
negative treatment of a criminal defense lawyer in a
pending proceeding); see also ABA Model Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 2.3 Comment [2] (citing nonexclusive examples of prohibited conduct, such as using
epithets or slurs, negative stereotyping, and irrelevant references to personal characteristics). However,
a judge could manifest prejudice against others based
on personal attributes in a more general way that still
could affect perceptions of fairness or prompt an unfavorable view of the judiciary. For example, suppose
that a judge made a generally disparaging racial re-
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mark during a court proceeding that was not directed
toward any particular person. Such a comment nonetheless could prompt those who heard it to think that
the judge might not act fairly in all instances or otherwise to view the judiciary in an unfavorable light.
Similarly, if a judge engaged in a [*953] pattern of
endorsing or permitting racially motivated juror excusals, such a pattern could display prejudice, or the
perception of prejudice, against a certain population
based on race. Given the fundamental objective of
Rule 3.3(B)—ensuring the public’s trust in an impartial and fair judiciary—we conclude that that rule is
not limited to a manifestation of prejudice against an
identified, particular person. Rather, it may encompass an expression of bias against an identifiable
group, based on personal characteristics, in the performance of judicial duties.
We return to the circumstances of this case.
Respondent implemented a screening process with his
staff, aimed at ensuring that he married only opposite-sex couples, which treated those couples differently from same-sex couples. That screening process
demonstrated to respon-dent’s staff that, in exercising
his statutory authority and judicial duty to solemnize
marriages, he would not treat all couples fairly. That
conduct, in turn, manifested prejudice against
same-sex couples, based on their sexual orientation,
contrary to Rule 3.3(B).
3. Willful misconduct under Article VII (Amended),
sections 8(1)(b) and (e)
We turn next to the question whether respondent
acted willfully—that is, whether he intended to cause
a result or take an action contrary to Rule 3.3(B), and
whether he was aware of circumstances that made
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that rule applicable. Or Const, Art VII (Amended), §
8(1)(e); Gustafson, 305 Or at 660. Relatedly, we must
determine whether, if respondent acted willfully, his
misconduct bore a demonstrable relationship to the
effective performance of judicial duties. Or Const, Art
VII (Amended), § 8(1)(b).
Respondent emphasizes that, rather than intending
to discriminate against same-sex couples, he was trying to maintain the tenets of his faith. And, he continues, his staff similarly understood that the screening
process was intended to allow him to continue to solemnize marriages of opposite-sex couples while adhering to his sincere and firmly held religious beliefs. He
denies having acted with any discriminatory intent.
The record shows that, in implementing the screening process, respondent intended to avoid scheduling
marriages for same-sex couples, while continuing to
schedule marriages for opposite-sex couples. He told
his staff to begin to check OJIN for personal gender
information about requesting couples; to treat couples
differently based on sexual orientation; and to provide
inaccurate information to same-sex couples. Although
respondent may not have intended to violate Rule
3.3(B), he nonetheless proceeded with an intentional
action— directing his staff to implement a screening
process with the components just described, thereby
subjecting same-sex couples to discriminatory treatment—that was contrary to that rule. See Schenck,
318 Or at 416, 418-19 (circumstances surrounding
judge’s denial of motions for disqualification showed
that judge acted willfully in violating applicable disqualification canon; given the circumstances, judge’s
asserted good faith in reaching wrong conclusion was
not relevant to determining his intent). Relatedly,
when respondent implemented that screening process,
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he was aware of circumstances that in fact made the
rule applicable: His actions reflected an understanding that the Code of Judicial Conduct may have prohibited him from refusing to marry same-sex couples
if he continued to marry opposite sex couples, and so
he directed his staff to implement a screening process
that permitted him to follow that course of action anyway, while avoiding public detection.
Finally, we conclude that respondent’s willful misconduct bore a demonstrable relationship to the effective performance of his judicial duties, contrary to Article VII (Amended), section 8(1)(b). As explained, respondent chose to engage in the statutorily assigned
judicial duty of solemnizing marriages. But, in carrying out that duty, he willfully manifested to his staff a
bias against same-sex couples that undermined public
trust in a fair and impartial judiciary.
4. Respondent’s constitutional challenges
Respondent next argues that, if we determine that
he engaged in the misconduct alleged in Count 12, we
nonetheless must dismiss [*954] that count because
Rule 3.3(B) and Article VII (Amended), section 8(1), as
applied in this case, violate several provisions of the
United States Constitution, as well as Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 USC § 2000 - 2000e-17.
Those challenges—which he asserted below as affirmative defenses to Count 12— raise a series of important and complex issues, implicating the constitutional rights of individuals in respondent’s position, as
well as the rights of same-sex couples. Many of those
same issues are currently being litigated in state and
federal courts. See, e.g., In re Neely, 390 P3d 728 (Wy
2017), cert den, ___ US ___, 138 S Ct 639 (2018) (imposing censure on judge who publicly refused to per-

113a

form same-sex marriages); Craig v. Masterpiece Cakeshop, Inc., 370 P3d 272 (Colo Ct App 2015), cert
granted, ___ US ___, 137 S Ct 2290, 198 L Ed 2d 723
(2017) (bakery that refused to bake wedding cake for
same-sex couple violated state public accommodation
law; state’s cease and desist order was not unconstitutional); Klein v. BOLI, 289 Or App 507, ___ P3d ___
(2017), petition for review pending (S065744, filed
March 1, 2018) (similar holding; upholding violation
and fine against bakery).
Ordinarily, as part of resolving the allegations at
issue, we would proceed to analyze respondent’s
constitutional challenges. As explained in our discussion of the appropriate sanction below, however, two
aspects of respondent’s misconduct are sufficiently
serious to warrant one of the most significant sanctions that this court has imposed in a judicial fitness
proceeding: his repeated willful misstatements in the
course of factfinding inquiries, and his conduct during
the gun-handling incidents. We ultimately conclude,
primarily based on that misconduct, that a three-year
suspension is appropriate.
We return to respondent’s misconduct that is at
issue under Count 12. In light of the other, notably
serious misconduct that the commission has proved by
clear and convincing evidence, we conclude that
—whether respondent’s constitutional challenges are
meritorious or not—our ultimate conclusion to impose
a lengthy, three-year suspension remains the same.
Because the misconduct at issue under Count 12
would not affect our consideration of the appropriate
sanction, we need not consider respondent’s constitutional challenges.
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V. SANCTION
This court explained the purpose of disciplining
judges in Schenck, 318 Or at 438:
“Judges are disciplined primarily to preserve
public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary. Thus, disciplining
judges serves to educate and inform the judiciary and the public that certain types of conduct are improper and will not be tolerated.
Discipline of a judge also serves to deter the
disciplined judge as well as other judges from
repeating the type of conduct sanctioned.”
See also Jordan I, 290 Or at 335 (this court’s duty and
responsibility to impose sanctions for willful judicial
misconduct maintains the citizenry’s confidence in
state courts and ensures that judges are honest and
competent). Under Article VII (Amended), section
8(1), the available sanctions are censure, suspension,
or removal from office.
The commission—which determined that respondent had engaged in multiple instances of willful misconduct in addition to those that we have concluded
were proved by clear and convincing evidence—recommended removal from office. It determined that respondent’s misconduct revealed several
problematic patterns, including little insight about
the boundaries required in a judicial position, actions
taken for his own benefit, dishonesty, and poor judgment. The commission concluded that the nature of
respondent’s misconduct “call[ed] into question [his]
competence and integrity,” Schenck, 318 Or at 441,
and, when considered together with the purpose of
judicial discipline and other applicable factors, justified removal.
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Our conclusions about respondent’s misconduct are
not as extensive as the commission’s. And, in any
event, we consider the sanction question anew. For
the reasons explained [*955] below, we conclude that
a suspension of three years without pay is appropriate.
In considering the appropriate sanction, we consider several criteria:
“(1) whether the misconduct was frequent and
exhibited a persistent and pervasive pattern of
behavior; (2) whether there was an exploitation
of the judge’s position for personal interests; (3)
whether there was an indirect economic detriment to the public; (4) whether the judge was
experienced and familiar with the higher standards of conduct that apply to judges; (5)
whether the misconduct adversely affected the
public’s perception of the integrity and dignity
of the judiciary; and (6) whether there was a
prior sanction.”
In re Ochoa, 342 Or 571, 576, 157 P3d 183 (2007)
(Ochoa II). We also consider the seriousness of the
violations and the extent to which respondent has
demonstrated an interest in avoiding similar problems in the future. Schenck, 318 Or at 438. And, we
consider any other circumstances that may guide our
determination of the appropriate sanction. See id. at
416 (judge’s purported good faith in taking prohibited
action appropriately considered as part of sanction
determination).
Several aspects of respondent’s willful misconduct
exhibited a persistent and pervasive pattern of behavior. First, he has engaged in a pattern of making false
statements in response to inquiries about his con-
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duct—to the commission during an official inquiry in
early 2013 (about a purported physical altercation at
the second soccer game) and to his presiding judge in
August 2014 (about his awareness of BAS’s felon status during the second gun-handling incident; he also
made other evasive statements during that meeting).
Those instances of misconduct show a repeated effort
on respondent’s part to provide false information with
the goal of self-protection and avoidance of personal
responsibility, for his own benefit. Second, respondent’s false statement to the commission in early
2013, his involvement in the two gun-handling incidents, and his other inappropriate out-of-court contacts with BAS from December 2013 to early January
2014 demonstrate a persistent pattern of engaging in
conduct that reflects adversely on his character to
serve as a judge. Third, through his inappropriate
out-of-court contacts with BAS, and also during the
gun-handling incidents, respondent engaged in a pattern of behavior that undermined the integrity of, and
public confidence in, the judiciary. That conduct involving BAS, however, occurred within a defined period of time, lasting no more than two months, and
the inappropriate out-of-court contacts ended when
respondent learned that they made BAS uncomfortable.54
54

The commission additionally found that respondent’s
conduct in relation to BAS demonstrated a pattern of
self-benefit. We do not think that the record shows that
type of pattern, in connection with that particular misconduct. While it is apparent that respondent took great pride
in his relationship with BAS, it is equally apparent that
respondent’s general conduct in engaging with BAS— although lacking in sound judgment in several re-
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We consider two aspects of the respondent’s misconduct to be particularly serious. The first is that respondent willfully provided multiple false statements
during factfinding inquiries: one to the commission (in
early 2013) during an official inquiry, which included
an untruthful accusation against another person; and
one to his presiding judge (in August 2014) during her
effort to determine whether she had an obligation to
report certain conduct to the commission for investigation. That pattern of false statements suggests that
respondent is not trustworthy. See Jordan I, 290 Or at
336 (judge who had made false statement under oath
impugned his honesty and integrity as a judge). Further, it negatively affects his ability to serve in a court
system that foundationally depends on truthful statements. See Field, 281 Or at 637 (the public’s impressions during daily interactions with the courts
“serve[s] to shape their opinion of the judicial system,
our laws and law enforcement”; the court “cannot permit that opinion to be anything but one of confidence
[*956] and respect” (internal quotation marks omitted)).
We view as equally serious respondent’s willful conduct toward BAS during the gun-handling incidents.
On both occasions, while knowing that BAS was subject to a statutorily required firearms restriction, respondent affirmatively permitted BAS to handle a
gun. On the second occasion, respondent told BAS
spects—was undertaken in an effort to provide practical
and emotional support. (We additionally note that, in
reaching a contrary conclusion, the commission relied on
many factors involving evidence about allegations that
either were not supported by clear and convincing evidence
or that involved peripheral issues.)
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that he could make adjustments to that restriction
because he was responsible for overseeing BAS’s probation and added that he had no problem with BAS
going target-shooting with his son. Aside from any
potential safety concern that might have arisen in
such circumstances,55 that conduct undermined the
integrity of the judiciary and respondent’s character
as a judge: It suggested to BAS that his probation conditions were both flexible and enforceable based on
respondent’s own whim. And, respondent’s conduct
placed BAS at legal risk for being in violation of his
probation and potentially subject to criminal charges.
Another factor to consider is that, at the time of the
events at issue, respondent had not been subject to
any earlier sanction, and he was not a particularly
experienced judge. See Gallagher, 326 Or at 288 (lack
of any prior complaint weighed against imposing more
serious sanction); Gustafson, 305 Or at 669-70 (acknowledging judge’s inexperience). Respondent’s inexperience as a judge, however, bears on only our evaluation of his inability to maintain appropriate boundaries in his interactions with BAS outside of court. In
55

In State v. Robinson, 217 Or 612, 616, 343 P2d 886
(1959), the court observed that firearms subject to the statutory prohibition in ORS 166.270(1) are plainly dangerous,
“especially if possessed by one whose past conduct revealed
a disregard for law and the normal moral restraints.” See
also Bailey v. Lambert, 342 Or 321, 327, 153 P3d 95 (2007)
(legislature determined that person with present status of
a “felon”—even if status might later change due to
post-conviction appeal or set-aside—“falls within the class
of persons that are not permitted to possess firearms”); see
generally State v. Rainoldi, 351 Or 486, 499-504, 268 P3d
568 (2011) (summarizing history behind statutory
felon-in-possession prohibition).
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that respect, respondent’s inexperience reduces the
weight that we give to that violation. His inexperience
does not excuse his more serious violations—his failure to tell the truth, and his conduct during the
gun-handling incidents. Any judge, regardless of his
or her experience, should understand and readily comply with the obligation to make truthful representations during a factfinding or similar inquiry. The
same is true regarding respondent’s conduct toward
BAS during the gun-handling incidents and the fair
and impartial treatment of probationers: Regardless
of experience, a judge should know not to participate
in conduct that is contrary to a probation condition or
to suggest that individual probation terms are flexible
or conditional, based on the judge’s individual actions
that are undertaken independent of the facts of the
case and applicable law.
The final factor for our consideration is the extent
to which respondent has demonstrated an interest in
avoiding similar problems in the future. Regarding
his inappropriate out-of-court contacts with BAS as a
general matter, respondent has acknowledged that he
overstepped boundaries that he should have maintained with a VTC participant in his court and that he
would now approach that situation differently. As to
the other misconduct, however, respondent has denied
any wrongdoing and, as explained at length in this
opinion, has proffered accounts of various events that
differ from clear and convincing evidence in the record.
Under Article VII (Amended), section 8(1), we may
censure respondent, suspend him, or remove him from
office. Censure may be appropriate for judicial misconduct directly related to the judge’s official performance if we have “no reason to think that the inci-
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dents will be repeated or that the [judge] requires any
greater sanction than the publication of [an] opinion
and the publicity attendant to [the] proceeding.”
Schenck, 318 Or at 442 (internal quotation marks
omitted). For example, in Gustafson, 305 Or at 669,
this court considered the appropriate sanction for an
inexperienced judge who had engaged in multiple
willful rule violations, including rules pertaining to
public confidence in the judiciary [*957] and impartiality; improper interference with lawyer-client relationships; and impatient, undignified, and discourteous behavior toward lawyers and litigants. The court
emphasized the judge’s missteps and noted that he
had been “slow to recognize that his conduct in office
fell short of judicial standards,” but then acknowledged that he apparently had “undertaken steps to
learn from his unfortunate start.” Id. at 670. The
court saw no need for, or useful purpose to be served
by, a suspension and instead imposed a censure. Id.
A suspension may be appropriate if a judge engages
in misconduct directly related to the judge’s official
duties, when the record shows that the judge does not
“view[ ] the future in a manner materially different
from the past”—that is, when the judge lacks genuine
reflection, any acknowledgement of wrongdoing, and a
willingness to change course. Schenck, 318 Or at 443.
Depending on the misconduct at issue, a suspension
also may be necessary “to maintain public confidence
in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary that
demands adherence to the standards of conduct [that]
it has set for itself and for the fair administration of
justice.” Id. And, suspension—rather than removal—may be appropriate when the judge’s integrity
is not “directly called into question,” Id. at 442, but
the misconduct nonetheless “adversely affect[s] the
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public’s perception of the integrity and dignity of the
judiciary.” Ochoa II, 342 Or at 576-77. A suspension
may be with or without pay. Schenck, 318 Or at
437-38; ORS 1.430(4) (if judge suspended, salary shall
cease if so ordered).
Schenck provides an example of misconduct that
justified a suspension. The judge in that case—who,
as with the judge in Gustafson, was not very experienced—engaged in willful misconduct when he refused to disqualify himself in cases in which his impartiality might be questioned; initiated ex parte communications about pending cases; and published comments about pending cases and his negative views
about the local district attorney. Unlike in Gustafson,
the judge in Schenck did not acknowledge any wrongdoing; to the contrary, he asserted that all his challenged conduct complied with judicial conduct obligations. 318 Or at 439. The court recognized that the
judge was entitled to vigorously defend his legal position and that asserting such a defense should not be
construed as implying a lack of understanding about
the problematic behavior or of any intent to correct it.
But, as to one of the instances of misconduct, the court
“confess[ed] a genuine concern about the Judge’s resolve either to understand the true nature of such
problems or to avoid them in the future.” Id. at 440.
The court imposed a 45-day suspension from office
without pay. See id. at 443 (imposing suspension and
stating that “[t]here are important lessons to be
learned from this case, and we are convinced that a
suspension of the Judge without pay is the only way
to ensure that he will learn those lessons”).
In another case, Gallagher, this court imposed a
longer suspension on an experienced judge who regularly required his JA to help him with campaign fund-
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raising and other noncourt work; used state-paid
property and equipment to those same ends; and used
his position as a judge to try to gain financial advantages for himself and others. The court observed that
much of the judge’s misconduct was frequent and
“formed a persistent and pervasive pattern of behavior,” while other misconduct showed an exploitation of
his judicial position “to satisfy personal desires.” 326
Or at 288. The court also emphasized that, as an experienced judge, he was “well familiar with the high
standards of behavior that the privilege of judicial
service demands” and that his conduct “adversely affect [ed] the public’s perception of the integrity and
dignity of the judiciary.” Id. After considering all
those factors, the court imposed a six-month suspension without pay. Id.
Removal from office is appropriate when “a series of
misconduct incidents calls into question” the judge’s
integrity or competence. Schenck, 318 Or at 441. Removal depends on “the magnitude of the violation”;
also, “if the violation is likely to [*958] recur, removal
may be appropriate, depending on the totality of the
circumstances.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted;
emphasis added). This court has ordered the removal
of a judge in two cases, one of which—Jordan I—bears
on our consideration of the sanction in this case.56 The
56

The other case in which this court has removed a
judge is Field. That case involved a series of misconduct by
a district court judge over a period of time that primarily
involved persistent mistreatment and disrespect of lawyers, parties, and witnesses, and inappropriate practices
in criminal cases where defendants were represented by
counsel. 281 Or at 630-34. The court characterized the
judge’s actions as “general incompetent performance of
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judge in Jordan I had, over a two-year period, violated
multiple canons of judicial ethics. Much of his misconduct involved treating defendants, lawyers, and jurors
in a negative fashion, engaging in ex parte communications and other misconduct, and performing various
judicial duties in an incompetent manner. 290 Or at
332-34. More notably, however, the judge came under
scrutiny for his collaboration with a county corrections official, relating to the prosecution of some inmate work crew members who purportedly had vandalized county property. On the day that the vandalism occurred, the judge spoke to the official about it,
and the official then signed a criminal complaint. The
next day, the judge and the official spoke outside of
court, and outside the presence of the inmates or their
counsel. They agreed on a process for the judge to
summarily arraign the inmates on the vandalism
charges, accept their pleas, and sentence them to certain terms; the judge then took those actions. A disciplinary proceeding later was initiated against the official, and the judge was called as a witness. He testified under oath that he did not recall ever having a
conversation with the official on the day that the vandalism occurred. Id. at 308-10. As to the judge’s collaboration with the official about the inmates’ cases,
this court concluded that the judge had allowed himself to be improperly influenced by the official and had
violated a judicial canon that provided that a judge
should accord every litigant, and his or her lawyer,
the full right to be heard according to law. Id. at
319-20. As to the judge’s testimony in the official’s
judicial duties” and also recognized some medical issues
that likely had affected the judge’s ability to perform those
duties. Id. at 634, 636-37.
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disciplinary hearing, this court concluded that the
judge had knowingly made a false statement under
oath, which amounted to willful misconduct bearing a
demonstrable relationship to the judge’s effective performance of his judicial duties. Id. at 315. Additionally, that misconduct violated the judicial canon that
a judge should respect and comply with the law, and
conduct oneself at all times in a manner promoting
public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of
the judiciary. Id. at 315-16. The court specifically observed that the judge’s false statement under oath
had “impugn[ed] his honesty and integrity.” Id. at
336-37. Ultimately, the court determined that the
judge’s misconduct and incompetence, coupled with
his lack of candor and honesty, as well as the protracted nature of his collective misconduct over a sustained period of time, required his removal from office. Id. at 332-37.
In this case, if the only misconduct at issue were
respondent’s inappropriate contacts with BAS outside
of court, excluding the gun-handling incidents, censure would be the appropriate sanction. Those contacts showed that respondent had difficulty understanding appropriate boundaries between a judge and
a court probationer, and they reflect a failure to exercise sound judgment. However, those contacts occurred over a defined, relatively short timeframe; respondent’s actions toward BAS were largely motivated by a genuine desire to provide BAS with support; and, when respondent became aware that BAS
was not comfortable with the contacts, he stopped engaging in them. Additionally, respondent acknowledges that his actions toward BAS crossed appropriate judicial boundaries and that he would now handle
the situation differently, such as relying on other VTC
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team members to reach out to a struggling participant.
Those are not the only violations at issue, however.
As explained, respondent’s misconduct in making willful misstatements to the commission in the course of
an official inquiry [*959] and to his presiding judge
during her inquiry about BAS, as well as his misconduct involving BAS during the gun-handling incidents, is exceptionally serious. He falsely accused another person of assaulting him, and he otherwise
acted dishonestly and for his own self-benefit. His
misconduct suggested a character that reflected poorly
on his fitness to serve as a judge and his ability to
exercise sound judgment.
Considering the record as a whole, the nature of
respondent’s misconduct was far more serious than
the misconduct at issue in Gustafson, 326 Or 267, in
which the judge was censured; Schenck, 318 Or 402,
in which the judge received a 45-day suspension; and
Gallagher, 326 Or 267, in which the judge received a
six-month suspension. Although respondent’s misconduct did not involve an exploitation of his judicial position, as in Gallagher, 326 Or at 287, it demonstrated
repeated, serious misjudgments concerning a vulnerable probationer in his court, as well as repeatedly providing false information for the sake of self-protection.
Unlike those cases, this case requires at least a
lengthy suspension—far longer than any suspension
imposed in any prior case; stated differently, a more
significant sanction than any previously imposed,
short of removal from office.
We do not think, however, that removal is appropriate. Respondent’s misconduct—as we have found by
clear and convincing evidence—did involve willful
misrepresentation and other conduct that that cer-

126a

tainly reflected adversely on his character to serve as
a judge. But, it falls somewhat short of the more severe problematic misconduct at issue in Jordan I, 290
Or 303, for which the court removed that judge from
office.57
We conclude that a lengthy suspension is required,
to preserve public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary. After considering respondent’s willful misconduct that the commission proved
by clear and convincing evidence, the applicable factors in ascertaining the appropriate sanction, and the
totality of the circumstances, we impose a three-year
suspension without pay as the appropriate sanction.
Respondent is suspended from his judicial office
without salary for a period of three years, commencing upon entry of the appellate judgment.

57

As explained, Jordan I involved a judge’s collaboration with a complainant about a criminal incident; the devising of a plan with that complainant about how to process resulting charges against potentially vulnerable defendants; depriving those defendants and their counsel of
the right to be heard; and then later lying under oath in a
related court proceeding about having any recollection of
the initial contact that had prompted the collaboration.
290 Or at 333-34.
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[Editing Note: Line Spacing and Font Changed to
Comply with Court Rules; Page numbers from the
Filed Opinion, are indicated, e.g., [*1.]
Filed: Jan. 25, 2016]
BEFORE THE COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL FITNESS AND DISABILITY
STATE OF OREGON
Inquiry Concerning a Judge: Case No. 12-139 and 1486
Honorable Vance D. Day Opinion
BY UNANIMOUS DECISION1
This matter comes before the Oregon Commission
on Judicial Fitness and Disability on a thirteen count
complaint alleging that the Honorable Vance D. Day,
a Marion County Circuit Court Judge, violated the
Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct.
Between November 9 and November 20, 2015, in
the City of Salem, Marion County, Oregon, the Commission held its hearing with regard to the allegations
in the complaint in accordance with ORS 1.420 and
Article VII,§ 8 of the Oregon Constitution.
[*2] Upon review of the evidence and for the reasons outlined below, the Commission concludes that
counts 7, 8, 10, 11, and 13 have not been proven by
1

Members of the Oregon Commission on Judicial Fitness and Disability participating in this matter were Hon.
Debra Vogt, Judge Member, Presiding; Hon. James Egan,
Judge Member; Hon Patricia Sullivan, Judge Member; W.
Eugene Hallman, Attorney Member; Judy Snyder, Attorney Member; Judy Parker, Attorney Member; Annabelle
Jaramillo, Public Member; and Linda Collins, Public Member.
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clear and convincing evidence and recommends dismissal as to those five counts.2
Upon review of the evidence and for the reasons
outlined below, the Commission concludes that the
remaining eight counts have been proven by clear and
convincing evidence, involving various violations of
the Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct, and recommends removal.
I
FINDINGS OF FACT
A. Standard of Proof
A violation must be proven by clear and convincing
evidence. In re Schenck, 318 Or 402, 405, 870 P2d 185
(1994); In re Gustafson, 305Or655,668, 756 P2d 21
(1988); In re Jordan,290 Or 303, 307, 622 P2d 297
(1981); and Matter of Field, 281 Or 623, 629, 576 P2d
348 (1978). This is proof that is highly probable and
extraordinarily persuasive. Riley Hill Gen. Contractor,
Inc. v. Tandy Corp. 303 Or 390, 402, 737 P2d 595
(1987).
Although the Commission does make specific credibility findings within this opinion, the Commission
bases all of the findings of fact herein on the evidence
the Commission finds to be the most credible evidence
before it.
B. Background
Judge Day has been an attorney licensed to practice law in Oregon since 1991. He was appointed to
2

If the Commission finds a violation it shall recommend
censure, suspension or removal to the Oregon Supreme
Court. ORS 1.420(4). The rules of the Commission require
that a dismissal also be submitted as a recommendation to
the Supreme Court. Rule 16(a).
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the Marion County bench in 2011 and was elected the
following year. Upon his [*3] swearing in, Judge Day
took the oath of office for judges detailed in ORS
1.212.3 Judge Day's courtroom and chambers are on
the fourth floor of the Marion County courthouse, located in Salem, Oregon. Judge Day is married and
has three children.
C. Soccer
Judge Day's son, Daniel Day, played soccer for the
Chemeketa Community College team. The Chemeketa
soccer coach is Marty Limbird, a friend of the Day
family. The Chemeketa team regularly played on the
Willamette University campus at Sparks Field. Judge
Day attended these 'home' games to support his son
and the team. As is customary, at Sparks Field the
designated referees' area is segregated from the public
and across the field from the spectator area. Referees
are trained to keep spectators away from the referees'
table. Likewise, if spectators request the names or
titles of referees, referees are trained to tell the person to contact the league or refer to the coaches' scoresheets for such information. Referees at this level of
play are specifically trained not to give out their
names to spectators.
On October 17, 2012, a year after Judge Day took
the bench, Daniel Day's Chemeketa soccer team
3

The oath in ORS 1.212(2) reads as follows: “I,
_(name)_, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support
the Constitution ofthe United States, and the Constitution
of the State of Oregon, and that I will faithfully and impartially discharge the duties of a judge of the _(court)_, according to the best of my ability, and that I will not accept
any other office, except judicial offices, during the term for
which I have been (elected or appointed).”
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played Clark Community College at Sparks Field. The
game was particularly contentious, with seven yellow
cards4 issued by the referees. The center referee at the
game was Andrew Deuker.5 Daniel Day started the
game with the team but was seriously injured with a
concussion twelve minutes into the match. Judge Day
was quite upset and believed that his [*4] son's injury
was due to poor officiating on the part of Mr. Deuker.
Although it is highly unusual for spectators to cross
the soccer field and approach game officials, Judge
Day crossed the field from the spectators' section to
the officials' side of the field seconds after the "end of
game" whistle blew. Judge Day approached the referees' table while Mr. Deuker was changing his
shoes.
At the referee's table, Judge Day asked Mr. Deuker
for his name but, consistent with Mr. Deuker's training, did not receive it. Instead, he was directed to
check Coach Limbird's scoresheet. Judge Day then
laid his judicial business card on the referees' table
and forcefully shoved it across the table toward Mr.
Deuker, such that the writing on the card faced the
referee. Judge Day told Mr. Deuker that he thought
Mr. Deuker had lacked control over the game and
failed to manage player safety. Judge Day indicated
that he would be filing a complaint regarding the poor
4

In soccer, a yellow card is a warning from a referee;
two yellow cards against a single player or coach equals a
red card, which is an automatic expulsion from the game.
Even two yellow cards would be considered a lot at this
level of play.
5

Mr. Deuker is a Pac12 referee and the only national
soccer referee in Oregon.
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officiating. During this encounter, Judge Day's voice
was loud and forceful and his behavior was condescending and intimidating. Mr. Deuker had not asked
for the business card and did not pick it up. At that,
Judge Day picked up his judicial business card and
walked away. Mr. Deuker realized that he may need
the card to include in his referee's report. Mr. Deuker
then asked a second referee to get the card from
Judge Day. While Judge Day was on the phone with
his daughter, the second referee ran up to Judge Day,
asked for and received the card.
It was only after the card was retrieved that Mr.
Deuker actually read the card and realized that the
person who he had encountered was a judge. It was at
that time that Mr. Deuker felt both intimidated and
disappointed because he believed that a judge was
abusing his power within the community.
[*5] While sitting in his car after leaving the field,
Mr. Deuker was frightened and nervous as a result of
his interaction with Judge Day. He called Steve
Brooks, the Assignor of the Oregon Intercollegiate
Soccer Referee Association, and told him what happened. Mr. Deuker then started his car to drive home.
As Mr. Deuker was driving his car away from Sparks
Field, Judge Day and his son Daniel stopped while
crossing the street and made a note of Mr. Deuker'
slicense plate number. Mr. Deuker observed this,
which further intimidated him.
After the game, Mr. Deuker called Mike Allen,6 a
6

Mr. Allen is 71 years old and roughly 6’ tall and 240
lbs. He was a soccer referee for 22 years and then became
a national assessor for another 25 years. He is an expert
referee.
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local soccer official, and told him about the interaction
he had with Judge Day. Mr. Allen urged him to come
to his house to discuss the matter further. Mr. Deuker
met Mr. Allen at his home in Portland. Mr. Allen
urged Mr. Deuker to file a complaint with the Commission on Judicial Fitness and Disability, which Mr.
Deuker did. The Commission received Mr. Deuker's
complaint on October 21, 2012.
Due to Mr. Deuker’s concerns about Judge Day, Mr.
Allen attended the next Chemeketa game held at
Sparks Field on November 7, 2012. Mr. Allen communicated his concerns to the other referees regarding
Judge Day's prior conduct and, thus, all were alert for
possible inappropriate spectator behavior. Separately,
Mr. Brooks had contacted the CCC athletic director,
Cassie Belmodis, and alerted her that a CCC player's
parent had intimidated a referee at the October 17,
2012 game. As a result and at the request of Mr.
Brooks, Ms. Belmodis also attended the November 7,
2012 game. Judge Day attended the same game.
At the conclusion of the game, an altercation broke
out between two opposing players. As the altercation
was ending, Judge Day left the spectator section,
crossed the field, and approached the officials' table.
In order to prevent Judge Day from engaging with the
officials, Mr. Allen yelled at Judge Day to return to
the spectator section, saying things similar to “get the
[*6] hell out of here” and “you can't be here.” At the
time Judge Day approached the referees, he was a
significant distance away from the location of the
prior player altercation and a significant distance
from Mr. Allen. All the witnesses who were present at
the November 7, 2012 game, save Judge Day himself,
consistently testified that neither Mr. Allen nor any
other individual made any physical contact with
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Judge Day on the field that day.
On November 14, 2012, Mr. Allen sent the Commission an additional complaint regarding Judge Day
and the events of October 17 and November 7. Mr.
Allen reported that there was “great concern among
the officials that [Judge Day] is using his judicial position to express his views and intimidate officials
where he feels his son has been wronged.” The Commission received Mr. Allen's complaint on November
21, 2012.
In response to Mr. Deuker’s and Mr. Allen’s complaints, the Commission queried Judge Day. The
Commission received Judge Day’s response on February 11, 2013. In Judge Day’s response to the Commission about the October 17 game, he claimed that a
referee requested his business-card which was the
only reason he gave it. Judge Day further claimed
that the same referee brushed his business card off to
the side of the table after he politely placed it there.
The Commission specifically finds that Judge Day
was, in this instance, referring to Andrew Deuker. As
to the November 7 game, Judge Day claimed that he
approached the referees’ side of the field post-game to
thank the officials but that “[b]efore I could finish the
sentence I was grabbed by my shoulders from behind
without warning, whirled around, and nearly picked
off my feet and forcefully thrown forward. I nearly
went down on my hands and knees but was able to
right myself.” Judge Day continued in his response to
the Commission, “[a]s best I could tell, the person who
grabbed me was about 6’ 3” and perhaps 260 lbs. He
then yelled at me something along the lines ‘you have
no authority to be near these officials.’” The Commission specifically [*7] finds that Judge Day was, in this
instance, referring to Michael Allen, who is roughly 6’
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and 240 lbs and who did indeed yell to Judge Day that
he had no authority to be on that end of the field.
The Commission finds Mr. Deuker to be a very
credible witness. Mr. Deuker has absolutely no motivation to misrepresent what occurred. He made a
timely complaint about Judge Day’s behavior, which
he memorialized in writing very shortly after the
event. Mr. Deuker’s testimony was consistent and corroborated by other witnesses. Mr. Deuker’s demeanor
on the stand was earnest. Clearly nervous, he expressed fear about potential repercussions for reporting Judge Day’s conduct. The depth of his concern was
evident in his voice and manner on the witness stand.
Likewise, the Commission finds Mr. Allen to be a
very credible witness. Mr. Allen presented as a very
straightforward, honest and genuine person in his
demeanor on the witness stand. Mr. Allen had no motivation to misrepresent what occurred on the soccer
field. At the time of the November 7, 2012 game, Mr.
Allen was being a careful observer of events. In fact,
that was the very reason he was present. His testimony was consistent and was corroborated by other
witnesses who were, likewise, disinterested observers.
Judge Day’s testimony regarding the soccer incidents was internally inconsistent and inconsistent
with his initial written response to the Commission.
His testimony is contrary to virtually every other witness. His demeanor on the stand was measured and
controlled when being asked about his version of
events. However, when challenged by contrary evidence, his facial expressions and responses were
tinged with a bit of sarcasm. Furthermore, Judge
Day’s demeanor while Mr. Deuker was testifying bordered on mockery. As Mr. Deuker emotionally related
how afraid he felt when Judge Day was noting his
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license plate number, Judge Day was smiling smugly.
The Commission does not find Judge Day's testimony
credible.
[*8] D. Staff
Employees at the Marion County courthouse are
employed by the State of Oregon. The supervisor of
these judicial staff employees is the judge for whom
they work.
During the time period relevant to the Commission’s inquiry, Judge Day’s judicial assistant was
Christina “Tina” Brown and his clerk was Megan
Curry. Although Ms. Brown’s and Ms. Curry’s leave
requests were often granted, they did not always receive rest periods, meal breaks, or flex time. The
Marion County Trial Court Administrator and Deputy
Trial Court Administrator met with Judge Day to discuss the staff concerns and court policy.
At one point, Judge Day placed portraits of Presidents Reagan and Bush in his jury room. Senior
Judge Paul Lipscomb saw the portraits when he was
using Judge Day’s jury room for a settlement conference. He turned the portraits to face the wall and reported the incident to Marion County Presiding Judge
James Rhoades. Judge Rhoades advised Judge Day
that partisan artwork was best left at home as it
might manifest bias. She reminded Judge Day that
the courthouse is a neutral, non-partisan facility.
Judge Day then hung the artwork and other partisan
artwork in Ms. Brown's workspace, to which she objected. He then removed it.
E. Regarding Defendant B.A.S. and Veterans
Treatment Court
In 2013, Marion County transitioned its Veterans
Treatment Docket (VTD) to a Veterans Treatment
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Court (VTC).7 During the times relevant to this inquiry, the VTC team included, among others, Judge
Day as the judge presiding, an assigned Deputy District Attorney, Bryan [*9] Orrio, Defense Attorney
Daniel Wren, Probation Officer Austin Hermann,VTC
Coordinator and Evaluator8 E’lan Lambert. The VTC
also tapped local veterans to serve as mentors for probationers. VTC met every other Friday morning. VTC
was informal compared to other court settings. Judge
Day required the veterans speaking to stand in “parade rest.”He occasionally called the probationers
“raggedy asses.”He jokingly called one mentor
“Baldy.” Occasionally, Judge Day had the VTC participants watch certain videos or read certain books that
he thought would be helpful to their progress. Judge
Day has a sincere interest in helping veterans.
To participate in the Marion County VTC, a defendant must be a veteran charged with a qualifying
crime in Marion County. The veteran must have an
injury-induced issue, addiction issue, and/or mental
7

It is not the purpose of this proceeding to evaluate
Marion County’s Veterans Treatment Court, its practices,
the best practices in any other treatment court or the effectiveness of treatment courts, either specifically to
Marion County or generally elsewhere. Findings of fact
herein that relate to VTC are included to give context to
other inquiries that are relevant to this proceeding.
8

Lambert had an evaluator contract with the County
funded through a federal grant. Judge Day was not responsible for Lambert's contract. Despite Lambert's belief
to the contrary, Judge Day consistently attempted to resolve the funding mechanism for her contract and to obtain payment for her professional services.
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health issues. Finally and ideally, a nexus would exist
between the crime and the veteran's service.
Each participant in the VTC must sign a contract
which sets forth terms and conditions of participation.
In the VTC contract in effect between January 24,
2013 and February 6, 2015, paragraph 24 reads as
follows: “I agree that the VTD Judge may communicate with others about my participation in VTD without the presence of my attorney or myself.” This was
the language permitting the treatment team to meet
and communicate about cases without the defendant,
or potentially his attorney, being present.
On June 28, 2013, BAS9 appeared before Judge Day
and pleaded guilty to felony driving under the influence of intoxicants and entered VTC in Marion
County. Judge Day placed BAS on 24 months of supervised probation, with the standard conditions of
probation applying, [*10] including that BAS not possess any weapons, including firearms. The plea negotiations also included the mandatory 90 days jail
sanction as well as successful completion ofVTC.
lfBAS was successful, at the end of his probationary
period his felony conviction would be reduced to a misdemeanor at the recommendation of the VTC team.
As part of the entry into VTC, BAS signed the VTC
contract containing the provision in paragraph 24
noted above, which would allow Judge Day to “communicate with others about my participation in VTD
without the presence of my attorney or myself.”
BAS is, without question, a national hero. A Navy
SEAL who was deployed twelve to fifteen times
9

The Commission identifies this particular veteran by
these initials for security.
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abroad, BAS received a Bronze Star and was lauded
by his fellow Navy SEALs. BAS was wounded multiple times and suffers from Traumatic Brain Injury
and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. BAS no longer
lives in Oregon, but appeared by telephone at the
hearing in these proceedings.
The Commission finds the testimony of BAS to be
credible. BAS has no motive to lie. He received no
benefit from testifying. In fact, some of his testimony
was against his interest. BAS did not initiate a complaint against Judge Day with the Commission and
clearly did not want to participate in these proceedings. Although BAS's concerns about repercussions for
participating were evident, his testimony was consistent with his numerous prior interviews, the notes of
which are in evidence. And, although he appeared by
telephone, his demeanor was
genuine, sincere, heartfelt, and he displayed authentic emotion at appropriate times.
The first two months of his participation at the
VTC, BAS was in a rehabilitation center. On August
23, 2013, BAS graduated from rehab and returned to
Marion County. He continued to have medical issues.
As he had lost his driver's license due to his conviction, he needed transportation assistance from his
home in rural Marion County to the VA in Portland.
On [*11] September 25, 2013, Judge Day's son, Justin
Day, provided transportation to BAS with the knowledge and permission of the VTC treatment team.
In late September 2013, after a VTC session, Judge
Day met with BAS alone in his chambers to interview
him for an article that Judge Day was writing for
OTLA’s Trial Magazine about VTC. This article described identifying and personal information about
BAS, including that he was a member of certain high-
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profile Navy SEAL teams; that he was in the VTC for
a felony DUII to which he pleaded guilty; that he had
a traumatic brain injury and PTSD; and quoted' BAS
concerning trauma he experienced during his service
career.10 BAS felt that he was in no position to decline
the interview or to object to the release of his personal
information for fear that it would harm his chances of
being successful on probation and obtaining the benefits of his plea bargain.
During a VTC hearing in the fall of 2013, Judge
Day reiterated to BAS on the record that he was not
allowed to possess or handle firearms. At VTC on October 11, 2013, Judge Day told BAS in court: “No
guns, you don't get any guns.” The following month,
on November 8, 2013, BAS again appeared in VTC
and asked, “Can I touch a gun now?” Judge Day said,
on the record and unequivocally, “No.”
Shortly before Thanksgiving, 2013, Judge Day arranged for BAS to do some work for Judge Day’s sonin-law, Donald Mansell. Judge Day arranged to pick
up BAS at his house and drive him to the Mansell
house to do paint preparation work on November 18,
2013. After picking BAS up, Judge Day informed him
that they would stop at a wedding at which Judge
Day was officiating. Judge Day asked BAS to accompany him. BAS did not believe he could refuse [*12]
the request. The wedding was a small affair - five or
six guests in total, plus the bride and groom. Judge
Day introduced BAS as a Navy SEAL and used BAS's

10

See Exhibit 12—“What got to me, what I see in my
dreams, is what the enemy did to the women and children
The combat I could handle, but the inhumanity to the enemy toward its own people is what haunts me today.” Pg.3.
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call sign.11 BAS felt like he was being exploited and
put on display.
After the wedding, Judge Day brought BAS to the
Mansell house. Although BAS had been told there
would be other veterans present, BAS was the only
non-Day family member there. The Mansell house has
a living room which contains a homemade cabinet
spanning the length of one wall. The family regularly
challenged visitors to find secret compartments which
Judge Day had built into the cabinet. While at the
Mansell house, Judge Day challenged BAS to find a
secret compartment and told him that one of the hidden drawers contained a gun. BAS found the compartment quickly and opened the drawer to see the gun.
BAS asked Judge pay for permission to check the gun
for safety, which Judge Day granted. BAS cleared the
gun by removing the clip and making certain it was
not loaded. The Commission recognizes that these
facts are inconsistent with the testimony of Judge
Day and his son-in-law. We specifically find that BAS
is the most credible source on this information. We
note also that Donald Mansell’s declaration, submitted in support of his father-in-law, and his testimony
on stand were not consistent.
Between November 28 and December 26, 2013,
BAS received numerous texts from Judge Day and his
family repeatedly inviting him to Day family events.
BAS’s text messages establish that he was trying,
tactfully, to evade these out-of-court contacts with
Judge Day.
11

The identification of his military call-sign was of particular concern to BAS because he feared identification as
a result of his many Navy SEAL missions.
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In early December 2013, Judge Day attended a conference in Washington D.C. with his wife, Ms. Lambert and Judge Tracy Prall. The conference was for
veterans’ court judges and [*13] treatment teams
throughout the country. Before the trip, Judge Day
asked BAS to connect the Marion County team with
some ofBAS’s friends in D.C. Judge Day particularly
solicited an introduction to a famous Navy SEAL, Rob
O’Neill. BAS complied. When Judge Day met with Mr.
O’Neill, he found out the full extent of the extraordinary nature of BAS’s military experience and service.
While at the conference, Judge Prall and Judge
Day had a conversation about VTC. The conversation
was focused on boundaries and out of court contact
with probationers. She told Judge Day that she limited her contact with participants to be only in the
courtroom, other than responding with “hello” or a
similar pleasantries when a participant addressed her
out in the community. Judge Prall also told Judge
Day that she believed that out of court contact can
result in concerns that inappropriate influence has
affected the handling of a case. Notwithstanding
Judge Prall’s advice concerning boundaries, Judge
Day’s out of court contacts with BAS continued and,
actually, increased.
December 26 is Judge Day’s birthday. That day in
2013, Judge Day texted BAS and invited him to a
birthday brunch at his house. Judge Day picked up
BAS and brought him to his home, despite BAS’s tactful attempts to avoid the event. There were no other
veterans present, nor any other judges or VTC team
members. The only people present were the immediate Day family and BAS. At this birthday brunch, the
Day family asked BAS about his military service and
had him share details about his experiences. BAS was
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also asked about religion and his opinions about Jesus
Christ. It was an uncomfortable event for BAS. While
at Judge Day’s house that day, BAS saw an H&K gun
case and commented to Judge Day that it was a good
weapon, to which Judge Day replied, “Shhh.”
[*14] At least twice after the birthday brunch, on
December 27, 2013, and January 7, 2014, Justin Day
asked BAS via text messaging if BAS would go shooting with him. On both dates, BAS declined. In response to the second invitation, BAS said no, texting
that he was worried about getting in trouble with his
probation officer for having possession of a gun.
During this same time period, BAS had a broken
pellet stove and was living in the country in a farmhouse without heat. The weather was extremely cold.
Due to the broken stove, on January 10, 2014, Judge
Day told BAS that he would like to come over to the
farmhouse the next day. BAS declined that offer. On
January 11, Judge Day again asked to come over to
BAS’s home the next day. Again, BAS declined. BAS
texted in reply that he would not be home and that he
would get someone else to fix the stove. Nonetheless,
later that day, January 12, 2014, Judge Day and his
son Justin arrived unannounced to help BAS with his
pellet stove. BAS had not invited them to his home
and he had in fact repeatedly tried to convince them
not to come over.
While Judge Day was in BAS’s house, Justin Day
went to their car and returned, bringing in the H&K
pistol case BAS had seen in the Day house at the
birthday party. Justin Day pulled out the gun from
the case and handled it. Judge Day was present. BAS
watched Justin handle the gun and asked Judge Day
ifhe could show Justin how to handle it safely. Judge
Day said, “No problem.” Judge Day then indicated to
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BAS that, as he was the judge who put him on probation, he could make “adjustments.” Judge Day further
indicated to BAS that because BAS was teaching
someone Judge Day loves how to shoot and handle a
weapon safely, Judge Day had no objections to BAS
handling the gun. Before Judge Day and Justin left,
BAS confirmed with Judge Day that Justin would be
returning to shoot the H&K pistol later that day.
Justin Day did in fact return to BAS’ s house later
that day and the two of them shot the H&K pistol.
BAS [*15] shot the gun because he believed that he
was allowed to do so based upon Judge Day’s permission.
The next day, January 13, 2014, BAS told Ms.
Curry about the previous day’s activities involving the
gun, who in tum told Ms. Lambert. Ms. Lambert went
to BAS’ s house to learn firsthand what had happened. She then confronted Judge Day with the information, reminding him about BAS’s probation conditions and status as a convicted felon. Judge Day “panicked” during that conversation with Ms. Lambert.
At this point in time, the number of out-of-court
contacts between Judge Day and BAS decreased dramatically. On January 24, Judge Day met with the
VTC prosecutor and BAS’s defense attorney. The purpose of this meeting was to disclose BAS’s handling of
the gun on January 12, 2014. Judge Day did not invite the probation officer to the meeting. Judge Day
did not disclose BAS’s handling a gun on November
18, 2013 at the Mansell residence. Judge Day did not
disclose that Justin Day went target shooting with
BAS later in the day on January 12, 2014. JUdge Day
downplayed the full extent ofBAS’s access to guns in,
and due to, Judge Day’s presence.
Later on January 24, BAS appeared in VTC. Dur-
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ing that court appearance, BAS indicated to Judge
Day that he would not possess firearms.
On February 21, 2014, Judge Day dropped BAS’s
felony status to a misdemeanor, signing the judgment
nunc pro tune to June 28, 2013. At that time, BAS
had not yet completed his probation, nor had he completed the 90 day jail sentence ordered in the original
judgment, which is required under ORS 813.011(3).12
As part of the February 21 judgment, Judge Day [*16]
gave BAS credit for time he had spent in inpatient
treatment instead of having him complete the mandatory minimum term of incarceration.
BAS left Oregon in February 2014 and has not returned. He continued to appear at VTC hearings telephonically. After a particularly frustrating hearing in
August 2014 during which Judge Day asked BAS, on
the record and in front of other veterans, ifhe knew
what an order was, BAS reached out to Ms. Lambert.
BAS told Ms. Lambert about much of, if not all of, his
treatment by Judge Day and indicated that he would
like to speak to the presiding judge. Ms. Lambert took
BAS’s concerns to Presiding Judge Rhoades and asked
that she call BAS.
Judge Rhoades talked to BAS, telephonically, on
August 14, 2014. During that phone call, BAS told
Judge Rhoades about (1) the events at Judge Day’s
house on December 26, 2013; (2) the events at BAS’s
house on January 12, 2014; (3) Judge Day waiving the
prohibition against BAS handling the gun; (4) Judge
12

ORS 813.011 is the Felony Driving Under the Influence of lntoxicants statute—(3) reads: Upon conviction for
a Class C felony under this section, the person shall be
sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of incarceration
of 90 days, without reduction for any reason.
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Day making BAS feel like Judge Day’s possession and
that he was being put “on display” while with Judge
Day; (5) Judge Day making BAS attend the November
2013 wedding against his wishes; and (6) Judge Day
and his son Justin wanting BAS to be Justin’s mentor. Judge Rhoades was very concerned.
Judge Rhoades assigned BAS’s case to Judge Prall.
She tried to schedule a meeting with Judge Day and
Judge Dale Penn, although this was harder to schedule because Judge Day was out of the office.13
On August 21, 2014, Judge Rhoades and Judge
Penn met with Judge Day in Judge Penn’s office. The
conversation centered around the gun incidents and
Judge Day’s ex parte contacts with BAS. Although the
conversation was pointed, Judge Rhoades was not
aggressive,nor did she engage in rapid-fire questioning tactics. During the meeting, Judge Day claimed he
[*17] did not know that BAS was a felon and justified
his contacts with BAS. Judge Day said that he had
not known about Justin Day showing BAS the gun on
January 12 because he was busy with fixing the pellet
stove. Judge Rhoades and Judge Penn determined
that Judge Day’s conduct needed to be reported to this
Commission. Judge Day decided to self-report his conduct to the Commission.
On August 23, 2014, Judge Day wrote the Commission a very vague letter as his self-report, noting a
completely unspecified violation. The letter reads, “I
was recently advised that one of the veteran participants in our court contacted our presiding judge with
concerns about an interaction he had with me in Jan13

Judge Day told Judge Rhoades he could not return to
the courthouse because he and another VTC probationer—Joseph S.—were painting his house.
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uary of this year.” The letter named BAS and gave his
case number but failed to identify any factual circumstances at all.
The Commission hired an attorney, Karen Saul, to
investigate the matter further. Ms.Saul interviewed
over a dozen people, including Judge Day, other
Marion County judges and BAS. At the request of the
Commission, Ms. Saul also investigated the 2012 soccer complaint.
Ms. Saul’s December 12, 2014, interview with
Judge Day was memorialized. Judge Day had an opportunity to review and revise the interview summary. The Commission finds that Judge Day was disingenuous on the following subjects:
(1) Judge Day claimed that each and every out of
court contact with BAS happened with full knowledge of the VTC team;
(2) Judge Day claimed that his first out of court
contact with BAS happened at the request of Lambert;
(3) Judge Day denied that BAS had any contact
with a gun at his daughter and son-in-law’s house;
[*18] (4) Judge Day claimed that the VTC team
encouraged the Days to invite BAS to Judge Day’s
house on December 26, 2013; and
(5) Judge Day denied that there was any conversation about waiving the weapons prohibition for
BAS on January 12, 2014 when BAS handled
Justin Day’s gun in Judge Day’s presence.
On February 6, 2015, Judge Day’s then-counsel
Mark Fucile wrote a lengthy defense of Judge Day’s
conduct to the Commission. One of the points Mr.
Fucile made was that the VTC contract permitted ex
parte contact and he cited the pertinent language: “I
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understand and agree that there will be discussions
about my case, my treatment program, and my condition which may take place out of my presence or the
presence of my attorney. I also understand that out of
court contact with any members of the VTC team, including the VTC Judge and court personnel, authorized by the VTC team or treatment professionals is
not considered ex parte contact.” However, this was
not the language in BAS’s VTC contract.14 The contract language cited by Mr. Fucile is actually VTC
contact language that became effective on February 6,
2015, the very day of Mr. Fucile’s letter to the Commission. Judge Day amended this contract language
without input from other members of the VTC team.
F. The “Hall of Heroes”
In 2011, Ms. Lambert formed the Partnership for
Veterans at Risk (PVR), a registered 501(c)(3) nonprofit, to provide training to law enforcement regarding working with veterans. Judge Day declined a position on the PVR Board of Directors. Nevertheless, he
exercised [*19] authority over the PVR. He created its
budget and directed that more than 40% of its funds
be used to create military art to be hung in his courtroom and in the surrounding public areas on the
fourth floor of the Marion County Courthouse. The
military art consisted of memorabilia, photographs,
and documents. Judge Day determined the amounts
to be donated for the creation and framing of the particular pieces of military art. He publically dubbed the
14

Compare with the provision in the contract signed by
BAS: “I agree that the [VTC] Judge may communicate
with others about my participation in [VTC] without the
presence of my attorney or myself.”
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fourth floor the “Hall of Heroes.” He personally selected all the art work to be displayed, including
pieces from his own family. The overall appearance of
this military art collection, including the volume and
content, created an atmosphere of implied partiality.
Several of Judge Day’s colleagues on the fourth floor
were uncomfortable with the scope and nature of the
art.
Judge Day, and Judge Day alone, sought and obtained donations from attorneys, some of whom appeared before him, to pay for the matting and framing
of some of the military art. Judge Day set the price
each donor should pay for the piece they wished to
“sponsor.” Judge Day solicited and collected funds
from Marion County attorneys Kevin Mannix, Keith
Bauer, Phil Parks, Ralph Spooner, Joe Much, and
Paul Ferder. While Judge Day also accepted donations from some other Marion County judges, the
amount of the judicial donations is quite different
than the attorney donations. The judges collectively
donated $100, while the smallest individual attorney
donation was $225. The largest donation, $793.50,
came from Mr. Spooner, who was scheduled to appear
in a trial before Judge Day the week following the
donation. On at least one occasion, Judge Day solicited funds during a status conference involving a matter pending trial before Judge Day in Judge Day’s
chambers. Some of the checks to pay for the matting
and framing of the war memorabilia were delivered
directly to Judge Day and some [*20] were collected
by his staff at his direction. Furthermore, the amount
of each piece specifically sponsored by the attorneys
exceeded the actual cost of that piece.15
15

Mannix, for example, donated $400 to sponsor a
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Judge Day knew that the donors expected something in return for their donations and he created
placards identifying the attorneys or law firms who
donated the funds. He also wrote descriptive placards
for all of the art. At the direction of Judge Rhoades,
Judge Day later removed the “sponsored by” portions
of the placards. However, the descriptive placards remained, some of which were inappropriate and
showed bias and a lack of neutrality.16
One of the pieces was a collage donated by the family of Dr. Ken Vollmar which contained a portrait of
Adolph Hitler. Judge Day advanced $879.20 to mat
and frame this piece. PVR reimbursed him that
amount. When Judge Rhoades told Judge Day to take
that piece down, he responded, “You don’t want to go
there because some very influential people in this
town want it up.” Judge Rhoades viewed this as a
veiled political threat. Judge Day did remove the
Vollmar piece but returned it to the Vollmar family
rather than giving it to the non-profit. The Vollmar
family then reimbursed Judge Day $879.20 for the
expense associated with framing it. Judge Day did not
reimburse PVR from the funds he received from the
Vollmar family.
Wally Carson collage, which Elsinore framed and matted
for $232.12. Park and Bauer collectively donated $500 to
sponsor an Otto Skopil collage, valued at $203.95.
Spooner’s $793.50 far exceeded the $387.60 value of a
Bruce Williams collage. Ferder donated $400 to sponsor a
collage of the Vietnam War featuring Chief Justice De
Muniz, which cost only $270.90 to frame and mat.
16

For example, artwork with a placard that declared a
bias against mental illness defenses. See Ex. 599.
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Judge Day did not personally profit from the proceeds of the wall hanging project.
G. Same Sex Marriage
Although performing marriages is not a mandatory
judicial duty, from the beginning of Judge Day’s tenure, he had officiated marriage ceremonies.
[*21] On May 19, 2014, Judge Michael McShane
overturned Oregon’s ban on same-sex marriage. Geiger v. Kitzhaber, 994 F Supp 2d 1128 (D Or 2014). In
early summer of 2014, Judge Day instructed his staff
to “screen” marriage applicants to determine if they
were a same sex couple. When a couple called about a
marriage, Judge Day directed his staff to get their
personal information and to tell them they needed to
check the judge’s schedule and would call them back.
Staff was to then search OJIN for indications of same
sex relations. If staff found that the couple was a
same sex couple, Judge Day instructed them to call
the couple back and indicate that Judge Day was “unavailable” on the day of their service and refer them
to other judges. Judge Day continued to marry
opposite-sex couples. He performed his last marriage
on or after August 2014. In November 2014, Judge
Day removed himself from the Marion County list of
wedding officiants.
Between early summer 2014 and November 2014,
Judge Day’s staff did not have an occasion come up
where Judge Day’s screening process had to be used.
Judge Day is a Christian whose firmly held religious beliefs include defining marriage as only between a woman and a man.
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H. Miscellaneous Factual Findings
1.
Dating Website
In mid-2014, Ms. Brown and Ms. Curry viewed a
profile on the dating website farmersonly.com which
contained a picture of three people at a wedding, one
of whom was Judge Day. The profile indicated it belonged to a man in the Salem area approximately
Judge Day’s age. Thus, Ms. Brown and Ms. Curry assumed the profile to be that of Judge Day. Evidence at
the hearing established very clearly that the profile
did exist and the photograph was indeed of Judge
Day. However, the profile had nothing to do with
Judge Day. It belonged to a [*22] person for whom
Judge Day had performed a wedding. Thus, the
farmersonly.com evidence is simply not relevant to
any material issue in this case.17
2.
District Attorney’s Office Internship
In the summer of 2015, Judge Day’s son Daniel
Day was looking for a summer legal internship due to
his intent to apply to law school. For that purpose,
Judge Day facilitated a connection between Daniel
Day and Deputy District Attorney Orrio. Mr. Orrio
then brought Daniel Day onto his prosecutorial team
as an intern on a criminal case being tried before
Judge Day that summer. According to Mr. Orrio, the
defense attorneys did not object to Daniel Day’s participation. Daniel Day was in the court room assisting
Mr. Orrio during the trial and was identified to the
17

All evidence proffered on this subject was proffered by
Judge Day in an attempt to impeach Ms. Brown and Ms.
Curry. However, in that regard, the evidence only proved
that Ms. Brown and Ms. Curry were truthful regarding
what they viewed on the website.
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jury as being Judge Day’s son.
3.
Judge Pellegrini
After Judge Cheryl Pellegrini was appointed to the
bench in 2014, Judge Day invited her out to breakfast. Judge Day had been opposed to her appointment.
At that breakfast, Judge Day indicated to her that his
objections were not due to her qualifications to serve
on the bench, but were due to her sexual orientation
as a lesbian. Judge Pellegrini was relieved that Judge
Day’s objection to her appointment did not have to do
with her abilities.
Judge Day’s testimony was inconsistent with Judge
Pellegrini’s on this topic. Judge Day testified that he
did not support Judge Pellegrini’s appointment because she was a government lawyer. He stated that
was the reason he had expressed to her at the breakfast noted above.
[*23] Given all the other factual and credibility
findings herein, the Commission finds Judge
Pellegrini to be the more credible.
4.
Publicity
Prior to the hearing in this case, Judge Day engaged in an organized media campaign designed to
create the impression that the only reason for the investigation of his conduct is his position regarding
same sex marriage. To this end, Judge Day made repeated public assertions that he was being unfairly
attacked by this investigation due solely to his religious beliefs concerning same sex marriage. Judge
Day made these statements despite the fact that his
position on same sex marriage was not discovered by
the Commission until after the investigation was well
underway. His assertions in this regard were inten-
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tionally deceptive to the public.
II
ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
A. The Constitutional and Statutory Scheme.
The permissible grounds for disciplining ajudge were
altered in 1976 as Article VII, §8( I) of the Oregon
Constitution was amended to read:
“(1) In the manner provided by law, and notwithstanding section 1 of this A1iicle, a judge
of any court may be removed or suspended
from his judicial office by the Supreme Court,
or censured by the Supreme Court, for:
(a) Conviction in a court of this or any other
state. or of the United States, of a crime punishable as a felony or a crime involving
moral turpitude; or
(b) Wilful misconduct in a judicial office
where such misconduct bears a demonstrable
relationship to the effective performance of
judicial duties; or
(c) Wilful or persistent failure to perform judicial duties; or
[*24]( d) Generally incompetent performance
of judicial duties; or
(e) Wilful violation of any rule of judicial conduct as shall be established by the
Supreme Court; or
(f) Habitual drunkenness or illegal use of narcotic or dangerous drugs.’‘
In 1971 before these amendments to the Constitution, the Oregon legislature amended ORS 1.420 and
1.430, to give the Oregon Supreme Court authority to
‘’suspend or censure’‘ with further power to ‘”sus-
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pended from office for the period specified in the order
and his salary shall cease, if so ordered,’‘ without creating “ ... a vacancy in the office of judge during the
period of suspension.’‘ The new statute did not specify
the grounds or methodology for determining “suspension or censure’‘ as distinct from grounds or methodology for removal.18
Since there are no separate grounds for suspension
or censure, the C01mnission mustprove the accused
was guilty of one of the specific grounds for removal
as stated in Article VIL §8(1) of the Oregon Constitution. In re Piper, 271 Or 726, 734-35, 534 P2d 159
(1975).Neve1iheless, the Supreme Court retains authority to reprimand and censure judges for misconduct under its inherent power over lower courts. Id
271 Or at 738.
The Commission has authority to inquire into complaints concerning “any judge” or judicial candidate
who allegedly failed to abide by the Code of Judicial
Conduct. In re Fadeley, 310 Or 548, 556, 802 Or 31
(1990); In re Piper, 271 Or 726, 736, 534 P2d 159
(1975). The Supreme Court has admonished that the
courts of Oregon belong to the people and in order to
maintain the confidence of the people of Oregon in the
courts of this state, it is essential that the judges of
those courts be held to the highest standard of hon18

The legislature adopted this statute, as Senate Bill
711, after the Commission called the Senate Judiciary Committee’s attention to the fact that it had “no power to recommend censure or suspension of judges, but could only
removal for the offending judge.” See Report of the Judicial
Fitness and Disability Commission dated March 2, 1971.
See Minutes, Senate Judiciary Committee, April 7, 1971,
p. 14.
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esty and competence. In re Jordan, [*25] 290 Or 303,
335, 622 P2d 297 (1981). This standard appears to
afford the Commission, as theSupreme Court’s investigatory arm, the widest discretion in applying Article
I, §8(1) and ORS 1.420.
The authority of the Commission to investigate is
not limited to the words of a complaint submitted by a
person. ORS 1.420(1) reads in part:
1) Upon complaint from any person concerning the conduct of a judge or upon request of
the Supreme Court, and after such investigation as the Commission on Judicial Fitness
and Disability considers necessary, the Commission may do any of the following:
(a) The Commission may hold a hearing pursuant to subsection (3) of this section to
inquire into the conduct of the judge.
(b) The Commission may request the Supreme Court to appoint three qualified persons
to act as masters, to hold a hearing ... on the
conduct of the judge.
(c) The Commission may allow the judge to
execute a consent to censure, suspension or
removal. ... The consent and stipulation of
facts shall be submitted by the commission to
the Supreme Court.
The words “complaint from any person” in this section does not impose a jurisdictional requirement that
there be a formal complaint by some identifiable person. In the Matter of Sawyer, 286 Or 369, 374, 594
P2d 805 (1979). The Commission may investigate the
conduct of a judge upon the basis of any information
coming to it from any person, including any information coming to it through any of its members or staff.
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Id. Furthermore, the accused judge need not be informed of the identity of any complainant or be provided with a copy of the complaint when the facts are
not in dispute.19 Id.
[*26] As explained earlier, the burden of proof in
this case is by clear and convincing evidence before a
judge may be censured, suspended, or removed from
office. This is the standard of review carried over from
bar disciplinary proceedings accorded under In re J
Kelly Farris, 229 Or 209, 367 P2d 387 (1961). In re
Field, 281 Or 623, 629, 576 P2d 348 (1978), citing
Geiler v. Commission on Judicial Qualifications, 10
Cal3d 270, 515 P2d 1, 110 Cal Rptr 201 (1973); In re
Nowell, 293 NC 235, 237 SE2d 246 (1977).
B. Applicable Sections of the Oregon Code of
Judicial Conduct
The Commission finds that the following code sections from the Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct are
applicable to the conduct being reviewed in the present case:
19

This is not to say that the Judge alleged to have committed a violation of the Oregon Code of Judicial
Conduct must defend against a complaint without notice of
the allegations. The rules governing the hearing process
clearly provide that the judge shall receive a copy of the
Commission’s complaint and shall have an opportunity to
prepare an answer to the complaint. The statute further
provides that the hearing shall be public, the judge may be
present at all times during the hearing, the judge has the
right to present testimony and other evidence, the judge
has the right to cross-examine the Commission’s witnesses, and the judge has the right to representation. ORS
1.420(3).
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Rule 1.3 Definitions
For the purposes of this Code, the following definitions apply:
Ex parte communication: A communication
between a judge and fewer than all parties or
their lawyers, concerning a pending or impending matter.
Pending matter: A matter that has commenced. A matter continues to be pending
through any appellate process until final disposition.
Personally solicit funds: Directly requesting
financial support or in-kind services, in person,
by letter, by telephone, or by any other means
of communication, but does not include receiving and handling funds or goods donated or
offered in exchange for goods and services sold
to raise funds.
Rule 2.1 Promoting Confidence in the Judiciary
(A) A judge shall observe high standards of
conduct so that the integrity, impartiality and
independence of the judiciary and access to
justice are preserved and
shall act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the judiciary and
the judicial system.
(B) A judge shall not commit a criminal act.
(C) A judge shall not engage in conduct that
reflects adversely on the judge’s character,
competence, temperament, or fitness to serve
as a judge.
(D) A judge shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresenta-
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tion.
[*27] Rule 2.2 Avoiding Misuse of the Prestige of
Office
A judge shall not use the judicial position to gain
personal advantage of any kind for the judge or any
other person. However, a judge may provide a character or ability reference for a person about whom the
judge has personal knowledge.
Rule 3.3 Impartiality and Fairness
(A) A judge shall uphold and apply the law and
perform all duties of judicial office, including
administrative duties, fairly, impartially, and
without bias or prejudice.
(B) A judge shall not, in the performance of
judicial duties, by words or conduct, manifest
bias or prejudice, or engage in harassment,
against parties, witnesses, lawyers, or others
based on attributes including but not limited
to, sex, gender identity, race, national origin,
ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, marital
status, disability, age, socioeconomic status, or
political affiliation and shall not permit court
staff, court officials, or others subject to the
judge’s direction and control to do so.
(C) A judge shall not take any action or make
any comment that a reasonable person would
expect to impair the fairness of a matter pending or impending in any Oregon court.
Rule 3.7 Decorum, Demeanor, and Communication with Jurors
(A) A judge shall require order and decorum in
proceedings before the court.
(B) Ajudge shall be patient, dignified, and
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courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers, court staff, court officials, and others
with whom the judge deals
in an official capacity, and shall require similar conduct oflawyers, court staff, court officials, and others subject to the judge’s direction and control.
(C) A judge shall not praise or criticize jurors
for their verdict other than in a ruling in a proceeding, but a judge may thank and commend
jurors for their service. A judge who is not otherwise prohibited by law from doing so may
meet with jurors who choose to remain after
trial but should be careful not to discuss the
merits of the case.
Rule 3.9 Ex Parte Communications
(A) Unless expressly authorized by law or with
the consent of the parties, a judge shall not
initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications. The following exceptions apply:
(1) When circumstances require it, ex parte
communication for scheduling, administrative, or emergency purposes, that does not
address the merits of a matter, is permitted,
provided:
(a) the judge reasonably believes that no
party will gain a [*28] procedural, tactical,
or other advantage on the merits, as a result of the ex parte communication; and
(b) the judge makes provision promptly to
notify all other parties of the substance of
the ex parte communication, and gives the
parties a reasonable opportunity to respond.
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(2) A judge may consult with court staff,
court officials, and employees of the judicial
branch of government whose functions are to
aid the
judge in carrying out the judge’s adjudicative
responsibilities, or with other judges at the
same level, provided the judge makes reasonable efforts to avoid receiving factual information that is not part of the record, and
does not abrogate the responsibility personally to decide the matter.
(3) A settlement judge may, with the consent
of the parties, confer separately with the
parties or their lawyers in an effort to settle
matters before the court.
(B) If a judge receives an unauthorized ex
parte communication bearing upon the merits
of a matter, the judge shall promptly notify the
parties of the substance of the communication
and provide them with a reasonable opportunity to respond.
Rule 3.12 Cooperation with Disciplinary Authorities
(A) A judge shall cooperate and be candid with
judicial and lawyer discipline agencies.
(B) A judge shall not retaliate, directly or indirectly, against a person whom the judge knows
or suspects has assisted or cooperated with an
investigation of a judge or lawyer.
Rule 4.5 Participation in Legal, Educational,
Religious, Charitable, Fraternal, or Civic Organizations and Activities
(A) Except as provided in Subsection (B), a
judge may not personally solicit funds for an
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organization or entity.
(B) So long as the procedures employed are not
coercive, a judge may personally solicit funds
for an organization or entity from members of
the judge’s family, or from judges over whom
the judge does not exercise supervisory or appellate authority,
and the judge may assist the judge’s minor
children with fundraising.
(C) Subject to Subsection (A) and Subsection
(D), and so long as the procedures employed
are not coercive, a judge may participate in
activities sponsored by organizations or entities devoted to the law, legal education, the
legal system, or the administration of justice,
and those sponsored by or on behalf of not for
profit, public or private, legal, educational,
religious, charitable, fraternal, or civic organizations, including but not limited to the following activities:
(1) assisting such an organization or entity
in fundraising, management, and investment of the organization’s or entity’s funds;
[*29] (2) speaking at, receiving an award or
other recognition at, or being featured on the
program of such an organization or entity;
(3) serving as an officer, director, trustee, or
nonlegal advisor of, and soliciting membership for, such an organization or entity;
(D) A judge may not engage in activities described in Subsection (C) if it is likely that the
organization or entity will frequently be engaged in adversary proceedings in the state
courts of Oregon.
(E) So long as the procedures employed are not
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coercive, a judge may personally encourage or
solicit lawyers to provide publicly available pro
bono legal services.
C. Wilfulness under the Oregon Constitution
Under the Oregon Constitution a judge may be removed for numerous reasons, including “wilful misconduct in a judicial office where such misconduct
bears a demonstrable relationship to the effective performance of judicial duties;” “wilful or persistent failure to perform judicial duties;” and a “wilful violation
of any rule of judicial conduct as shall be established
by the Supreme Court.” Or Const, Art VII (Amended),
§8(1)(b); §8(1)(c); §8(1)(e).
A judge’s conduct is considered “wilful” under Article VII (Amended), section 8, if the judge intended to
cause a result or take an action contrary to an applicable rule and the judge is aware of circumstances
that in fact make the rule applicable. In re Conduct of
Gustafson, 305 Or 655, 660 (1988). The intent required under this rule is the same as for an intentional act - that the act was done with the conscious
objective of causing the result or of acting in the manner defined in the rule of conduct. In re Conduct of
Schenck, 318 Or 402, 405 (1994 ). An improper motive
is not required for a finding of willful misconduct.
Gustafson, 305 Or at 660. (“An improper motive can
taint an· otherwise permissible act, and a benign motive will not excuse an intentional or knowing violation
of a nondiscretionary norm.”) Both subjective and objective elements of culpability may be used in determining willful misconduct. Id. at 659.
[*30] The severity of a judge’s misconduct has no
weight in determining if the misconduct was willful.
Id. at 660. Ignorance of the applicable standards does
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not negate the willfulness of a judge’s actions. Id. In
fact, if a judge acts in conscious ignorance of the legal
basis for an action and does not seek to determine the
lawfulness of that action, this action is considered’
willful. Id. at 668. Mere incompetence does not fall
under the definition of willfulness. Id. at 659.
D. Count One
Judge Day violated Rule 2.l(A) at the October 17,
2012 Chemeketa soccer game. All of Judge Day’s actions that day were clearly designed to intimidate a
referee because Judge Day was upset. His behavior
did not observe high standards of conduct required to
preserve the integrity, impartiality, and independence
of the judiciary. Furthermore, he did not act in a manner that promotes public confidence in the judiciary.
His behavior embodied the opposite.
Judge Day also violated Rule 2.l(C) at the October
game. In trying to intimidate Mr. Deuker through the
use of his judicial business card, Judge Day engaged
in conduct that reflects adversely on his character and
temperament to serve as a judge, as did the manner
in which Judge Day addressed Mr. Deuker. This violation was also evident by Judge Day’s demeanor while
Mr. Deuker was testifying concerning the events of
that day.
Finally, Judge Day violated Rule 2.2 during the
exchange with Mr. Deuker. Judge Day is well aware
of the power of his position as it may impact a member of the public in this type of interaction. By brandishing his judicial business card while threatening to
complain to a person’s employer about their job performance, Judge Day was clearly trying to use his judicial position for personal gain, that gain being compliance with his requests.
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It has been established by clear and convincing evidence that Judge Day intentionally intimidated Mr.
Deuker by the use of his judicial position for his own
personal gain. Judge Day [*31] was acting with a conscious objective to cause a result. His violation of the
above judicial disciplinary rules was willful. Thus,
Judge Day is in violation of Article VII, §8(1 )(e) of the
Oregon Constitution.
E. Count Two
Judge Day was not forthright to the Commission in
his February 2013 response regarding the soccer incidents. He claimed that, at the October game, he only
produced his card because Mr. Deuker requested it.
That was not true. Not only was there credible evidence to the contrary, the Commission finds it completely implausible that the event could have unfolded
as Judge Day claims. Mr. Deuker did not request
Judge Day’s card, Judge Day thrust it at him in anger. Judge Day further claimed that at the November
game, Mr. Allen had physically accosted him. That is
likewise not true. Neither Mr. Allen nor anyone else
on the field at the November game touched Judge
Day.
By misrepresenting these facts in his February
2013 response letter to the Commission, Judge Day
violated Rule 2.l(C) by engaging in conduct adverse to
his character to serve as a judge, violated Rule 2.1 (D)
by engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit,
and misrepresentation, and violated Rule 3.12(A) by
not being candid with the Commission, a judicial discipline agency.
It has been established by clear and convincing evidence that Judge Day’s misrepresentations were an
intentional attempt to avoid responsibility for his own
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actions. As such, Judge Day was acting with a conscious objective to cause a result. His violation of the
above judicial disciplinary rules was willful. Thus,
Judge Day is in violation of Article VII, §8(1 )( e) of
the Oregon Constitution.
[*32] F. Counts Three and Four
On November 18, 2013 and January 12, 2014,
Judge Day facilitated the handling of a firearm by
BAS, a convicted felon on active supervised probation.
On January 12, 2014, JudgeDay was also aware of his
son’s plans to target shoot with BAS, which would
also facilitate BAS’ s handling of a firearm.
During these incidents, Judge Day verbally granted
permission for BAS to handle the weapon. Although
Judge Day continues to deny this, it is actually inconceivable that BAS would handle a firearm in the presence of Judge Day without asking and receiving permission from the judge. BAS was on Judge Day’s caseload and had every motivation to be successful on probation. For this veteran, success meant not having a
felony conviction on his record at the end of his probationary period. Judge Day clearly waived the prohibition against BAS handling a firearm during these incidents. At the time of these incidents, Judge Day
knew that BAS was a felon and knew that BAS’ s supervised probation conditions prohibited him from
possessing firearms. Judge Day was fully aware that,
under Oregon law, it is a felony for a, felon in BAS’s
position to possess a firearm.
At the time of these incidents, BAS’s case was a
pending matter. BAS’s attorney, Mr. Wren, and the
prosecutor, Mr. Orrio, were not present and neither of
them had been consulted previously by Judge Day
regarding the events that transpired. Nothing within
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BAS’s VTC contract allowed Judge Day to have ex
parte communications with BAS.20
[*33] By facilitating the handling of a firearm by a
convicted felon on active supervised probation on each
of these dates, Judge Day violated Rule 2.l(A) in that
his behavior did not observe high standards of conduct
so that the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary
would be preserved, nor did he act “in a manner that
promotes public confidence in the judiciary.”
By facilitating the handling of a firearm by a convicted felon on each of these dates, Judge Day aided
and abetted in the commission of the crime of felon in
possession of a ,firearm, which is a felony. See ORS
166.270 and ORS 161.155(2)(b). Thus, during these
incidents Judge Day violated Rule 2.l(B), which prohibits a judge from committing a criminal act.
By facilitating the handling of a firearm by a convicted felon on active supervised probation on each of
these dates, Judge Day violated Rule 2.l(C) in that his
conduct was adverse to both his character and his
competence to serve as a judge.
By facilitating the handling of a firearm by a convicted felon on active supervised probation and by
verbally granting the permission for that person to
handle the weapons in violation of his probation conditions and prohibitions under Oregon law on each of
these dates, Judge Day violated Rule 3.9(A), which
prohibits a judge from initiating or permitting ex
parte communications as such communications are
20

It should be noted that there are no special provisions
in the Code of Judicial Conduct that pertain to specialty or
treatment courts or exempt judges presiding over those
courts from the rules in the code.
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defined in Rule 1.3.
It has been established by clear and convincing evidence that Judge Day facilitated the possession of a
firearm by a felon intentionally. In the first instance,
Judge Day encouraged BAS to seek out and find the
weapon, followed by his permission to allow BAS to
handle it. In the second instance, Judge Day purposefully allowed BAS to handle the weapon in order to
show his son how to use it safely. As such, on each
occasion, Judge Day was acting with a conscious objective to cause a result. His violation of the above
judicial disciplinary rules was willful. Thus, Judge
Day is in violation of Article VII, §8(1)(e) of the Oregon Constitution.
The Commission further concludes that Judge
Day’s willful violations of Rule 2.l(B), 2.1 ( C) and
Rule 3 .9(A) during each incident constitutes willful
misconduct in his judicial office, such misconduct
bearing a demonstrable relationship to the effective
performance of his judicial duties. Thus, Judge Day is
also in violation of Article VII, §8(1 )(b) of the Oregon
Constitution.
G. Count Five
Judge Day was not forthright with the Commission’s investigator in several respects, most notably
when he denied having waived the prohibitions
against BAS possessing firearms. For the reasons previously stated herein, the Commission finds this not
to be a true statement. Furthermore, Judge Day was
not forthright to his colleagues, Judge Rhoades and
Judge Penn when he indicated to them that he had
not waived those same prohibitions and when he
claimed to not know that BAS was a felon. Those
statements were simply not true.
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By misrepresenting facts in in his statement to the
Commission’s investigator, Karen Saul, Judge Day
violated Rule 2.l(C) by engaging in conduct adverse to
his character to serve as a judge, he violated Rule
2.l(D) by engaging in conduct involving dishonesty,
deceit and misrepresentation, and he violated Rule
3.12(A) by not being candid with the Commission, a
judicial discipline agency.
By misrepresenting the facts noted above to Judge
Rhoades and Judge Penn, Judge Day violated Rule
2.1 (C) by engaging in conduct adverse to his character to serve as a judge, and he violated Rule 2.1 (D) by
engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit and
misrepresentation.
It has been established by clear and convincing evidence that Judge Day’s misrepresentations were an
intentional attempt to avoid responsibility for his own
actions. As such, Judge Day was acting with a conscious objective to cause a result. His violation of the
[*35] above judicial disciplinary rules was willful.
Thus, Judge Day is in violation of Article VII, §8(l)(e)
of the Oregon Constitution.
H. Count Six
Clearly, Judge Day was enamored with BAS’s notoriety and his accomplishments in the military. This
fascination with BAS’s military history caused Judge
Day to lose perspective on who he was really dealing
with. BAS was a criminal defendant on Judge Day’s
caseload subject to Judge Day’s orders and sanctions.
In this context, Judge Day’s unsolicited, and often
unwanted, personal out-of-court contacts with BAS
were completely inappropriate. These contacts include
texting BAS” showing up at BAS’ s home uninvited,
taking BAS to a wedding, soliciting introductions to
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BAS’s out of town friends, bringing BAS to Judge
Day’s home, nurturing a relationship between BAS
and Judge Day’s son, allowing BAS to handle firearms
and facilitating other favors for BAS in the form of
rides, food, etc. In many, if not most, of these instances, BAS actively tried to avoid Judge Day’s overt
attentions. In the end, due to Judge Day’s conduct,
this criminal defendant had no choice but to acquiesce
to Judge Day’s requests to avoid any negative impact
on the outcome of his probation.
Judge Day’s conduct singled out BAS for obvious
favoritism. Several VTC participants testified on
Judge Day’s behalf at the hearing. However, no other
VTC participant had personal visits from Judge Day
at their home while in VTC. No other VTC participant
received texts from Judge Day while in VTC. No other
VTC participant had been to Judge Day’s residence
for any reason, let alone during the holidays for a
family celebration. These acts of favoritism are tangible manifestations of Judge Day’s bias toward BAS.
Judge Day’s conduct regarding BAS violates Rule
2.l(A) in that he did not observe high standards of conduct so that the integrity, impartiality and independence of the judiciary were [*36] preserved. Further,
this conduct violated Rule 2. l(C) as it reflects adversely on Judge Day’s character, competence, and
temperament to serve as a judge. Finally, Judge Day’s
conduct violated Rule 3. 7(B) in that his insistent, unwanted out of court contacts were discourteous and
undignified toward BAS.
It has been established by clear and convincing evidence that all of the out-of-court contacts with BAS
were intentional and purposeful, as was Judge Day’s
overall treatment of him. Judge Day was acting with
a conscious objective to cause a result. In some in-
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stances, Judge Day’s objective may have been charitable. However, in other instances, his objective was
personal gain. Judge Day’s violation of the above judicial disciplinary rules was willful. Thus, Judge Day is
in violation of Aliicle VII, §8(1)(e) of the Oregon Constitution.
The Commission further concludes that Judge
Day’s willful violations of Rule 2.1 (C) and Rule 3.7(B)
constitute willful misconduct in his judicial office,
such misconduct bearing a demonstrable relationship
to the effective performance of his judicial duties.
Thus, Judge Day is also in violation of Article VII,
§8(1 )(b) of the Oregon Constitution.
I. Count Seven
As previously noted, it is not the purpose of this
proceeding to evaluate Marion County’s Veterans
Treatment Court, its practices, the best practices in
any other treatment court, or the effectiveness of
treatment courts, either specific to Marion County or
generally elsewhere. During the hearing on this matter, expert opinions varied greatly regarding such
practices and procedures.
[*37] None of the findings made by the Commission
regarding the allegations in count seven implicate an
ethical violation on the part of Judge Day. As such,
the Commission recommends dismissal as to count
seven.
J. Count Eight
The allegations in count eight were not proven by
clear and convincing evidence. As such, the Commission recommends dismissal as to count eight.
K. Count Nine
The “Hall of Heroes” was Judge Day’s personal pro-
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ject and he was the sole fundraiser for it. Either directly or under the guise of PVR, Judge Day secured
all the funds, decided how they would be spent, gathered the materials and artwork, worked with the
framer, drafted the placards, and hung the pieces.
To this end, there is no question that Judge Day
sought and received money from attorneys. In various
contexts, Judge Day talked to attorneys about the project and donations, prompting the attorneys to ask
about donating. Judge Day would then solicit financial support from them and collect the money. Oftentimes, this occurred in the courthouse with attorneys
that appear before Judge Day. In one instance, it happened during a status conference in his chambers.
By soliciting funds from attorneys, Judge Day violated Rule 2.1 (A). Instead of preserving the integrity,
impartiality, and independence of the judiciary, Judge
Day’s actions tarnished each of those concepts.
By soliciting funds from attorneys, Judge Day also
violated Rule 4.5(A) which prohibits judges from personally soliciting funds from anyone for any organization or entity. There are [*38] exceptions to this rule,
but there are no exceptions that excuse Judge Day’s
solicitations. Soliciting funds from anyone in this context is a violation of Rule 4.5(A). Judge Day’s doing so
from attorneys who appear before him is a flagrant
violation of the rule.
Soliciting funds is very clearly an intentional and
purposeful act. Judge Day was acting with a conscious
objective to cause a result. Judge Day’s violation of
the above judicial disciplinary rules was willful. Thus,
Judge Day is in violation of A1iicle VII, §8(1)( e) of the
Oregon Constitution.
The Commission further concludes that Judge
Day’s willful violations of Rule 2.1 (C) and Rule 3.7(B)
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by soliciting funds from attorneys constitute willful
misconduct in his judicial office, such misconduct
bearing a demonstrable relationship to the effective
performance of his judicial duties. Thus, Judge Day is
in violation of Article VIL §8(1)(b) of the Oregon Constitution.
L. Count Ten
None of the findings made by the Commission regarding the allegations in count ten implicate an ethical violation on the part of Judge Day. As such, the
Commission recommends dismissal as to count ten.
M. Count Eleven
None of the findings made by the Commission regarding the allegations in count eleven implicate an
ethical violation on the part of Judge Day. As such,
the Commission recommends dismissal as to count
eleven.
[*39] N. Count Twelve
Between the time of Judge McShane’s ruling on
same sex marriage in May of 2014 and November
of2014, when Judge Day declined to perform any marriages, Judge Day implemented a system directing his
staff to discriminate against any same sex couple that
may seek out Judge Day to perform their marriage.
He directed his staff to research inquiring couples
and, if their research revealed a same sex couple, he
instructed his staff to lie to the couple about his availability and direct the couple to another judge. Judge
Day asserts that this system of discrimination “accommodated” same sex couples.
Judge Day took the oath of office for judges in ORS
1.212 upon his swearing in. “The oath represents the
judge’s solemn and personal vow that he or she will
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impartially perform all duties incumbent on the office
and do so without regard to the status or class of persons or parties who come before the court. The oath is
a reflection of the self-evident principle that the personal, moral, and religious beliefs of a judicial officer
should never factor into the performance of any judicial duty. When a judge takes the oath of office, ‘he or
she yields the prerogative of executing the responsibilities of the office on any basis other than the fair and
impartial and competent application of the law .... ‘
Mississippi Judicial Performance Com’n v. Hopkins,
590 So2d 857, 862 (Miss 1991).” OH Adv Op 15-001
(Ohio Bd Prof Cond), 2015 WL 4875137.
In keeping with the oath of office, Rule 3.3(B) prohibits a judge from manifesting prejudice against anyone based upon sexual orientation in the performance
their judicial duties. The discriminatory practice
implemented by Judge Day violates Rule 3.3(B). Furthermore, the idea that a discriminatory practice is a
positive “accommodation” to those being discriminated against shows a deplorable lack of understanding of the most basic concepts of impartiality.
Judge Day’s implementation of this discriminatory
practice also violates Rule 2.1 (A). Despite the fact
that Judge Day’s staff did not have the occasion to
utilize his plan, the intended discrimination corrodes
the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary. Furthermore, Judge Day’s actions did not promote public
confidence in the judiciary and the judicial system. In
fact, his actions have had quite the opposite effect.
Judge Day’s discriminatory plan required his staff
to lie to the public in order to conceal Judge Day’s
discriminatory tactics. Thus, Judge Day also violated
Rule 2.l(D).
Judge Day’s discriminatory practice was an inten-
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tional, purposeful act with a conscious objective to
cause a result. Judge Day’s violation of the above judicial disciplinary rules was willful. Thus, Judge Day is
in violation of Article VII, §8(l)(e) of the Oregon Constitution.
The Commission further concludes that Judge
Day’s willful violations of Rule 2.1 (A). 2. l(D) and
Rule 3.3(B) constitute willful misconduct in his judicial office, such misconduct bearing a demonstrable
relationship to the effective performance of his judicial duties. Thus, Judge Day is in violation of Article
VII, §8(l)(b) of the Oregon Constitution.
O. Count Thirteen
Despite the non-partisan nature of his judicial position and the neutral nature of the court, Judge Day’s
plan for the decor in his jury room was clearly partisan. Although Judge Day originally planned to hang
partisan artwork in his jury room, knowing that some
colleagues would likely object, the artwork was never
actually hung. Judge Day acquiesced to Judge
Rhoades request by eventually removing the artwork
from the courthouse without displaying it to the public. Thus, the allegations in count thirteen do not implicate an ethical violation on the part of Judge Day.
As such, the Commission recommends dismissal as to
count thirteen.
[*41] III
SANCTION
A. The Purpose and Standard for Judicial
Sanctions
The purpose of this proceeding is not punishment,
but the proper administration of justice for the public
good. In re Jordan, 290 Or 303 (1981). In that regard,
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it is the duty of the Commission under ORS 1.420( 4)
to make a recommendation to the Oregon Supreme
Court of censure or suspension or removal of the
judge.
“In order to maintain the confidence of the people of Oregon in the courts of this state, it is
essential that the judges of those courts be honest and competent judges. To accomplish that
purpose, the Oregon Constitution was amended
in 1976 to impose upon this court the duty and
responsibility of suspending or removing from
judicial office any judge found by it to be unfit
for judicial office for any of the grounds set
forth in that constitutional amendment. Article
VII (Amended), Section 8(1). * * *To be a competent judge it is not sufficient that a judge
have legal knowledge and ability and be diligent, industrious and independent. It is also
essential that a judge must have unquestioned
integrity, together with a judicial temperament
of fairness, patience, courtesy and common
sense.”
Id.
“Judges are disciplined primarily to preserve public
confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary. Thus, disciplining judges serves to educate
and inform the judiciary and the public that certain
types of conduct are improper and will not be tolerated. Discipline of a judge also serves to deter the disciplined judge as well as other judges from repeating
the type of conduct sanctioned.” In Re Conduct of
Schenck, 318 Or 402, 438 (1994).
The general criteria to be evaluated in determining
the appropriate sanction in judicial discipline cases
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include the impact upon litigants and attorneys of the
judge’s conduct, the extent to which the conduct tends
to undermine public confidence in the judicial system,
the seriousness [*42] of the violations, and the extent
to which the judge demonstrates an interest in avoiding similar problems in the future. Id.
Similarly, in In re Deming, 736 P2d 639 (Washington 1987), the Washington Supreme Court stated
that, to determine the appropriate sanction, it would
consider the following non-exclusive factors: (a)
whether the misconduct is an isolated instance or evidenced a pattern of conduct; (b) the nature, extent,
and frequency of occurrence of the acts of misconduct
( c) whether the misconduct occurred in or out of the
courtroom; ( d) whether the misconduct occurred in
the judge’s official capacity or in his private life; ( e)
whether the judge has acknowledged or recognized
that the acts occurred; (f) whether the judge has evidenced an effort to change or modify his conduct; (g)
the length of service on the bench; (h) whether there
have been prior complaints about this judge; (i) the
effect the misconduct has upon the integrity of and
respect for the judiciary; and (j) the extent to which
the judge exploited his position to satisfy his personal
desires.
B. Analysis of Judge Day’s Conduct
In reviewing the Scheneck and Deming factors, an
overview of Judge Day’s behavior reveals several patterns of misconduct.
First, Judge Day’s behavior indicates that he has
little insight concerning the boundaries required in a
judicial position. In fact, much of Judge Day’s conduct
violated common sense restrictions prescribed by the
very nature of the judiciary. Examples of Judge Day’s
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lack of boundaries include:
• Facilitating the hiring of probationers under
his supervision to assist with home projects for
himself and his family
• Continuing to have improper ex parte contact
with VTC probationers despite [*43] Judge
Prall’s warnings at the December 2013 treatment court conference
• Sitting as the judge on a case while his son
was working for one of the parties and allowing that fact to be announced to the jury
• Compelling BAS to come to Judge Day’s home
and interact with his family
• Relentlessly texting BAS, all the while ignoring his efforts to avoid engaging in a personal
relationship with Judge Day and his family
• Sending personal photos and family images to
BAS
• Going to BAS’ s home
• Interviewing BAS for the article Day wrote for
the OTLA Trial Magazine and revealing personal information about BAS
• Soliciting an introduction to BAS’s Navy SEAL
friends
• Shoving his judicial business card at a soccer
referee and crossing the soccer field to interact
with the officials in an off limits area
• Responding to Judge Rhoades in the manner
he did when she asked him to take down the
Hitler collage - not only was it a veiled political threat, it also reflected his knowledge that
contributors expected political benefits
• Imposing his personal agenda onto the courthouse via the volume and content of his mili-
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tary wall art collection
• Soliciting funds from attorneys, some of whom
appear before him
Judge Day’s lack of boundaries in these instances
clearly evidences a pattern of misconduct the nature
of which is disturbing. The behavior is frequent and
extensive. His lack of boundaries occurs both in and
out of the courtroom and in both his official capacity
and in his personal life. Although Judge Day acknowledges that most of these acts did in fact occur, he either does not believe that they implicate any of the
governing judicial rules or he characterizes them in
such a way as to excuse them. All these boundary issues have had a damaging effect on the integrity of
and respect for the judiciary. The misconduct undermines confidence in the judicial system. Furthermore,
much of this misconduct was an exploitation of his
position for personal gain. Given the nature of the
misconduct and Judge Day’s lack of appreciation for
its seriousness, the Commission is not confident that
Judge Day will make any effort to change or modify
his behavior.
[*44] Second, there is a pattern of self-benefit to
much of Judge Day’s conduct. Examples of Judge
Day’s misconduct that provided him with a personal
benefit include:
• Allowing a felon to handle a firearm to help his
own son learn to safely handle a gun and to
mel}tor his own son to prepare him for entry
into the military
• Taking a noted Navy seal to a wedding to show
him off
• Soliciting an introduction to a famous person
from a probationer under his supervision
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• Using his judicial business card to intimidate a
soccer referee
• Encouraging his son’s internship with the District Attorney’s office during a case he was adjudicating such that his son would gain experience prior to
• applying for law school
• Putting up certain artwork in order to ingratiate himself to “powerful people”
• Compelling BAS, with whom he was fascinated
because of BAS’s military activities, to come to
his home and interact with his family
• Using probationer laborers at his home,
whether or not they were paid
• Soliciting funds from attorneys for his personal
project
• Receiving a double reimbursement for the
Vollmar wall hanging
• Using the 50l(c)(3) PVR to decorate his own
courtroom and the hallways of the fourth floor
to promote a personal agenda and personal
prestige
• Making public statements in pre-hearing publicity to create the impression that this proceeding was solely regarding his religious beliefs and his refusal to conduct same-sex marriages in order to deflect public attention away
from other misconduct
Judge Day’s actions evidence a pattern of exploiting
his judicial position to satisfy his personal desires.
The behavior is frequent and extensive. Judge Day
uses his judicial position to exert discreet pressure on
members of the public, including attorneys and litigants, for his personal gain. The conduct occurs both
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in and out of the courtroom and in both his official
capacity and in his personal life. Judge Day acknowledges that most of these acts did in fact occur. However, once again, he either does not believe that they
implicate any of the governing judicial rules or he
characterizes them in such a way as to excuse them.
The misconduct undermines confidence in the judicial
system. Given the nature of the misconduct and Judge
[*45] Day’s lack of appreciation for its seriousness, the
Commission is, once again, not confident that Judge
Day will make any effort to change or modify his
behavior.
Third, and possibly the most disturbing, Judge Day
has engaged in a pattern of dishonesty. Although the
goal of much of his disingenuousness appears to be
covering up misconduct, some of this conduct seems to
have other independent objectives. Examples of Judge
Day’s untruthfulness include:
• Judge Day represented by implication to the
Commission via letter that the new VTC contract language, implemented on February 6,
2015, was in effect at the time of his interactions with BAS and, thus, it excused his ex
parte contacts with BAS, neither of which were
true.
• Regarding the October 17, 2012 soccer game,
Judge Day stated in writing and under oath at
the hearing that he provided his business card
to Mr. Deuker because Mr. Deuker asked him
for the card. That is not true.
• Regarding the November 7, 2012 soccer game,
Judge Day stated in writing to the Commission that Mr. Allen physically accosted him.
That is not true. After credible evidence was
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•
•

•

•

•

discovered to the contrary, Judge Day maintained under oath at the hearing that someone
physically shoved him, but backed off on identifying the individual. Although Judge Day
attempted to adjust his testimony to conform
to the more credible evidence, his statements
remained deceptive.
Judge Day’s testimony concerning how he introduced BAS at the wedding was untruthful.
Judge Day indicated that he did not solicit
funds from attorneys for the Hall of Heroes
project. That is not true.
Judge Day was dishonest in accepting reimbursement from the Vollmar family for their
wall hanging when it was removed when he
had already been fully reimbursed for that
piece by the 50l(c)(3) PVR.
Regarding the gun at the Mansell residence,
Judge Day testified under oath at the hearing
that he did not suggest that BAS find the gun.
That was untrue. Judge Day testified under
oath at the hearing that he did not waive the
prohibition against BAS handling guns on that
occasion. That was not true. Judge Day testified under oath at the hearing that BAS did
not touch the gunon that occasion. That was
not true.
Regarding the gun on January 12, 2014, Judge
Day testified under oath at the hearing that he
did not give BAS permission to handle the gun.
That was [*46] untrue. Judge Day testified
under oath at the hearing that he did not see
BAS handle the gun on that occasion. That
was not true. Judge Day testified under oath
at the hearing that he did not know that his

182a

son was returning that day to go target shooting with BAS. That was not true.
• Judge Day was not honest with the VTC staff
concerning BAS’s access to guns and he disingenuously omitted the extent of BAS’ s gun
handling when speaking to the prosecutor and
defense attorney.
• At the meeting in Judge Penn’s chambers,
Judge Day claimed that he was unaware that
BAS was a felon. That was not true.
• Judge Day instructed his staff to lie about his
scheduling in the event that a same-sex couple
sought his services in the performance of their
marriage.
• Judge Day testified under oath at the hearing
that he told Judge Pellegrini that he was concerned about her appointment because of the
number of government attorneys on the bench.
That was not true. Judge Day actually indicated to her that he was concerned about her
appointment due to her sexual orientation.
• Judge Day has been dishonest to the public at
large when asserting that this proceeding is
due to his religious beliefs and his refusal to
perform same-sex marriages. That is not true.
Judge Day’s dishonesty by its very nature greatly
undermines public confidence in the judicial system,
particularly those untruths uttered under oath. A
judge’s integrity is paramount to the fair and impartial administration of justice. Judge Day’s misrepresentations constitute a systematic effort to avoid responsibility for his misconduct. His continual mischaracterization of his behavior involving a felon and
a firearm are particularly serious and disconcerting.
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Not only does it impugn his integrity, but it is an attempt to conceal criminal conduct. Given the nature of
Judge Day’s dishonesty, rehabilitating his integrity to
the point of judicial competency is dubious at best.
Finally, the pattern of Judge Day’s continuing conduct indicates that, even after the Commission’s investigation of his behavior began in August, 2014, he
was unable to understand the magnitude of his actions in relation to the Code of Judicial Conduct. Examples of Judge Day’s continuing poor judgment include:
• Continuing to collect and track money donations for his Hall of Heroes project as late as
October 2015
• Making the VTC contract change in February
2015 in an attempt to justify his ex parte contacts with BAS
• Sitting as the judge on a case in the summer of
2015 while his son was working for one of the
parties and allowing that fact to be announced
to the jury
• Continual public mischaracterizations of this
disciplinary process, both procedurally and
substantively
This pattern of ongoing conduct indicates a continuing lack of appreciation for the nature · of a judicial
position. Judge Day does not appear to recognize situations that either impugn his integrity or trigger ethical violations. Thus, once again, the Commission is
not confident that Judge Day will make the required
effort to change or modify his behavior.
C. Conclusion
Although Judge Day has no prior record of discipline and has a good reputation among his colleagues,
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all other evaluation factors noted in Schenck and
Deming are implicated by Judge Day’s behavior. His
misconduct is not isolated. It is frequent and extensive. The Commission has found that Judge Day willfully violated ten Rules of the Code of Judicial Conduct, several of them multiple times.21
Judge Day’s pattern of behavior includes misconduct for personal gain and misconduct amounting to
criminal behavior. Judge Day shows no outward sign
of comprehending the extent or nature of his ethical
violations. His misconduct is of such a nature as to
impugn his honesty and integrity. Finally, Judge
Day’s conduct before, during and after the Commission’s investigation undermines the public’s confidence in the judiciary.
[*48] “Removal from office is appropriate where the
judge is not competent to perform the ·duties of the
office, In the Matter of Field, supra, 281 Or at 634-37,
576 P2d 348, or where a series of misconduct incidents calls into question the judge’s competence and
integrity, In re Jordan, 290 Or 303, 336-37, 622 P2d
297, reh’g den 290 Or 669, 624 P2d 1074 (1981).”
Schenck, supra.
Taking into account the reasons for imposing judicial discipline, the nature of the accused’s misconduct,
and all the other factors described above in Schenck
and Deming, the Commission concludes unanimously
that the appropriate sanction in this case is removal.

21

Rules 2.1 (A), 2.1 (B), 2.1 (C), 2.1 (D), 2.2, 3.3(B), 3.7
(B), 3.9(A), 3.12(A) and 4.5(A).
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Pursuant to Commission Rule of Procedure 16 (b)—I
certify this to be the true and accurate recitation of
the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendation of the Oregon Commission on Judicial Fitness
and Disability.
[Signature of Chairperson]
Oregon Commission on Judicial
Fitness and Disability Chairperson
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Oregon Const., Art. VII (Amended)
Sec. 8 Removal, suspension or censure of judges.
(1) In the manner provided by law, and notwithstanding section 1 of this Article, a judge of any court may
be removed or suspended from his judicial office by
the Supreme Court, or censured by the Supreme
Court, for:
...
(b) Wilful misconduct in a judicial office where
such misconduct bears a demonstrable relationship to the effective performance of judicial duties; or
(c) Wilful or persistent failure to perform judicial
duties; or
...
(e) Wilful violation of any rule of judicial conduct
as shall be established by the Supreme Court;
...

187a

Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct
Rule 1.1 Scope
These rules shall be known as the Oregon Code of
Judicial Conduct. The Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct establishes standards for the ethical conduct of
judges and judicial candidates. A judge or judicial
candidate shall comply with the provisions of this
Code and may be disciplined for violation of the Code.
Because a judge or judicial candidate may be disciplined for violations for this Code, the provisions are
limited to addressing specific circumstances where
certain conduct is either prohibited or required. Of
course, for many reasons, judges should aspire to a
professional and personal standard of conduct that
goes beyond mere compliance with this code and promotes access to justice and public confidence in the
integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.
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Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct
Rule 2.1 Promoting Confidence in the Judiciary
(A) A judge shall observe high standards of conduct
so that the integrity, impartiality and independence of
the judiciary and access to justice are preserved and
shall act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the judiciary and the judicial system.
...
(C) A judge shall not engage in conduct that reflects
adversely on the judge’s character, competence, temperament, or fitness to serve as a judge.
(D) A judge shall not engage in conduct involving
dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.
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Oregon Code of Judicial Conduct
Rule 3.3 Impartiality and Fairness
...
(B) A judge shall not, in the performance of judicial duties, by words or conduct, manifest bias or prejudice, or engage in harassment, against parties, witnesses, lawyers, or others based on attributes including but not limited to, sex, gender identity, race, national origin, ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation,
marital status, disability, age, socioeconomic status,
or political affiliation and shall not permit court staff,
court officials, or others subject to the judge’s direction and control to do so.
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Oregon Rules of Appellate Procedure
Rule 11.27 Judicial Disability and
Disciplinary Proceedings
...
(2) Disciplinary Proceedings under ORS 1.420.
...
(b) Review of Commission’s Recommendations
...
(iii) The judge shall have 28 days after the date of the
notice from the court of receipt of the record to file an
opening brief concerning the Commission’s recommendation. The Commission shall have 28 days after the
date of filing of the opening brief to file an answering
brief. The judge may file a reply brief, which shall be
due 14 days after the date of filing of the Commission’s answering brief. If the judge fails to file an
opening brief, the Commission may file an opening
brief, and thereafter the judge may file an answering
brief.

